
County Council
Meeting Papers

Wednesday, 7 December 2016 

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester





Date Published:29 November 2016     

County Council

Wednesday, 7 December 2016 at 10am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

Chief Executive

A G E N D A

Chairman’s Opening of Council

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 20)

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 2016.

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

4  ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Please see the briefing note, which does not accompany this agenda but will be circulated 
prior to the meeting.

5  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

To answer any written public questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the County Council. 



    

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Wednesday, 30 November 
2016. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the attention of 
Stephen Bace (email stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

To answer any oral questions put by members of the public with the consent of the 
Chairman. Depending on the nature of the questions asked, it may not be possible to 
provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in which case a written answer will 
be supplied as soon as reasonably possible after the meeting. 

Questions received and proposed responses do not accompany this agenda but will 
be circulated prior to the meeting. 

6  CORPORATE PARENTING (Pages 21 - 22)

For information and members’ questions.

7  PETITIONS 

To receive other petitions without discussion.

8  MOTIONS 

For debate and decision.

The following motions had been received by the closing date at 10am on Tuesday, 29 
November 2016. 

Motion 782 - Community Support Payments (Fracking) in Gloucestershire 
Proposed by Cllr Barry Kirby
Seconded by Cllr Graham Morgan

This Council notes that the Government have recently changed their ‘fracking’ policy 
to include a personal payment to households within the area of proposed ‘fracking’ 
sites.

This Council believes that this is fundamentally wrong, as it could lead to critical 
environmental decisions being taken away from communities as a whole. This 
Council reaffirms that the protection of Gloucestershire’s environment is a key priority 
for this Authority. 

This Council also notes its disappointment in the Government for abolishing the 
Department for Energy and Climate Change. 

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

This Council asks that the Leader of the Council writes to Gloucestershire’s six MPs 
and the Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy to urge them 
to re-evaluate Government policy over the proposed Community Support Payments 
for fracking.

Motion 783 – Open Contracting 
Proposed by Cllr Sarah Lunnon
Seconded by Cllr Mike Sztymiak

That Gloucestershire County Council commits to the Open Contracting Global 
Principles and takes action to ensure that: 

- By the end of 2017 complete information for all contracting processes over £1m, 
including details of the tender, award and contract process, the full text of contracts 
and amendments, and performance information, are proactively published;
- By the end of 2018 complete information is available for all contracting processes, 
over £500*, is proactively published

The presumption should be that the text of all contracts is open by default. 
Redactions should only be permitted: (a) at the explicit written request of the parties 
to the contract; (b) subject to the public interest tests of the Freedom of Information 
act; (c) with the minimum possible redactions; and (d) with full justifications for any 
redaction given.

Furthermore, to ensure public access to information on the operation of outsourced 
services, all future contracts of the Council should include a model clause providing 
full public access to performance reporting and other key information required to 
exercise effective scrutiny. 

(*This should be set the same as the threshold in the local government transparency 
code)

Notes:
The Open Contracting Global Principles were developed through an extensive consultation 
process involving governments, private sector and civil society. The UK Government has 
endorsed the principles in it's 2013-15 and 2016-18 Open Government Partnership National 
Action Plans. 

The Council is required by the provision of the Local Government Transparency Code to 
disclose a log of all contracts entered into. This motion builds upon that practice, adding a 
requirement for enhanced disclosure of contract text, performance information and 
information about the whole contracting process. 

This motion is proposed on a basic understanding of fairness, that those paying the bill be 



    

allowed to see the itemised invoices, to understand exactly what they are buying. In terms of 
public interest it will also enable full scrutiny of how and what public money is being spent on 
and enable the public or their representatives to spot misuse of public funds, inept services 
delivery or bad contractual decision making. Open Contracting also promotes a level playing 
field in public contracting, bringing greater opportunities for SMEs, and ensuring government 
gets better value for money.

Motion 784 – GFirst LEP
Proposed by Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Seconded by Cllr Joe Harris

This Council notes that in England, local enterprise partnerships (LEPs) are voluntary 
partnerships between local authorities and businesses set up in 2011 by the 
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills to help determine local economic 
priorities and lead economic growth and job creation within the local area.

This Council notes that in Gloucestershire, GFirst is our Local Enterprise Partnership, 
of which the leader of Gloucestershire County Council is a member of the board.

The Council welcomes the work done so far by the GFirst LEP to help develop a 
thriving economy in Gloucestershire.

However, this Council notes that GFirst LEP holds its regular board meetings ‘behind 
closed doors’ when it decides on key economic priorities, including the awarding 
public funds to major infrastructure and investment projects.

This Council, therefore, calls on GFirst LEP in spirit of openness and public 
accountability to hold its regular board meetings in public and to publish its board 
papers in the public domain.

Motion 785 – Grammar schools in Gloucestershire
Proposed by Cllr Richard Leppington
Seconded by Cllr David Prince

This Council notes the Prime Minister's recent support for the UKIP policy to 
reintroduce grammar schools. We call on Gloucestershire MPs to support the 
creation of new grammar schools throughout Gloucestershire. 

Motion 787 – Pavements
Proposed by Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Seconded by Cllr Chris Coleman

This Council notes that there are many damaged pavements and footpaths across 
Gloucestershire in need of repair.



    

This Council is aware that only £800K a year in capital is used for resurfacing 
footways.  

Given the poor state of our county’s pavements, this Council calls not only for the 
creation of a dedicated revenue budget for 2017/2018 to focus specifically on 
pavement repair, but also asks the Cabinet Member to report back to the Highways 
Advisory Group on measures to improve the inspection and fixing of pavements, 
before reporting back to the Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee with a positive action plan.

Motion 788 – Bus services
Proposed by Cllr Klara Sudbury
Seconded by Cllr Nigel Robbins

This Council recognises the essential role that bus services play in – a) enabling 
more active lives b) travel opportunities c) healthier lifestyles d) reducing rural 
isolation and e) tackling congestion especially in urban areas.

This Council notes the funded public transport consultation that ended in January of 
this year, but is concerned about both the reduction in budget and the decline in 
passenger numbers. This has resulted in the withdrawal of much valued public 
transport profoundly affecting people’s lives by denying access to many services, jobs 
and independence.

This Council in its commitment to the bus service across Gloucestershire asks the 
Cabinet Member 

a) to take steps to protect the Council’s bus service budget in 2017/18 from any 
further reductions. 

b) to lobby the government to fully fund the council’s concessionary schemes and 

c) to work with the districts on a campaign to increase passenger numbers headed up 
by this Council’s Communications Team.

9  AMBULANCE RESPONSE TIMES (MOTION 759) (Pages 23 - 38)

For debate and decision.

To consider the report from the Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
response to the motion agreed by Council  on 2 December 2015  relating to 
ambulance response times.  This item was deferred from the last meeting.



    

10  MEMBER QUESTIONS 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

To answer any written member questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the County Council. 

The closing date for receipt of questions is 10am on Wednesday, 30 November 
2016. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the attention of 
Stephen Bace (email stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Questions received and proposed responses do not accompany this agenda but will 
be circulated prior to the meeting.

11  SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 39 - 58)

For information and members’ questions.

12  SCRUTINY UPDATE REPORT - NOVEMBER 2016 (Pages 59 - 82)

For information and members’ questions.

13  AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 83 - 86)

For information and members’ questions.

14  APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS (Pages 87 - 90)

For debate and decision.

15  CABINET DECISION STATEMENT (Pages 91 - 98)

For Information and members’ questions.

16  INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION STATEMENTS (Pages 99 - 100)

For information and members’ questions.

17  CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE REPORT (Pages 101 - 144)

For debate and decision.

18  HIGHWAYS PERFORMANCE REPORT (Pages 145 - 148)

For information and members’ questions.

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

To note that senior highways officers from Amey, the Council’s highways contractor, 
will be available immediately following the meeting to answer questions.

19  GLOUCESTERSHIRE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION FUND ANNUAL 
REPORT 2015-16 (Pages 149 - 150)

For debate and decision.

20  BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP (Pages 151 - 158)

For debate and decision.  To consider the recommendation from the Pension 
Committee to be held on 2 December 2016.  

Exclusion of the press and the public
Please note that if any exempt matters are raised during the debate (for example 
relating to the detailed business case and risk register), the following motion to 
exclude the press and public will need to be moved and seconded:

In accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, because it is likely that if 
members of the public were present, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 3 and 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act 
and the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information to the public. 



    

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests or personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which 
may be discussed at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available at the 
back of the Council Chamber. Completing this list is acceptable as a declaration, 
but does not, of course, prevent members from declaring an interest orally in 
relation to individual agenda items. The list will be available for public inspection. 
Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of 
interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns 01452 328472, 
email: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the commencement of the 
meeting.

(b) RECORDING MEETINGS, INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL 
QUERIES – Please note that full Council meetings are webcast and may be 
viewed on the Council’s website (www.gloucestershire.gov.uk). If you wish to 
inspect reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general 
queries about the meeting, please contact:
Simon Harper, Head of Democratic Services
:01452 324202, email: simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject to the 
Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services 
to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the 
public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting 
please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which 
is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and 
await further instructions.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
mailto:simon.harper@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

MINUTES OF COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING
DATE: Wednesday 14 September 2016 TIME: 10am
VENUE: Shire Hall, Gloucester

Present

Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Dorcas Binns
Cllr Robert Bird
Cllr Tony Blackburn
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Chris Coleman
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Iain Dobie
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Jasminder Gill
Cllr Andrew Gravells
Cllr Tim Harman
Cllr Joe Harris
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE
Cllr Colin Hay (Chairman)
Cllr Jeremy Hilton

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Cllr Richard Leppington
Cllr Sarah Lunnon
Cllr Steve Lydon
Cllr Steve McHale
Cllr Paul McLain
Cllr Paul McMahon
Cllr Tracy Millard
Cllr Patrick Molyneux
Cllr Nigel Moor
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Shaun Parsons (Vice-
Chairman)
Cllr Alan Preest
Cllr David Prince
Cllr Nigel Robbins
Cllr Brian Robinson

Cllr Vernon Smith
Cllr Lynden Stowe
Cllr Klara Sudbury
Cllr Mike Sztymiak
Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Pam Tracey
Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Stan Waddington
Cllr Simon Wheeler
Cllr Jack Williams
Cllr Kathy Williams
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE
Cllr Suzanne Williams
Cllr Roger Wilson
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Honorary Aldermen
Bill Hobman

Apologies: Honorary Aldermen Liz Boait, Bill Crowther, Paul Drake, Terry Parker, John 
Sewell and Gordon Shurmer.

Cllrs Jason Bullingham, Colin Guyton, Tony Hicks, Barry Kirby and Graham 
Morgan

56. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 29 June 2016 were confirmed and signed as a 
correct record.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

57. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

A copy of the declarations of interest is attached to the signed copy of the minutes.

58. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

a) Barry Dare, Garry Phipps, Robin MacDonald and Jack Newell
Members stood in silence as a mark of respect to former Leader of the 
Council, Barry Dare, and former councillors Garry Phipps, Robin MacDonald 
and Jack Newell who had all sadly passed away in recent weeks.

       
Members paid tribute to Barry, Garry, Robin and Jack, noting their 
contributions to the County Council, their local communities and the wider 
county area.  

Barry had been Leader of the Council from 2005 to 2010.  A number of 
members said Barry was a mentor and friend who had a passion for life and 
was a great ambassador for Gloucestershire.

b) Rio Olympics and Paralympics
The Chairman congratulated the athletes from Gloucestershire who had taken 
part in the Rio Olympics and Paralympics.  The Olympic medal winners 
included:

Charlotte Dujardin (Equestrian) Gold and Silver
Pete Reed (Rowing) Gold
Matt Gotrel (Rowing) Gold
Alex Gregory (Rowing) Gold
Dan Norton (Rugby 7’s) Silver
Carl Hester (Equestrian) Silver
Vicky Holland (Triathlon) Bronze

The list of Gloucestershire medalists at the Paralympics had not yet been 
published.  The Chairman did, however, mention Andy Lewis from Lydney 
who had just become the inaugural Gold medallist in the Triathlon at the 
Paralympics. 

c) Gloucestershire Apprenticeship Awards
Amey, the Council’s highways partner, was a finalist for the Employer of the 
Year (in the over 25 members of staff category) for taking on at least eight 
new apprentices every year. Since working with the Council, Amey had 
recruited a large number of apprentices and by 2017, 121 young people 
would have been recruited and trained representing 60% of the workforce.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

d) Heather Forbes
The Chairman advised that the All Party Parliamentary Group on Archives 
and History was honouring the work of Heather Forbes with a ‘Lifetime 
Achievement Award’. She would be receiving a certificate at a special lunch in 
the House of Commons on 11 October 2016.  

e) Tour of Britain
The Chairman reported that the Tour of Britain cycle race had passed through 
Gloucestershire on Thursday, 8 September with members and officers taking 
the opportunity to view the race at Gloucester Quay.  

f) Chepstow Bridge and the Severn Bridge
The Chairman said that he had attended an event in Chepstow to mark the 
200th anniversary of the Wye Bridge which was now the longest iron span 
bridge in the world.  He also noted that 14 September 2016 marked the 50th 
anniversary of the first Severn Bridge.

59. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Six public questions had been received.  No supplementary questions were asked.
 

60. CORPORATE PARENTING 

Cllr Paul McLain, the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People and Strategic 
Commissioning, presented the report.  He encouraged members to attend the next 
meeting of the Children in Care Council on 28 October 2016.  

Answering questions, Cllr McLain explained that there were a number of reasons 
why the number of children in care was rising. These included more activity by the 
Police and related agencies, children in remand being automatically categorised as 
children in care, decisions by the courts and the county supporting other parts of 
the country in taking unaccompanied asylum children.  He said that a large number 
of extra social workers had been recruited, some of which were newly qualified and 
relatively inexperienced.  He hoped that as they gained knowledge and experience 
there would be fewer referrals and they would be more confident in putting forward 
other options.

RESOLVED to note the report of the Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People and Strategic Commissioning.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

61. PETITIONS 

a) Minor injury units at Stroud and Cirencester

A petition with more than 5,000 signatures had been received calling for 
Gloucestershire Care Services and Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group to ensure that a 24 hour local urgent care service continued to be 
provided at the minor injury units at Stroud Hospital and Cirencester Hospital.  

The Chairman explained that in accordance with the Council Constitution, the 
lead petitioner would be given 5 minutes to present the petition and this would 
be discussed by members for 15 minutes.  The 15 minute Council debate 
could be extended at the discretion of the Chairman up to a maximum of 30 
minutes.      

The subject matter of the petition did not relate to the functions of the Council 
so the petition would be referred to Gloucestershire Care Services and 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group along with the minutes of the 
Council debate.

John Bloxsome presented the petition on behalf of the lead petitioner, Debbie 
Hicks. Mr Bloxsome explained that the petition expressed serious concern 
regarding night time closures of the minor injury units at the hospitals in 
Stroud and Cirencester.  He said that the accessibility and responsiveness of 
minor injury units was highly valued by local communities with over 17,000 
contacts with the public in Cirencester and more than 16,000 contacts in 
Stroud.  

The service was of particular benefit to more vulnerable people who struggled 
to travel to Gloucester Royal Hospital.  Waiting times were shorter and 
pressure was eased on the already over-stretched A&E service in Gloucester.  
Mr Bloxsome called for appropriate pay and conditions for staff to address the 
staffing crisis in the NHS. 

Cllr Joe Harris, who had been closely involved in organising the petition in 
Cirencester, explained that there was a tremendous strength of feeling over 
the issue amongst the public.  He said that the overnight closure of the minor 
injury units was another example of the way in which the NHS was being 
eroded by cuts in funding.  The most vulnerable people in society were most 
affected and he believed that the overnight closures would simply result in 
more calls to the ambulance service.  

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Cllr Lesley Williams, who had been involved in organising the petition in 
Stroud, thanked Debbie Hicks and John Bloxsome for bring the petition to the 
Council.  She noted that five times the number of people who had completed 
the NHS survey had signed the petition.  She believed that the overnight 
closures were part of a managed decline of the NHS with A&E waiting times at 
Gloucester getting longer and longer and the service under a notice of breach 
of licence by NHS Improvement.

Other members expressed serious concern at the closure of the minor injury 
units in Stroud and Cirencester.  They were concerned at the way in which the 
consultation had been undertaken and the increasing pressure that the 
closures would have on A&E at Gloucester Royal Hospital.    The overnight 
reduction in services at Cheltenham A&E had already been tremendous 
pressure on Gloucester Royal Hospital.  The July 2016 waiting time had 
reached 5 hours in Gloucester.  

A member noted that reassurances had been given only a year ago that the 
minor injury unit in Cirencester would continue but with qualified nurses 
replacing doctors.  He said that local people felt undermined and cheated by 
the latest proposals.

Another member believed that it was right and proper for the matter to be 
brought before elected members as it was an issue that affected the whole of 
Gloucestershire.  He believed that the continued withdrawal of local services 
would call into question the viability of the community hospitals across the 
county and he requested that the Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee look at the issue.
                

b) Cllr Klara Sudbury presented a petition (58 signatures) to Cllr Vernon Smith, 
Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood, relating to the condition of a 
footbridge running over Pilley Bridge (Charlton Park and College Division).  

62. MOTIONS 

Motion 776 – Waste recycling rates
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson and Cllr Klara Sudbury, the proposer and seconder of the 
original motion, accepted the changes highlighted below:

This Council notes the increase in overall waste volumes.  

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

This Council also notes that the overall county-wide recycling rate has for the last 
five years been well below the 53% target.
 This Council would like to encourage a reduction in Gloucestershire’s waste 
volumes and an increase in its recycling rates.
 
This Council therefore directs the Cabinet Member to request a report from the 
Joint Waste Committee to look at ways in which the county’s recycling rates can be 
improved. Focusing on reducing, reusing and recycling this report is to be 
scrutinised at November’s Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee before 
coming back to Council in December 2016.   

This Council notes that recycling is the legal responsibility of district councils and 
agrees to continue working with them, in partnership, through the Joint Waste 
Committee to promote recycling and reduce waste. 

In moving the motion, Cllr Hodgkinson stated that the county was falling behind its 
target for recycling with a current rate of 47% against a target of 60%.  This meant 
531kg per household was going to landfill each year against a target of 457kg.  He 
noted that the performance by district varied dramatically with Gloucester recycling 
only 37% of waste.  He believed that the County Council should be taking a lead in 
working with the district councils to encourage more reuse and recycling.

In seconding the motion, Cllr Sudbury stated that the County Council had a duty to 
do all that it could to recycle more waste.  She said that she was concerned that the 
incinerator would mean that the Council would neglect its duty to reuse materials 
and fail to meet recycling targets.  She was anxious that the County Council worked 
proactively with the district councils to improve rates of reuse and recycling.

A member referred to an Italian Province that was reusing and recycling 82% of its 
waste and she said that this was just one of many examples across Europe.  She 
noted that if the same rate of reuse and recycling was achieved in Gloucestershire 
there would be a huge reduction in residual waste.  She believed that there was 
scope to do so much more in the county.  

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, the Cabinet Member who’s Finance and Change Portfolio 
included waste, stated that the County Council was already working closely with the 
district councils to improve rates of reuse and recycling.  He noted that cash 
payments had been made to the districts for some time to incentivise them to 
recycle more waste.  Elected members and professional officers had been brought  
together under the Joint Waste Committee to take forward a range of initiatives.  
The recycling rate was expected to reach 56% in 2016-17 with the rates in each 
district ranging from 31% in Stroud to 60% in Cotswold.  All of the districts had 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

increased their recycling rate in 2015-16 with the exception of Cheltenham which 
had seen a reduction of 1%.  

Referring to the position in Stroud, Cllr Steve Lydon, Leader of Stroud District 
Council, stated that a key driver for the authority was reducing the amount of waste 
going to landfill and not chasing government cash for recycling.  He said that Stroud 
District Council was working hard to maintain its record as the first carbon neutral 
council in the country. 

A member noted the importance of ensuring that recycling schemes were easy for 
people to understand.  He said that it was only in this way that participation rates 
would improve and recycling rates would rise.  He stated that it would be so much 
better if there was a common approach across the county.  He expressed concern 
that two of the district councils were still not members of the Gloucestershire Joint 
Waste Committee. 

Cllr Chris Coleman, who was the Cabinet Member responsible for Waste at 
Cheltenham Borough Council and a member of the Joint Waste Committee, stated 
that he had approached the joint committee with great deal of enthusiasm but he 
had become disappointed that individual local authorities were adopting different 
approaches. He noted that the recycling rate in Cheltenham had recently risen to 
more than 50%.  He questioned whether the County Council had a genuine 
willingness to promote recycling with the incinerator being built at Javelin Park. 

Cllr Brian Robinson, who represented the Forest of Dean District Council on the 
Joint Waste Committee, refuted comments that progress was not being made by 
the joint committee.  He said that councils were working together on a range of 
initiatives and he referred to a recent example relating to food waste.
 
Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Leader of the Council, stated that the Javelin Park facility was 
sized to reflect a county-wide recycling rate of 70% and there was therefore a 
strong incentive to improve current rates of recycling.

In summing up, Cllr Hodgkinson stated that the County Council needed to take 
leadership in meeting targets. He said that he remained concerned about how 
much recyclable material might end up in the incinerator.  He recognised that the 
timescale for reporting back to the Council was tight and there might be some 
slippage.  He was anxious, however, that a report came back to members as  soon 
as reasonably practicable, and in any event before the end of the term of the 
Council. 

On being put to the vote, the revised motion received unanimous support.

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

RESOLVED that

This Council notes the increase in overall waste volumes.  

This Council also notes that the overall county-wide recycling rate has for the last 
five years been well below the 53% target.
 
This Council would like to encourage a reduction in Gloucestershire’s waste 
volumes and an increase in its recycling rates.
 
This Council therefore directs the Cabinet Member to request a report from the 
Joint Waste Committee to look at ways in which the county’s recycling rates can be 
improved. Focusing on reducing, reusing and recycling this report is to be 
scrutinised at November’s Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee before 
coming back to Council in December 2016.   

This Council notes that recycling is the legal responsibility of district councils and 
agrees to continue working with them, in partnership, through the Joint Waste 
Committee to promote recycling and reduce waste.

Motion 777  – Meals on Wheels
In moving the motion detailed on the agenda, Cllr David Brown stated that the 
Meals on Wheels Service was critical to some of the vulnerable people in the 
county.  He recognised that there were often teething issues when a new provider 
took over a contract but he was concerned that people were not receiving meals, 
wrong meals had been delivered and some meals were cold when they arrived.  He 
said that a more robust monitoring process was required to ensure that any 
problems were addressed quickly.  

Cllr Dorcas Binns, the Cabinet Member for Older People, assured members that 
action had been taken to address the concerns.  She said that no complaints about 
the service had been received in August and late meals were down to just 1%, with 
no charge made if a delivery was late.  

On being put to the vote, the motion received unanimous support.

RESOLVED that

This Council recognises the delivery of community meals to the homes of around 
650 eligible older and vulnerable people is a vital service in Gloucestershire.
 
This Council notes that the current community meals service contract with apetito 
has been in place to deliver ‘Meals on Wheels’ from 1 April 2016.

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

This Council also notes that apetito received 35 complaints in the first three weeks 
nearly all due to missed or late deliveries.

This Council is aware that with all new contracts there is a settling-in period, but 
after six months of delivery, this Council is disappointed that members are still 
hearing of complaints including food not arriving at all, food being delivered very 
early or late, wrong choices being delivered and drivers not knowing where clients 
live.

This Council therefore requests the Cabinet Member to work with apetito in 
adopting a more robust monitoring process, which includes the implementation of 
performance targets and for this data to be closely monitored by the Health and 
Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee through the publication of quarterly reports.

Motion 778 – Hate Crime
Cllr Klara Sudbury and Cllr Jeremy Hilton, the proposer and seconder of the motion, 
requested the changes highlighted below:

This Council is concerned by the reported rise in hate crime across the country 
following the EU referendum.

The Council therefore re-affirms its commitment to an inclusive, tolerant and diverse 
county. We welcome the many contributions made to our vibrant multicultural and 
multiracial community by people regardless of their background. We will continue to 
work to tackle hate crime and discrimination in all its forms.

This Council also calls on the Government to guarantee to all EU nationals living in 
Gloucestershire that they have the right to remain in the UK indefinitely regardless 
of the outcome of the EU referendum and any subsequent Brexit negotiations. 

This Council also calls on the Government to act quickly to clarify the right to 
remain for EU Citizens living in Gloucestershire.

In moving the motion, Cllr Sudbury stated that by raising awareness of hate crime 
the Council was sending out a strong message that this type of behaviour would not 
be tolerated.  She noted that the number of incidents reported had increased 
markedly following the EU Referendum on 23 June 2016 and the number remained 
higher than a year ago.  Most of the incidents were race-related.  She said that it 
was important for people to live in a society where diversity was celebrated.  She 
hoped that the Government would act quickly to make sure that EU Nationals living 
in Gloucestershire knew that they would be able to stay in the county.

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

In seconding the motion, Cllr Hilton noted the rise in the number of hate crimes 
following the EU Referendum.  He said that he was concerned that some people 
now seemed to think that they had a right to make hurtful comments to non-UK 
residents.  He believed that the Prime Minister should reassure people by making a 
statement that people living and working in the UK would be able to stay in the 
country.

A member stated that he was an immigrant who had left South Africa to escape 
Apartheid.  He said that the UK was seen as a welcoming and friendly country and 
was better for the presence of others.  He was deeply concerned that following the 
EU Referendum that there had been abuse and violence against immigrants.    

Other members spoke in support of the motion and recognised that the Council had 
a role as a community leader to reinforce the message that this type of behaviour 
was unacceptable.  They were appalled at how some people had behaved with 
incidents of homophobic related incidents rising alongside race related incidents.

The Leader of the Council recognised the need to be vigilant against hate crime at 
all times.  He noted that Gloucestershire Constabulary would shortly be launching 
its ‘No Excuse, No Tolerance’ campaign to encourage people to report incidents.

A member said that any right-minded person would condemn hate crime.  He stated 
that any EU citizens who were in the UK legally should be allowed to continue living 
in the country.  He was concerned, however, that that the motion had been put 
forward for the wrong reasons by people who remained upset about the outcome of 
the EU Referendum.

The Chairman advised that he and the Vice-chairman attended Citizenship 
Ceremonies for people wanting to become UK Citizens.  One of the key messages 
at the ceremony was about the importance of a diverse population.  He noted that 
the UK had welcomed immigrants throughout its history and the diversity had 
resulted in a country that was seen as creative and innovative.      

On being put to the vote, the revised motion received unanimous support.

RESOLVED that

This Council is concerned by the reported rise in hate crime across the country 
following the EU referendum.

The Council therefore re-affirms its commitment to an inclusive, tolerant and diverse 
county. We welcome the many contributions made to our vibrant multicultural and 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

multiracial community by people regardless of their background. We will continue to 
work to tackle hate crime and discrimination in all its forms.

This Council also calls on the Government to act quickly to clarify the right to 
remain for EU Citizens living in Gloucestershire.

Motion 780 – Accident and Emergency waiting times
Cllr Tim Harman and Cllr Paul McLain, the proposer and seconder of the original 
motion, accepted the changes highlighted below requested by Cllr Iain Dobie.  

This Council notes the recent decision by NHS Improvement to find 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Trust in breach of its licence, as a result of a 
consistent failure to meet Accident and Emergency waiting times.  

This Council further notes the decision, taken in 2013, to downgrade Cheltenham 
Accident and Emergency Department at night, attributed to a shortage of specialist 
doctors.   

This Council calls on the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee to urgently review 
this situation, and in particular clarifying: 

a) What role the night-time downgrading of Cheltenham Accident and Emergency 
may have played.

b) Whether its reopening could help solve the situation 
c) Whether the Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Trust and Gloucestershire Clinical 

Commissioning Group are committed to fully reopening Cheltenham A&E 
through continuing to seek to recruit the necessary specialist doctors.

In moving the motion, Cllr Harman recognised the value of having an A&E 
Department in Cheltenham.  He said that the decision to make changes to 
overnight provision in August 2013 was not only having a serious impact on 
Cheltenham but also on the rest of the county with significant extra pressure on the 
A&E Department at Gloucester Royal Hospital.  

Cllr Dobie, Chair of the Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee, stated 
that the principal reason for the overnight changes at Cheltenham was the shortage 
of trained doctors.  He said that the new Chief Executive of the Gloucestershire 
Hospitals’ NHS Foundation Trust had reported to the Health and Care Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee on 13 September that the Trust had been successful in 
recruiting new A&E Consultants.  He believed that now was a good time to review 
the position.  

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

In seconding the motion, Cllr McLain felt that it was right to challenge the 
assumptions made in 2013 in light of the events since then. It appeared that the 
changes had resulted in significant extra pressure on A&E in Gloucester.  

Some members were concerned about the effects of austerity which they believed 
were downgrading the NHS.  They referred to the difficulties in making 
appointments with GPs and the proposed overnight closures of minor injury units.

Other members recognised that there was a need to understand the issues in the 
light of the breach of licence relating to A&E waiting times.  With the changes that 
had happened since 2013 they believed that it was a good time to review the 
position.

On being put to the vote, the revised motion received unanimous support:

RESOLVED that

This Council notes the recent decision by NHS Improvement to find 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Trust in breach of its licence, as a result of a 
consistent failure to meet Accident and Emergency waiting times.  

This Council further notes the decision, taken in 2013, to downgrade Cheltenham 
Accident and Emergency Department at night, attributed to a shortage of specialist 
doctors.   

This Council calls on the Health and Care Scrutiny Committee to urgently review 
this situation, and in particular clarifying: 

a) What role the night-time downgrading of Cheltenham Accident and Emergency 
may have played.

b) Whether its reopening could help solve the situation 
c) Whether the Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Trust and Gloucestershire Clinical 

Commissioning Group are committed to fully reopening Cheltenham A&E 
through continuing to seek to recruit the necessary specialist doctors.

Motion 781 – Grammar schools in Gloucestershire
The following motion proposed by Cllr Richard Leppington and seconded by Cllr 
David Prince was not considered as there was insufficient time for the consideration 
of further motions.

This Council notes the Prime Minister's recent support for the UKIP policy to 
reintroduce grammar schools. We call on Gloucestershire MPs to support the 
creation of new grammar schools throughout Gloucestershire. 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

Motion 782 - Community Support Payments (Fracking) in Gloucestershire 
The following motion proposed by Cllr Paul McMahon and seconded by Cllr 
Graham Morgan was withdrawn.

This Council notes that the Government have recently changed their ‘fracking’ 
policy to include a personal payment to households within the area of proposed 
‘fracking’ sites.

This Council believes that this is fundamentally wrong, as it could lead to critical 
environmental decisions being taken away from communities as a whole. This 
Council reaffirms that the protection of Gloucestershire’s environment is a key 
priority for this Authority. 

This Council also notes its disappointment in the Government for abolishing the 
Department for Energy and Climate Change. 

This Council asks that the Leader of the Council writes to Gloucestershire’s six MPs 
and the Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy to urge 
them to re-evaluate Government policy over the proposed Community Support 
Payments for fracking.

63. AMBULANCE RESPONSE TIMES (MOTION 759) 

Following consultation with Group Leaders, the Chairman agreed at the briefing that 
this item should be deferred to the next full Council meeting to allow members to 
give proper consideration to any matters raised when the report was presented to 
the Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 13 September 2016.

64. IMPACT OF BREXIT ON GLOUCESTERSHIRE (MOTION 775) 

The Chief Executive introduced his report which responded to the motion agreed by 
Council on 29 June 2016 relating to the impact of Brexit on Gloucestershire.  He 
explained that it had been a very difficult report to write as it was impossible at 
present to assess the impact of Brexit.  This was likely to remain the position until 
Article 50 was invoked.

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson, who had jointly proposed the original motion, recognised that 
it was a surreal position with the country nowhere close to leaving the EU.  He said 
that he would like to see a complete list of EU funded projects in Gloucestershire 
including schemes that were in the pipeline.  He believed that it would be useful if a 
mechanism was in place to provide regular updates for members. 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

Answering questions, Cllr Ray Theodoulou, the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change and Chair of the Pension Committee, stated that interest rates had been at 
a low level for many years and it was not a Brexit issue.  He said that in the 
aftermath of Brexit the stock market was rising, property funds had returned to their 
previous level and the in general terms the economy remained strong.  

The Leader of the Council stated that there were many unknowns on what a post-
Brexit UK would look like.  The country remained in the EU and unless Article 50 
was invoked ahead of the December Council meeting there was unlikely to be 
anything else material to report.  He believed that it would be sensible to report to 
members as and when further information was available.

A member noted that a consequence of the Brexit vote had been a big devaluation 
in currency and increased money supply by the Bank of England.  Many firms relied 
on importing materials from Europe and they were incurring significantly higher 
costs.  All the forecasts for the economy showed markedly slower growth rates.

Another member called for members to be keep informed as there could be severe 
effect on firms that imported goods.

RESOLVED to note the report.

65. MEMBER QUESTIONS 

Forty questions had been received.  A copy of the answers was circulated and is 
attached to the signed copy of the minutes.

The following supplementary questions were asked:

Question 1 - Cllr Iain Dobie stated: 

So you are balancing the social care books; at yesterday’s Health and Care 
Scrutiny Committee, it was reported that as part of the overall reduction in social 
care expenditure the budget for people with a learning disability would be reduced 
in this financial year. It is likely that health impacts may occur to this vulnerable 
population. In order for reductions to be achieved care packages must ultimately be 
reduced and these impacts must be considered.  Do you think Gloucestershire 
County Council’s Social Care books must be balanced by risking the health of the 
most vulnerable? 

In response Cllr Dorcas Binns stated that the Council had been ‘ahead of the curve’ 
when looking at introducing the Living Wage and thanked the Finance Team for 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

their work. With regards to adult social care, she believed the Council was on the 
right path.  She disagreed that their was a ‘chronic overspend’ and that the 
challenge in this area had been faced head on. It was important to ensure that the 
provision was good.

Question 2 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked for detail on the officer time spent on 
COXIT.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne responded that records were not kept on how much time had 
been spent. 

Question 3 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson asked if a ‘guestimate’ could be provided of 
officers time on COXIT.

In response it was again reiterated that records were not kept on the time dedicated 
to it. 

Question 4 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson stated that of the nine roads that had been shut 
for more than six months over the previous two years, one of them was the road 
referred to as the ‘old A40’ (Northleach to Compton Abdale). He asked when the 
member expected the road to be open.

Cllr Vernon Smith explained that he shared the member’s frustration but that the 
correct processes including geological surveys had to be followed. He would ask 
senior officers to provide a detailed breakdown of the programme of work. 

Question 5 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton explained that consideration should be given to the 
need for a new comprehensive school to serve north Gloucester area and asked 
whether the member agreed that disposal of land in this area should be held back 
until the Joint Core Strategy had been agreed.  

Cllr Ray Theodoulou stated that consideration would be given by the relevant 
Planning Committee with regards to the use of land.  Education Officers had 
confirmed that the site was surplus to educational requirments. 

Question 6 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton suggested that based on housing projections within 
the Joint Core Strategy there could be capacity issues within schools and he asked 
whether a review of secondary school requirements over the long term was 
needed.

Cllr Paul McLain stated that the Council considered the short, medium and long 
term and reassured the member that officers were well versed on the projections 
and were in regular contact with schools. He would be happy to arrange a meeting 

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

with Gloucester members to provide reassurance on how potential future growth 
could be met.  

Question 8 – Cllr Jeremy Hiton asked whether the Leader of Council agreed that 
Brexit should mean Britain retaining its membership of the single European market.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne replied that the Government was yet to formulate its position 
and the member would have to wait and see how things developed.   

Question 11 – Cllr Tracy Millard stated that she had not received the breakdown of 
pupils in year 6 secondary school allocations for all Gloucester primary schools in 
the last three years and asked when she could expect to receive the information.

Cllr Paul McLain replied that he would follow this up and ensure the member had 
the information as soon as possible. 

Question 14 – Cllr Lesley Williams asked whether she could assume a response 
would be provided on GCSE and A level data for 2016 as soon as it was available.

Cllr Paul McLain agreed.

Question 17 – Cllr Lesley Williams expressed concern regarding the percentage of 
children eligible for free school meals who had achieved five or more A* - C grades 
at GCSE. She asked whether a report could go to Children and Families Scrutiny 
Committee, and asked what the member was doing to improve and how he felt 
about the figures.  

Cllr Paul McLain stated that it was not up to him to decide what was on scrutiny’s 
work plan. He stated that as part of the Gloucestershire Children’s Partnership it 
had been identified that more efforts were needed to ‘close the gap’. Over 90% of 
pupils attended Ofsted rated good or outstanding schools but there was a 
significant gap for a small minority. He referred to the use of the Pupil Premium by 
schools which was something that scrutiny had looked at and the role of parents in 
encouraging their children to do the best that they could.

Question 21 – Cllr Paul Hodgkinson  stated that he had been surprised not to have 
seen the figures around deprivation previously. He asked what could be done in 
order to ensure that all councillors were able to see the figures regularly. 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne explained that various measures for deprivation had been 
available for a considerable amount of time, he understood that all members were 
provided with individual profiles of their wards. 

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

Question 22 – Cllr Iain Dobie referred to the first meeting of the new cross party 
County Councillor Cycling Group and stated that work on a a cycle path running 
parallel to the Golden Valley was not planned until at least 2020. He asked whether 
the Cabinet Member would push to bring this date forward.

Cllr Nigel Moor replied that he understood that with regards to scheme of this 
nature, it was first priority and that he could not promise dates until after January 
2017 when more detail would be available. 

Question 23- Cllr Tracy Millard asked for specific details on consultants or 
consultancies contracted by the Council related to ‘per year’ and ‘per department’. 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou suggested that the member had a discussion with officers and 
that he would be happy to facilitate this.  

Question 25 –  Cllr Tracy Millard asked for more detail suggesting that external 
work had been carried out on the devolution bid.

Cllr Mark Hawthorne explained that the devolution bid had been developed by 
Leadership Gloucestershire and that mostly officer time had been used. Any 
additional work carried out had been externally funded through joint funds held by 
Leadership Gloucestershire which was ring-fenced outside of the County Council’s 
budget.  

Question 28 – Cllr Lesley Williams asked whether any families came back for 
support a third time. 

Cllr Paul McLain stated that he would have to provide the member with a detailed 
response following the meeting. 

Question 31 – Cllr Lesley Williams referred to the report for the item on Highways 
later in the agenda and noted the 95% SMART target related to 28 day repairs. She 
asked for clarification on this target suggesting it was ‘setting us up to fail’.

Cllr Vernon Smith explained that this target was put in place for contractors in order 
to understand what the Council was looking for. He stated that to ascertain 100% 
was virtually impossible and that it had to be realistic. 

Question 32 – Cllr Lesley Williams asked whether, now that UBICO was involved 
with Household Recycling Centres, was the Council still confident they were paying 
the Living Wage.

Cllr Ray Theodoulou stated that they followed the law. 

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 18 -

Question 35 – Cllr Paul McMahon expressed concern about scrutiny 
recommendations in relation to the draft Minerals Local Plan not being accepted. 

Cllr Nigel Moor explained that there would be a further opportunity to make 
representations on the Plan later this month when the consultation opened. 

66. SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENT (SHE) ANNUAL REPORT 

The Chairman, Cllr Colin Hay, presented the report as he had been Chair of the 
SHE Panel over the last year.  

Cllr Hay noted that Cllrs Jason Bullingham, Tracy Millard, Shaun Parsons, Ray 
Theodoulou and Suzanne Williams were also members of the SHE Panel.  He said 
that a great deal of effort went into keeping people safe but this was often 
unrecognised.  The number of incidents across the county remained small.  He 
stated that there was now a much greater emphasis on security at Shire Hall and 
he reminded members to wear their ID badges at all times.

Cllr Lesley Williams expressed concern that  289 schools did not have sprinkler 
systems.  Cllr Nigel Moor, the Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, 
undertook to provide a written response following the meeting.

RESOLVED to note the Safety, Health and Environment (SHE) Annual Report for 
2015-16.

67. SCRUTINY REPORT 

The Chairman noted that it was the first scrutiny report that included information on 
the Police and Crime Panel. 

Referring to the item on fracking discussed by the Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, members noted that the committee was not opposing all 
fracking applications but believed that applications should not be supported unless 
specific conditions were met.  Cllr Chris Coleman noted that different views were 
being expressed at the committee as to whether members could express a view on 
planning policies if they were members of the Planning Committee.  He said that 
members would appreciate some advice around this issue.

Cllrs Tracy Millard and Chris Coleman, members of the Adoption Panel, were 
anxious that adoption panels with member involvement remained in place for the 
new regional arrangements under Adoption West.  They hoped that the Children 

Page 18



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 19 -

and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee would be scrutinising the proposals 
and they offered to meet with Cllr Paul McLain, the Cabinet Member for Children 
and Young People and Strategic Commissioning, outside the meeting.

Answering questions from Cllr Millard, Cllr McLain offered to provide a written 
response following the meeting relating to concerns she had with performance on 
re-ablement and health checks.

RESOLVED to note the scrutiny report.

68. CABINET DECISION STATEMENT 

RESOLVED to note the Cabinet Decision Statement for the meeting held on 20 
July 2016. 

69. INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISION STATEMENTS 

RESOLVED to note the Statement of Individual Cabinet Member Decisions for the 
period 1 June to 31 August 2016.

70. HIGHWAYS PERFORMANCE REPORT 

Cllr Vernon Smith, the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood, introduced the 
report.  

Answering questions, Cllr Smith advised that the questions in the survey were 
being revised and the matter would be raised with Shadows.  He recognised the 
concerns regarding the validity of making comparisons with previous years if the 
questions were changed.

A member expressed concern that a recent press release had included inaccurate 
information regarding meeting targets.  

Cllr Smith advised that the latest data was showing improvements in performance 
and he disputed that the press release was inaccurate.

Answering further questions, he said that the performance report would remain on 
the Council agenda and that he was working with Shadows in respect of the 
appointment of a consultant to review customer satisfaction levels.  He noted the 
concerns of a member regarding the emptying of gullies in Cheltenham and he said 

Page 19



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 20 -

that senior highways officers would be available to discuss those concerns after the 
meeting.

A member thanked Cllr Smith for providing the opportunity for the Shadows to be 
involved in the LGA Peer Review of highways.

Another member noted the importance of Cllr Smith attending meetings of the 
Highways Advisory Group.

RESOLVED to note the highways performance report.

The meeting ended at 3.25pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 20



1

REPORT TO FULL COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING REPORT

7 DECEMBER 2016

1. Number of Children in Care 
At the end of September 2016, 627 children were living in care in Gloucestershire, 
dipping slightly to 622 in October 2016. Recent trends demonstrate a large 
number of sibling groups coming into care. 

In October 2016, 5 young people were living in secure accommodation due to 
complex behaviours, placing the young people at risk. 

88 young people were placed out of county, most of whom had been placed in 
neighbouring authorities. A further 26 young people had been placed at an even 
further distance, most of whom had been placed with family and friends. Some 
young people had been placed at a distance due to their complex needs and a 
lack of suitable placements locally. 

At the end of October 2016, 99 children who had lived in care for more than 2.5 
years), had been in the same placement for at least 2 years. 

2. Ambassadors for Vulnerable Children and Young People
In September 2016, the Participation Team appointed 6 new Ambassadors for 
Vulnerable Children and Young People. The successful candidates, (aged 
between 16 and 22 years), have experience of a wide range of services including, 
care, disability, young carers and early help. 

A total of 15 Ambassadors actively work alongside the Participation Team to 
improve services for children and young people. 

Elected members are encouraged to meet with Ambassadors at Corporate 
Parenting Events, Children and Families Scrutiny Committee meetings and at 
other events and meetings. 

3. Children in Care Council
Some of the key successes for 2016 included; initiating a Twitter Account and 
Website; establishing a Children in Care Council School Forum, working with the 
Children’s Commissioners Office to develop a ‘Regional Children in Care Council 
Meets’ and meeting with the Corporate Parenting Group twice a year to engage 
with members on issues affecting Children in Care. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



2

4. Photographic ID/Passports/Driving Licences 
An issue raised at the Corporate Parenting Group meeting on 12 October 2016 
highlighted the difficulties young people in care experience when trying to open a 
bank or building society account without photographic identification.  

Young people in care may have an opportunity to travel abroad. This could 
present a further problem if the young person does not hold a passport and has to 
process a last minute application.

It is proposed all young people living in care should be assisted in obtaining some 
form of photographic identification, whether it be a passport or a driving licence.

5. Corporate Parenting Group 
It has been suggested that a review of the membership of the Corporate Parenting 
Group be undertaken in 2017.  At the Corporate Parenting Group meeting in 
October 2016, the group discussed proposals for the membership of the new 
Corporate Parenting Group under the new administration, (post the County 
Council elections in May 2017). 

The group suggested representative Ambassadors for Vulnerable Children and 
Young People be incorporated as core members of the group. Under the current 
arrangement, Ambassadors are only invited to attend selected meetings. 

Ambassadors and the Children in Care Council invited members of the Corporate 
Parenting Group to an event in October to review the ‘Children in Care Strategy - 
Aspirations for Children in our Care and Care Leavers 2013-2016’, and to agree 
key priorities for the forthcoming year. 

The draft revised Strategy will be presented to the Corporate Parenting Group in 
the New Year.

Cllr Paul McLain 

December 2016

Page 22



 

Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Report to council in response to Motion 759: Ambulance Response 
Times 

September 2016 

Background  

At the meeting of council on 2 December 2015 members gave their full support to 
Motion 759 relating to ambulance response times. The Motion requested that the 
Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HCOSC) explore the option of 
creating a county-wide ambulance service with recommendations for council to 
debate (the minute from the council meeting of 2 December 2015 can be found at 
Appendix 1) .  

In considering how to approach this work, the committee agreed that the two key 
questions were:- 

 Should Gloucestershire again have its own ambulance service, and, 
 How to address the response time challenges in the rural areas of the county.  

The HCOSC agreed that the best approach to this task was to form a working group 
to consider this matter.  

Membership of the working group was open to all members of the HCOSC, and Cllrs 
Roger Wilson, Iain Dobie, Paul McMahon, Tony Hicks, David Brown, Jim Parsons 
(Cotswold District Council), Steve Harvey (Cheltenham Borough Council), Collette 
Finnegan (Gloucester City Council) and Joe Harris (previously a member of HCOSC 
and also seconder of the Motion) agreed to take this work forward. It was agreed that 
Cllr Roger Wilson would Chair this working group. The working group met with 
commissioners, the provider, and the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service on 
23 June 2016 to discuss and debate this matter. 

SHOULD GLOUCESTERSHIRE HAVE ITS OWN AMBULANCE SERVICE? 

1.1 Context 

1.1.1 To put this debate in context it is helpful to note that Gloucestershire has not 
been served by a standalone ambulance service since 2006. Following the 
dissolution of the Gloucestershire Ambulance Service (2006) the county was served 
by the Gloucestershire, Wiltshire and Avon Ambulance Service (GWAS). In August 
2011, following the government’s decision to require all NHS Trusts to become a 
Foundation Trust, the GWAS Board recognised that GWAS was not viable as a 
standalone Foundation Trust and agreed to explore the option of a partner 
organisation. SWASFT emerged as the preferred partner and the acquisition process 
was completed in February 2013. The South Western Ambulance Service NHS 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9



 

Foundation Trust (SWASFT) therefore became the ambulance service provider in 
Gloucestershire from February 2013. SWASFT currently covers the whole of the 
South West from Gloucestershire to the Scilly Isles, with its Headquarters in Exeter. 
The Northern Division of SWASFT covers Gloucestershire, Wiltshire, Bristol, BaNES, 
South Gloucestershire, Swindon and North Somerset. The Head of Operations 
(North) is based in Wiltshire. 

1.1.2 It is also important to be cautious of trying to compare the performance of 
Gloucestershire Ambulance Service with SWASFT as the performance framework 
has changed significantly during this time period. It is well known that SWASFT has 
not been able to meet RED1 and RED2 targets in the more rural areas of 
Gloucestershire; but it is also known that prior to its dissolution the Gloucestershire 
Ambulance Service had been downgraded from a two to a one star Trust; and that 
the service had not achieved the 8 minute target. It is also known from the 
Healthcare Commission Annual Performance Ratings 2005/6 that Gloucestershire 
Ambulance Service was, at that time, rated as weak for use of resources and weak 
for quality of services. 

1.1.3 In considering this Motion the working group was mindful of the NHS England 
(NHSE) Urgent and Emergency Care Review which was launched by Sir Bruce 
Keogh in January 2013; and the NHS Five Year Forward View which explains the 
need to redesign urgent and emergency care services in England and sets out the 
new models of care needed to deliver the changes.  

1.2 Commissioning and delivery 

1.2.1 In order to be able to consider whether the question ‘should Gloucestershire 
have a standalone ambulance service’ it was important to understand the factors 
involved in commissioning and delivering an ambulance service. The Associate 
Director of Commissioning (Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG)) 
discussed these elements with the working group; and the working group was also 
able to question the Director of Operations (SWASFT) on the ‘reality’ of running an 
ambulance service. 

1.2.2 It is important to be clear that a modern ambulance service is much more than 
simply a transportation resource. Indeed Sir Bruce Keogh’s review of urgent and 
emergency care emphasised the untapped potential of English ambulance services 
and the need to expedite the transformation of these services from a purely transport 
to a wider treatment role. What is needed is a service that is structured such that 
resources (people and vehicles) are used efficiently and effectively to be able to 
deliver quality patient care, in the right place and at the right time. The question is 
therefore can this more comprehensive service be achieved at a county level, and 
within a landscape of funding challenges and increasing demand. There is also the 
question as to whether the county would be able to establish its own ambulance 
service within the current legal framework. The funding comes through the 

Page 24



 

Department of Health as ambulance services are an integral part of the NHS. Advice 
received from the Department of Health is clear that under the current legal 
framework it is a matter for Trusts and their commissioners to determine how to best 
deliver services in their area. The working group was informed that there is no 
appetite in the GCCG for changing the current commissioning arrangements. 
Economies of scale are also very relevant to this matter. The performance 
framework relating to response times also impacts upon the effectiveness and 
efficiency of an ambulance service and issues relating to this aspect are discussed 
later in this report. 

1.2.3 Currently SWASFT is commissioned by 12 Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) through a collaborative funding agreement. GCCG is the Lead 
Commissioner for this contract and Dorset CCG the deputy lead until 30 March 
2017. The total contract value for ambulance services across the region is £196m.  
Gloucestershire has a contract value of £23m with SWASFT. Each CCG can require 
SWASFT to deliver a specialist service for its area, e.g. GCCG requires SWASFT to 
place a midwife in the Clinical Hub as it was identified through call auditing that this 
would be effective in providing the right care at the right time in the right place. This 
has proven to be an effective approach and now other CCGs are looking at this 
model. In addition, SWASFT follow the local policies and procedures for admission 
avoidance schemes, for example, in Gloucestershire SWASFT utilise the Ambulatory 
Emergency Units at the Acute Hospitals. There are other local initiatives in place so 
it is clear that despite the ambulance service being regional, there is opportunity for 
local solutions to local issues.  

1.3 Finance 

1.3.1 The group discussed the financial aspects involved in establishing an 
ambulance service. It was not possible to identify the actual figures involved. 
However, elements that would be required include premises not just for a Clinical 
Hub (call centre) and ambulance stations, but also for the back office, and 
workshops for the maintenance of vehicles; recruitment of the workforce – 
paramedics, emergency care assistants, back office staff, managers etc. The vehicle 
fleet would need to be purchased; both double crewed ambulances (DCAs) and 
Rapid Response Vehicles (RRVs). The governance structure would need to be 
established and maintained. Then there are also bespoke uniforms to purchase and 
technology to invest in, and legal costs. Clearly there would need to be significant 
investment to establish and then maintain and develop this service. These set up 
costs have already been incurred by the establishment of SWASFT, and the ongoing 
size of SWASFT gives rise to considerable economies of scale in the procurement of 
many of these products and services.  

1.3.2 The working group was informed that it could not be guaranteed that a newly 
established county ambulance service would be able to rely on the transfer of 
vehicles and equipment from the current provider, eg. no vehicles were transferred 

Page 25



 

as part of the procurement of the Non Emergency Patient Transport Service. 
Therefore would it be economically viable for a county ambulance service to 
purchase a fleet, and then would it be able to effectively maintain and develop it? For 
information the current cost of a purchased front line vehicle (DCA) is £130k.  

1.3.3 Following a review of the service in Gloucestershire SWASFT identified that, 
in order to improve effectiveness and better fit the Gloucestershire profile, a 
rebalance of the ratio of DCAs to RRVs was required. It is expected that there will 
now be 30 DCAs and 13 RRVs in place in the county compared to 20 DCAs and 21 
RRVs at present. In addition, SWASFT are just moving into a new Clinical Hub, in 
South Gloucestershire, at the cost of £7m, designed to cover the North Division.  

1.3.4 Recruiting and maintaining a workforce is crucial. Would a standalone service 
be able to offer sufficient opportunities for progression to attract and retain staff? 
Paramedics are a valuable resource and are in demand. SWASFT has, for example, 
already lost paramedics to the Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust. SWASFT 
is currently significantly investing in a recruitment campaign and training programme 
(£2m) to increase the workforce and to strengthen the skill base of clinical staff. 
Would these programmes of work be possible in a smaller standalone service? 
Would a smaller service be able to offer £2k ‘golden hellos’ and £6k relocation as 
SWASFT are currently?  

1.3.5 It is clear that the costs of establishing and maintaining a local ambulance 
service would be challenging; SWASFT currently has one of the lowest management 
costs of the 10 Ambulance Foundation Trusts in the country. Given the size that a 
Gloucestershire service would be, could there be sufficient incentive or motivation for 
staff to remain? SWASFT, being regional, can and does offer its staff good 
opportunities for progression and upskilling, but even so it has lost staff to other NHS 
Trusts. Also, with significant fixed costs, could a smaller, county-wide service, hope 
to be financially stable or able to meet its statutory targets and responsibilities? 

1.4 Cross Border Working 

1.4.1 As now ambulances would still need to travel across borders (Wales, 
Wiltshire, Herefordshire, Worcestershire, Oxfordshire and Bristol). The nearest 
ambulance to an emergency is the one that must respond. Memorandums of 
Understanding (MOUs) and standing operational procedures (SOPs) would need to 
be established with these neighbouring authorities. At present there are particular 
challenges relating to Wales, with SWASFT having to respond daily to a number of 
calls due to the lack of DCAs located in the Chepstow/Newport area. This can mean 
that a SWASFT DCA having responded to a call (as the nearest ambulance) can 
become unavailable for a long period of time. This is a particular issue for SWASFT; 
the impact on a smaller ambulance service would be significant.  

1.4.2 Within the context of devolution the group was interested to hear that in those 
areas where devolution is already happening there is no will to bring the ambulance 

Page 26



 

service in house, e.g. the North West Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust is 
still the provider across the Greater Manchester Combined Authority area. 

1.5 Conclusion 

1.5.1 Having considered all this information the working group agreed that the 
recommendation to council must be that the establishment of a county-wide 
ambulance service is neither viable nor desirable, and should not be progressed. 
This decision was taken not just in response to the factors around economies of 
scale and costs, but what is best for the people of Gloucestershire. With one of the 
lowest management costs in the country for Ambulance Trusts SWASFT is therefore 
making best use of the Gloucestershire pound; and, the rebalance of vehicles to 
better fit the Gloucestershire profile should deliver a more effective service in 
Gloucestershire. This decision was also made in recognition of the anticipated 
significant positive impact of the Ambulance Response Programme (ARP) pilot and 
the efficiencies and improved effectiveness that this will engender to the benefit of 
the people of Gloucestershire. (This is discussed in the next section of the report.) 

1.5.2 It is important not to overlook that the most significant factor here is quality 
patient care. During the debate on 23 June 2016, it was helpful that two of the 
SWASFT representatives at the meeting had previously been part of the GWAS 
workforce. They were able to assure members of the working group that, in their 
view, since SWASFT became the provider of the Ambulance Service in February 
2013 the quality of patient care has greatly improved.  

Recommendation 1 

That this council agree that the establishment of a county-wide ambulance service is 
neither viable, nor desirable, and not in the best interests of the population of 
Gloucestershire, and should not be progressed. 

1.5.3 The working group was made aware that SWASFT has been considering 
updating the logos on DCAs and RRVs based in Gloucestershire to include the 
Gloucestershire Flag and name on the vehicle’s door. The working group fully 
support this initiative and agreed that this is a positive message to send to the 
people of Gloucestershire. 

Recommendation 2 

That this council supports the addition of the Gloucestershire Flag and name to 
SWASFT vehicles based in Gloucestershire and that the Leader and Chief Executive 
of the council write to the Chair and Chief Executive of SWASFT, and the Chair and 
Accountable Officer of the GCCG, and urge them to pursue this initiative.  

 

 

Page 27



 

2 AMBULANCE RESPONSE TIME CHALLENGES  

2.1 Context 

2.1.1 The HCOSC has been concerned about response times in the rural areas for 
some considerable time and has consistently challenged SWASFT about the actions 
and initiatives in place and how it planned to address this matter. Having said that 
the committee has also been concerned for some time about the nature of the 
targets themselves; is it sufficient that all they tell you is how long the vehicle took to 
reach the patient? Would it not be better to know that the right response was made 
to a call to ensure the best health outcome for the patient? If the target is only time 
driven then it is entirely possible to have a situation where the ambulance arrives 
within the 8 minute target, the patient does not survive, yet the performance 
framework classifies this as a success; whilst a response in 8+ minutes with the 
patient surviving is deemed a failure. Working group members agree that it is 
questionable whether this is the best way to measure performance. 

2.1.2 Only a small percentage of 999 calls to ambulance services are as a result of 
life threatening illness and injury and require treatment at a specialist emergency 
centre; being able to properly identify these calls and send the right response as 
quickly as possible is paramount. Therefore it is important to be aware that the 
current performance framework has led to inefficient behaviours (across all 
ambulance trusts), particularly with regard to the inefficient use of resources, some 
examples of this include: - 

 Dispatching resources to a 999 call, on blue lights and sirens, before it has 
been determined what the problem is and whether an ambulance is actually 
required;  

 Dispatching multiple ambulance vehicles to the same patient, on blue lights 
and sirens and then standing down vehicles least likely to arrive first;  

 Diverting ambulance vehicles from one call to another repeatedly, so that 
ambulance clinicians are constantly chasing time standards;   

 Using a ‘fast response unit’ to ‘stop the clock’, when this provides limited 
clinical value to a patient, who then waits for a conveying ambulance;  

 Very long waits for lower priority calls that nevertheless need assessment and 
conveyance to hospital. 

(Source: SWASFT Integrated Corporate Performance Report April 2016) 

2.2 Ambulance Response Programme (ARP) 

2.2.1 The ARP, led by NHS England (NHSE), is about ensuring that the focus is on 
improving health outcomes. RED calls rightly remain time critical. Phase 1 of this 
work completed earlier this year, and Phase 2 commenced on 19 April 2016 with 
SWASFT, the Yorkshire Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust and the West Midlands 
NHS Foundation Trust piloting this work. The objectives of the trial are to: - 

Page 28



 

 Use a new pre-triage (nature of call) set of questions for 999 incidents;  
 Achieve a more clinically focused and patient based set of outcome standards 

delivering an improved experience for all patients;  
 Deliver more available resources, as a result of fewer multiple allocations, to 

respond to life-threatening incidents;  
 Allocate the most clinically appropriate resource to patients by taking time to 

triage the call and increase the use of the Hear & Treat and See & Treat 
patient pathways where clinically appropriate;  

 Create a new evidence-based set of clinical codes that better describe the 
patient’s problem and response/resource required.   

(Source: SWASFT Integrated Corporate Performance Report April 2016) 

The findings from this trial will be subject to independent review by Sheffield 
University. 

(For more information on See and Treat and Hear and Treat please see Appendix 2)  

2.2.2 The working group was pleased to note that the transition to the change of 
performance monitoring is going well; performance remains an area that 
commissioners want to have assurance on, particularly amber calls. Current 
expectations are that this pilot will be extended for the current participating Trusts. 
The University of Sheffield will be undertaking an evaluation during the summer for 
NHSE. 

2.2.3 SWASFT is also in the process of consulting staff on the restructuring of rotas 
to better align with periods of high demand and in response to the requirements of 
the ARP as discussed above. As already stated the Trust has reviewed the balance 
of the double crewed ambulances to rapid response vehicles in the county and is 
restructuring these resources to better fit the Gloucestershire profile.  

2.2.4 The working group agreed that the ARP, the re-profiling of the SWASFT 
vehicle fleet in Gloucestershire, and the changes to staff rotas, have the potential to 
make a significant difference to the quality of patient care in Gloucestershire. The 
working group agreed that this work should be given the support of council. The 
working group also agreed that it would be important for the HCOSC to receive a 
report from SWASFT on 7 March 2017 on the impact of the full implementation of the 
ARP.  This will also enable the HCOSC to identify whether there are specific aspects 
that need to be highlighted for follow up in the new council. 

Recommendation 3 

That this council offers its full support to the Ambulance Response Programme in the 
expectation that it will deliver improved quality of care to the people of 
Gloucestershire. 

 

Page 29



 

Recommendation 4 

That this council requires the Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group and the 
South Western Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust to report to the Gloucestershire 
Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 7 March 2017 on the impact 
of the implementation of the Ambulance Response Programme. 

2.3 Addressing the rural challenges 

2.3.1 SWASFT has a very robust and active Community First Responder and 
Defibrillator programme. SWASFT are clear that this activity is not about being able 
to tick the target box, but is about delivering the best patient care. Much of this 
activity is about helping communities to help themselves. Many members of council 
are already in contact with the SWASFT Gloucestershire Community Responder 
lead and actively work with their parish councils with regard to the recruitment of 
community first responders (CFRs) and to locate Public Access Defibrillators (PADs) 
in their division. The working group was informed that the Forest of Dean District 
Council is very supportive of this work and has part funded (up to £500) the 
installation of PADs. During 2015/16 20 grants were awarded to parishes/wards and 
a second round of funding is available (closing date 31 March 2017). SWASFT are 
always looking to increase the number of CFRs and PADs in the community and 
welcome contact by elected members to discuss what can be done in their division. 

2.3.2 The co-responder scheme with the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
(GFRS) has been in place for some years in rural parts of the County. Earlier this 
year, the scheme was extended to the North Cotswolds. Firefighters are trained to 
FPOS standard (First Person on Scene a nationally-recognised qualification) and are 
on-call to respond in their local area. Cardiac care has also been recently introduced 
in Cheltenham, Gloucester and Stroud. An ambulance will still be despatched. Given 
that cardiac arrest response timing is crucial this scheme has the potential to be 
lifesaving. 

2.3.3 The GFRS representative informed the working group that the service was 
ambitious in wanting to expand further into the medical emergencies field. The group 
was informed that a particular challenge at the moment was the impact of the ARP. 
This has reduced the number of callouts to GFRS and although this is positive, it 
does mean that firefighters having been trained are now frustrated that they are not 
more regularly called out. In response, SWASFT were clear that, whilst they were 
unable to review this while the ARP pilot was running, it was felt that in the longer 
term there would be the opportunity to review this position. It is important to note that 
GFRS recover costs from SWASFT for every call out to which it co-responds. 

2.3.4 GFRS also operates the Telecare Response Service. This is a 24/7 365 day 
service that responds to telecare alerts across Gloucestershire, and has been in 
operation across the whole county since June 2015. Between June 2015 and 
January 2016 the GFRS response saved 54 ambulance call outs, and 10 hospital 

Page 30



 

admissions. This is just one part of the work that GFRS do to support Health 
partners. It is clear that a joined up approach, using resources effectively, to the 
benefit of the people of Gloucestershire and partners, is one way of reducing the 
pressure on health services. The council and all partners should continue to identify 
opportunities for joint working. 

2.3.5 The working group heard from SWASFT that in the rural areas it would help 
them respond to calls quickly if residents ensured that their homes are clearly 
identified by number or name; and if they are waiting for an ambulance do everything 
possible to highlight their home, eg. turn on the hazard lights on their car(s), switch 
house lights on. The working group is aware of one household that draped white 
towels over the walls at the entryway to their house, this was very helpful. 

2.3.6 The working group expect that the ARP will make significant improvements to 
the service in the rural areas. The improved triaging, and therefore better allocation 
of resources, will leave more vehicles available to respond to the Amber and Green 
calls. SWASFT have also employed a full time collaboration officer to work with 
partner organisations to identify and develop further opportunities for joint working 
and it is further expected that a continued joint approach across partners will also 
have a positive effect on the quality of patient care in the rural areas. 

3. OTHER ISSUES IDENTIFIED FOR ACTION 

As has already been mentioned an ambulance service is one part of the health 
service. Activity in other areas has the potential to negatively impact on the ability of 
the ambulance service to respond to calls in a timely and effective way. The working 
group therefore agreed that it was important to highlight some of the other issues 
that were identified during the course of the meeting on 23 June 2016. 

3.1 Welsh Border  

3.1.1 This report has already referred to a specific cross border challenge for 
SWASFT with regard to the ‘loss’ of vehicles across the Welsh border as a result of 
the lack of DCAs in that area. As already discussed, the requirement that the nearest 
ambulance to an emergency is the one that must respond means that SWASFT has 
no choice in this matter, and would, of course, not wish to place anyone in jeopardy.  

3.1.2 Further exacerbating this situation for SWASFT are the significant handover 
delays at the Royal Gwent Hospital in Newport. The May 2016 Anuerin Bevan 
University Health Board performance report states that there has been a consistent 
reduction in performance against the 60 minute handover ambulance over the last 
part of the year (2015/16).  

3.1.3 These delays impact on the availability of vehicles able to respond to calls in 
Gloucestershire, in particular the Forest of Dean area. The working group therefore 
recommends that this council should support SWASFT in addressing this issue and 
write to the Chair and Chief Executive of the Welsh Ambulance NHS Trust, the Chief 

Page 31



 

Executive of NHS Wales, and the Chair and Chief Executive of the Aneurin Bevan 
University Health Board, to ascertain what actions they are taking to address these 
issues. 

Recommendation 5 

That the Leader and Chief Executive of council write to the Chair and Chief 
Executive of the Welsh Ambulance NHS Trust, the Chair and Chief Executive of the 
Aneurin Bevan University Health Board, and the Chief Executive of NHS Wales, 
asking for information on how they are addressing the unavailability of Double 
Crewed Ambulances in the Newport and Chepstow areas, and the handover delays 
at the Royal Gwent Hospital; and when this council can expect these issues to be 
resolved.  

3.2 Chargeable Handover delays at the Acute Hospitals 

3.2.1 Chargeable Handover delays mean operational hours lost to SWASFT. There 
are locally agreed handover escalation procedures in place; and SWASFT works 
with the CCGs in targeting hospitals with consistently long delays particularly during 
periods of high activity. Whilst the Acute Hospitals in Gloucestershire are not 
identified by SWASFT as one of these hospitals, there were 175 operational hours 
lost at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital in March 2016 (SWASFT Integrated Corporate 
Performance Report March 2016).  

Recommendation 6 

The working group therefore recommends:- 

That the council asks the Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group and the 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust to submit a report to the Health and 
Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee (November 2016) on the actions in place to 
address and reduce handover delays at the Acute Hospitals in Gloucestershire. 

3.3 AdviceASAP Campaign 

3.3.1 A consistent theme through the meeting, and from debates at HCOSC 
committee meetings, is that of public expectation. It was agreed that the public need 
to be more realistic and understand that an ambulance does not necessarily need to 
respond to all 999 calls, and if an ambulance is required unless the event is 
immediately life threatening the expectation should not be that it arrives in 8 minutes. 
People need to understand that there are viable alternatives to dialling 999; that they 
recognise the value of using their community pharmacy, the Minor Illness and Injury 
Units and the NHS111 service. The HCOSC has also been informed that people are 
now ‘walking-in’ to the Out of Hours Service instead of using the NHS111 system to 
book appointments; and members have heard how many of these ‘walk-ins’ were not 
urgent and could have waited to see their GP. Better use by the public of all the 

Page 32



 

health services which are there to help them means less pressure on the emergency 
services, and leaves them better able to respond to genuine emergency calls.  

3.3.2 The working group agreed that this is an area where every member of council 
could play a significant role. The GCCG has a robust communication strategy to 
inform the public of the best ways to engage with health services and elected 
members are asked to support this campaign. As community leaders elected 
members could, when attending community/parish council meetings, and through 
their Newsletters, promote the AdviceASAP App which gives advice on medical 
conditions and directs people to where to get help; and encourage people to 
download this onto their Smart phone(s) and to also inform the community about the 
website www.asapglos.nhs.uk. The GCCG is happy to share promotional material 
with members to support them in this activity. 

3.3.3 Elected members, particularly in the rural areas of the county, could also play 
a key role in encouraging people to ensure that their properties are easily identifiable 
to help SWASFT locate them should an ambulance be required to attend. 

Recommendation 7 

The working group recommend that this council agrees:-  

1. That elected members as community leaders undertake to download the 
AdviceASAP App to their Smart phone, for their personal use and to 
encourage its use in their local communities; 

2. That elected members promote the AdviceASAP App and associated Website 
in their communities through their Newsletters and their work with community 
groups and parish councils, and 

3. That elected members encourage their local communities to ensure that their 
properties are clearly identified to help the ambulance service locate them in 
the event of an emergency.  

3.4 Urgent Care Centres (UCCs) and Community Services  

3.4.1 The GCCG are in the process of redesigning Primary and Urgent Care 
Services in the county. Within this redesign the GCCG will need to be mindful of the 
new models of care identified as part of the Sir Bruce Keogh led national review of 
urgent and emergency care, the NHS Five Year Forward View and the Sustainability 
and Transformation Plan (STP).  

3.4.2 Within this work the GCCG will be looking at the location of UCCs and the 
working group ask that the GCCG ensure that particular attention is paid to the rural 
areas. The Clinical Models for Ambulance Services report (NHS England November 
2015) states that ‘commissioners will want to consider that additional investment in 
rural areas may prove particularly cost effective, with paramedics based at UCCs in 
remote communities, and working as an integral part of the local urgent care system’ 
(p17).  

Page 33



 

3.4.3 The GCCG is also leading on the review of Community Services in the Forest 
of Dean and proposals around the opening times for the Minor Illness and Injury 
Units (MIIUs) at the Community Hospitals. As with UCCs Community Services and 
MIIUs can support people on a local level providing quality patient care in a local 
setting and therefore reduce the impact on the emergency services. The working 
group is clear that the HCOSC will need to understand the impact on the rural areas 
of the proposals coming through this work. 

Recommendation 8  

The working group recommends:- 

That this council requests the Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group keep 
the HCOSC regularly updated on the progress of the redesign of primary and urgent 
services, and the planned location of the UCCs when known. 

3.5 Paramedics 

3.5.1 During the meeting it was made clear to the Director of Operations at 
SWASFT that elected members have heard directly from paramedics, and that they 
were expressing some discontent with current working conditions. The working 
group was informed that the latest SWASFT staff survey has shown an increase in 
the level of staff satisfaction (do you enjoy coming to work?) in the Northern division, 
which includes Gloucestershire.  

3.5.2 However the Director did explain that paramedics nationally were not happy 
with aspects of the role including pay grades and pensions/retirement age. With 
regard to pay paramedics were at the same grading as 10 years ago but the 
specification of the role has widened significantly; and there were equivalent posts in 
a hospital setting where the grade banding was higher. The current retirement age 
was 68 which is felt by paramedics to be unsuitable given the rigours of their job. In 
short paramedics, considering the high regard the public place them in, are feeling 
undervalued. 

Recommendation 9 

The working group recommends: - 

That the Leader and Chief Executive of the council write to the Chair and Chief 
Executive of SWASFT to inform them that this council values paramedics and holds 
them in high regard; and recognises their important role in the delivery of quality 
patient care to the people of Gloucestershire. 

3.6 Presentation to council by SWASFT 

3.6.1 In conclusion the working group agreed that it would be beneficial to all 
members of council, and district partners, to invite the Chief Executive of SWASFT to 
undertake a presentation to elected members. This will enable members to see first 

Page 34



 

hand the significant role played by SWASFT in the delivery of health care across the 
county; and to also directly question the Chief Executive on matters of 
concern/information. 

Recommendation 10 

The working group recommends: - 

That this council invites the Chief Executive of SWASFT to undertake a presentation 
on the work of the ambulance service to all members of council, and that this event 
is also opened up to district members.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



Appendix 1 

County Council 2 December 2015 
Extract from minute 77 

 
 
Motion 759 – Ambulance response times 
Proposed by Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 
Seconded by Cllr Joe Harris 
 
This Council notes that on Wednesday 28 May 2014, a motion concerning ambulance 
response times was brought to this chamber and received unanimous cross-party support.    
 
This Council is still increasingly concerned about the South Western Ambulance Service 
NHS Foundation Trust’s (SWASFT) continued failure to meet their 75% target in responding 
to the most urgent calls within 8 minutes. 
 
This Council acknowledges that the issue of ambulance performance is being monitored by 
both the Council’s Health and Care Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) and the South Western 
Ambulance Service Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, but wants to see once 
again significant improvement in the response times in those districts that are failing to reach 
the 75% target.   
 
This Council therefore asks both the Leader and the Chief Executive to write to the CEO of 
SWASFT noting the letter written back in May 2014 and asking for specific actions which will 
take place so that response times are significantly improved especially in the following four 
districts - Forest of Dean, the Cotswolds, Tewkesbury and Stroud.     
 
This Council also requests that the Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
explores the option of creating a county-wide ambulance service rather than a regional one, 
with recommendations produced for full Council to debate. 
 
In moving the motion, Cllr Hodgkinson expressed serious concern that there had been no 
improvement in ambulance response times since the last motion considered by the Council 
in May 2014.  He said that performance, particularly in the more rural areas, was dreadful 
and had fallen significantly over the last year.  In September 2015 the ambulance service 
had responded to only 30.8% of RED1 calls in the Cotswold District within the national 8 
minute target.  In September 2014, the figure was 53%.  Performance in other rural parts of 
Gloucestershire including the Forest of Dean and Stroud Districts was also very poor and 
was falling.    
 
He commended the work of paramedics and other ambulance staff but said that more 
resources were required on the ground. He believed that it was time to look at the potential 
for an ambulance service in Gloucestershire linked closely to the Police and the Fire and 
Rescue Service.  Such a move would fit well with the devolution proposals currently being 
considered for Gloucestershire. 
 
In seconding the motion, Cllr Harris stated that it was literally a matter of life and death and 
urgent steps needed to be taken to address the problems.  He paid tribute to the efforts of 
ambulance staff but he said that there were simply not enough ambulances and crews 
available on the ground.  He noted that 10 years ago, before the merger to form the Great 
Western Ambulance Service, the Gloucestershire Ambulance Service was recognised as 
high performing with first rate training of staff and initiatives such as the Tri-Service Centre.   
 
Cllr Iain Dobie, Chair of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, advised members that 
his committee was scrutinising ambulance response times on a regular basis.  He said that 

Page 36



Appendix 1 

members had visited one of the ambulance control centres and a number had travelled on 
ambulances as observers.  He recognised that the South Western Ambulance Service 
demonstrated best practice in a number of areas but he supported the motion which would 
allow his committee to examine the issues in more detail.  
 
Other members spoke in support of the motion.  They recognised that the geography of the 
county made it difficult to meet targets for response times.  The number of RED1 calls in the 
most rural parts of the Cotswolds were very low so the performance figures could be 
misleading.  They noted, however, that efforts made by the ambulance service, including an 
additional ambulance stationed in Cirencester, had failed to address the problems.   
 
A member was particularly concerned that ambulance response times in the North 
Cotswolds were amongst the poorest in the country.  He called for a change in leadership of 
the ambulance service with efforts being made to harness capacity within the Police and the 
Fire and Rescue Services.   
 
Another member noted that funding had been cut for health services and ambulance 
services were under inordinate pressure.  He stated that it was about outcomes for patients 
and not simply response time targets.  He said that the Police and Fire and Rescue Service 
were not subject to the same targets.     
             
On being put to the vote, the motion received unanimous support. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
This Council notes that on Wednesday 28 May 2014, a motion concerning ambulance 
response times was brought to this chamber and received unanimous cross-party support.    
 
This Council is still increasingly concerned about the South Western Ambulance Service 
NHS Foundation Trust’s (SWASFT) continued failure to meet their 75% target in responding 
to the most urgent calls within 8 minutes. 
 
This Council acknowledges that the issue of ambulance performance is being monitored by 
both the Council’s Health and Care Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) and the South Western 
Ambulance Service Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, but wants to see once 
again significant improvement in the response times in those districts that are failing to reach 
the 75% target.   
 
This Council therefore asks both the Leader and the Chief Executive to write to the CEO of 
SWASFT noting the letter written back in May 2014 and asking for specific actions which will 
take place so that response times are significantly improved especially in the following four 
districts - Forest of Dean, the Cotswolds, Tewkesbury and Stroud.     
 
This Council also requests that the Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
explores the option of creating a county-wide ambulance service rather than a regional one, 
with recommendations produced for full Council to debate. 

Page 37



Appendix 2 

 

 

 Hear & Treat/Refer – those incidents that were resolved by providing clinical 
advice over the telephone (without an ambulance resource attending the 
scene) or where the caller was referred to a more appropriate service (e.g. to 
contact the NHS 111 service); 

 

 See & Treat/Refer – where an ambulance resource arrives at the scene of an 
incident and the patient is treated without the need to convey the patient. This 
may include referring the patient to an alternative care pathway (e.g. to visit 
their GP) where appropriate to best meet the needs of the patient. 

 

 See & Convey – where an ambulance resource arrives at the scene of an 
incident and following treatment by the ambulance service, at least one 
patient requires conveyance.  

Page 38



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire County Council 

Scrutiny Annual Report 

2016 

Page 39

Agenda Item 11



2 
 

Contents 

 

1 Foreword: Cllr Brian Oosthuysen and Jane Burns 

2 Scrutiny Structure 

3 Looking back: Scrutiny making a difference 

4 Looking ahead: What’s next for Scrutiny in Gloucestershire 

 

 

 

 

Democratic Services Team 

Simon Harper 
 Stephen Bace 
Andrea Clarke 
Joanne Moore 
Laura Gibbard 

Andrea Griffiths 
Joanne Bolton 

Michelle Pidgeon 
Mary Thorne 
Corey Pierce 

  
 

Page 40



3 
 

Foreword  

 

Brian Oosthuysen 
Chairman of Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Committee 

 

Once again this annual report 

demonstrates the real variety of subjects 

that our scrutiny members have got 

involved in over the last year. 

Good Scrutiny is about adding value and, 

through a combination of task group 

reviews, updates at committee and 

innovative workshops and seminars, 

members have been able to make a 

difference in the areas that really resonate 

with the public. 

As the Council continues to work in the 

context of constraints on public sector 

funding accompanied by growing demand 

for key council services, scrutiny has been 

at the heart of attempting to think 

differently and find new ways to support 

the most vulnerable in our county. 

The examples within this report highlight 

some of the work carried out by members. 

The scrutiny principles of holding executive 

members to account and being a critical 

friend are embedded within the Council far 

beyond the formal scrutiny process. 

Councillors work outside of committees to 

discuss issues with Cabinet Members and 

with officers in order to ensure they are up 

to speed with the issues that are important 

to their constituents. Full Council provides 

its own opportunities through member 

questions and motions that often identify 

issues to feed back into the scrutiny 

process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As we look ahead to the new Council in 

2017, I would urge members to use this 

report to reflect on the successes achieved 

through good scrutiny and to recognise the 

challenges we face in ensuring good 

governance and accountability as Local 

Government continues to change and 

evolve.  

I would like to thank all members who have 

been involved in scrutiny over the past 

year, in whatever form. In particular, I 

would like to acknowledge the work of the 

Chairs of all the committees: Cllr Rob Bird 

(Environment and Communities), Cllr Iain 

Dobie (Health and Care), Cllr Tim Harman 

(Children and Families), Cllr Joe Harris 

(Gloucestershire Economic Growth), Cllr 

Nigel Robbins (Audit and Governance), 

and Cllr Roger Wilson (Police and Crime 

Panel). I would also like to thank the 

officers throughout the County Council and 

our partners for the support they provide to 

members. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



4 
 

Jane Burns 

Director: Strategy and Challenge 

Corporate Lead for Scrutiny 

 

Scrutiny in Gloucestershire is well 

developed and continues to evolve. We 

are fortunate to have close working with 

district colleagues and other partners. 

Joint scrutiny bodies in the form of the 

Joint Economic Growth Scrutiny 

Committee, Health and Care Scrutiny 

Committee and Police and Crime Panel 

demonstrate the way in which common 

goals can be achieved through partnership 

working. 

This report details some of the scrutiny 

work that has been undertaken this year by 

all the committees and working groups. 

Members are interested in a wide range of 

subjects including topical issues. Scrutiny 

makes a real difference, as can be seen 

from the pages which follow and the 

detailed reports and recommendations 

they produce. It is pleasing to know that 

Gloucestershire Scrutiny is at the very 

forefront of best practice nationally. 

Scrutiny members still strive for 

improvement and are prepared to learn 

from the work going on elsewhere, and 

adapt to changes locally to ensure we are 

still responding to the areas of most 

concern to the public.  One of our core 

principles is that scrutiny gets involved 

where it can best make a difference.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As we move into the 2017 Elections we will 

want to make sure the scrutiny structure 

we have in place and the culture of 

scrutiny throughout the organisation 

remains fit for purpose. This will be a good 

foundation from which to build whatever 

the future holds for Gloucestershire.   

On behalf of the officer team I would like to 

thank scrutiny members for their continued 

interest and dedication to scrutiny.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



5 
 

 

 
Scrutiny Structure 

+including Fire Scrutiny  

P
age 43



6 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Management 

Committee 

 
The committee is responsible for managing the 
council’s overview and scrutiny process and 
ensuring that it is operating effectively and is 
making a difference for local people. It is also the 
‘home’ committee for support services. 
  
The membership of the committee includes the 
chairs of the other overview and scrutiny 
committees and they report on their committee’s 
activities at each meeting.  The role of the 
committee also includes commissioning task 
groups and determining call-ins of cabinet 
decision. 
 
Chair- Cllr Brian Oosthuysen 
Vice Chair – Cllr Shaun Parsons 
Lead Member – Cllr Iain Dobie 
 
Senior Democratic Services Adviser - Stephen 
Bace  stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk  
Tel: 01452 324204 
 
Jane Burns, Director: Strategy and Challenge 

 

 

Children and Families  
Scrutiny Committee 

The committee is responsible for overview and 
scrutiny of matters relating to children and young 
people.  Its remit covers a wide area including 
schools, children’s centres, adoption and 
fostering, child protection, childcare, early years 
education  and advice to families.  

Chair – Cllr Tim Harman 
 
Lead Members – Cllr Lesley Williams, Cllr Chris 
Coleman, Cllr Richard Leppington 
 
Senior Democratic Services Adviser – Andrea 
Clarke  andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk  
Tel: 01452 324203 
 
Linda Uren, Commissioning Director; Children 
and Families 
 
 
 
 
 

Environment and Communities  

Scrutiny Committee 

The committee is responsible for overview and 
scrutiny of environment related issues. Its remit 
covers a wide area including highways, waste 
management, planning, transport and climate 
change. It also includes scrutiny of the 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, 
emergency management, trading standards, 
registration service and coroners, as well as 
libraries and lifelong learning.  

 
Chair – Cllr Robert Bird 
Lead Members – Cllr John Cordwell and Cllr 
Graham Morgan.  
 
Senior Democratic Services Adviser – Joanne 
Moore  joanne.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk  
Tel: 01452 324196 
 

Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: 

Communities and Infrastructure 

 

Stewart Edgar – Chief Fire Officer 

 
 

Health & Care  

Scrutiny Committee 

 
The committee is responsible for the overview 
and scrutiny of health and adult social care 
services and public health. The committee (on 
behalf of the local authority) is a statutory 
consultee for any significant health service 
change proposals in Gloucestershire. When 
(health) service changes are proposed the 
committee will offer constructive challenge to 
ensure that proposals are properly thought 
through, in particular that they are clinically led, to 
ensure that they are to the benefit, not detriment, 
of the people of Gloucestershire. The committee 
has co-optees from all the district councils.  
 
Chair – Cllr Iain Dobie 
Vice Chairman – Cllr Roger Wilson 
 
Senior Democratic Services Adviser – Andrea 
Clarke andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
Tel: 01452 324203 
 
Margaret Willcox, Commissioning Director: Adults 

Sarah Scott – Director of Public Health 

 

Page 44

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanne.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


7 
 

Gloucestershire  

Police and Crime Panel 

The Police and Crime Panel is a joint body of the 
local authorities served by Gloucestershire 
Police. The Panel is to maintain a regular check 
and balance on the performance of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner. The functions of the 
Panel are to be exercised with a view to 
supporting the effective exercise of the functions 
of the Police and Crime Commissioner. The 
Panel is under a duty to support, as well as 
challenge, the Commissioner.  

The local authorities have appointed thirteen 
councillors to be Panel members. The Panel has 
also co-opted two independent members. 
Gloucestershire County Council is the host local 
authority for the Panel and will provide 
administrative and other support to the Panel and 
its members. 
 
Chair – Cllr Roger Wilson 
Vice Chair – Cllr Barry Kirby 

Senior Democratic Services Adviser – Stephen 
Bace stephen.bace@gloucestershire.go.uk  
Tel: 01452 324204 

Stewart Edgar, Operations Director 
 

Audit and Governance  
Committee 

The committee provides independent assurance 
of the adequacy of the risk management 
framework and the associated control 
environment.  It assesses the Authority’s financial 
and non-financial performance to the extent that it 
affects the Authority’s exposure to risk and 
weakens the control environment.  The 
committee also oversees the financial reporting 
process and ensures that Members maintain high 
standards of probity in their public life by carrying 
out investigations in respect to allegations of 
misconduct by a Member or co-opted Member. 

 
Chair – Cllr Nigel Robbins 

 
Democratic Services Adviser – Andrea Griffiths 
andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk  
Tel: 01452 324206 

 
Jo Walker, Director Strategic Finance 
Jane Burns, Director:  Strategy and Challenge 

Gloucestershire Economic Growth  
Scrutiny Committee 

 
The committee is responsible for reviewing the 
decisions of the Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Joint Committee. It is also responsible for 
reviewing the overall impact and delivery 
outcomes of the Gloucestershire Strategic 
Economic Plan and to make recommendations to 
the Gloucestershire Local Enterprise Community 
Interest Company and Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Joint Committee on issues and 
improvements. All district councils have co-opted 
members on to the committee.  
 
Chair – Cllr Joe Harris 
Vice Chair – Cllr Dawn Melvin 
 
Senior Democratic Services Adviser – Joanne 
Moore  joanne.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk  
Tel: 01452 324196 
 
Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: 
Communities and Infrastructure 

 
Pete Carr, Deputy Chief Executive:  
Gloucestershire Local Enterprise Partnership 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.go.uk
mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:joanne.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


8 
 

Scrutiny, making a difference 

Over the course of 2016, members have carried 
out scrutiny of a wide variety of topics and issues 
through committee meetings, time-limited task 
group work, workshops and briefings. This report 
contains some examples, detailing outcomes 
from the work and demonstrating where scrutiny 
has made a difference.  

 

A429 Fosse Way 
 
A scrutiny task group was established to look at 
safety and congestion issues on the A429 Fosse 
Way, with the 8 Gloucestershire County 
Councillors whose divisions are located in the 
Cotswold District forming the membership of the 
group.  
 
The review aimed to promote road safety and it 
considered the strategic role of the A429. 
Recommendations included adopting an ‘Asset 
Management’ approach for the future 
maintenance and traffic management of the A429 
and A433 highways, as well as lobbying local 
MP’s to engage in the re-classification of the 
A429 as a trunk road. This was in order to secure 
additional funding for improvements to the 
highway and traffic management. In addition, 
concerns were expressed around the lack of 
comprehensive traffic data and the need for the 
County Council to engage with neighbouring 
authorities to pursue joint long term activities and 
aspirations.  
 
The task group proposed a series of 
recommendations, with particular emphasis on 
the need to better understand road safety issues 
on the A429. Cabinet was supportive of the 
recommendations but advised that the normal 
budget setting cycle and processes would need 
to be followed where funding might be required to 
take forward some of the recommendations. It 
was also suggested that the recommendations be 
referred to the Gloucestershire Road Safety 
Partnership to seek advice on the suitability of 
reducing speed limits along the length of the 
A429 corridor, and on the Cirencester ring road.  

 

 

 

Access to the Forest of Dean 

The Environment and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee acknowledged that the Forest of Dean 
District was vulnerable to the geographical 
restrictions imposed by the River Severn and 
noted the impact of new development. It was 
noted that access was limited to two main road 
links and a single rail link, with members 
expressing concern about increased congestion 
and the impact on business and tourism.  

Members set up a task group to look at widening 
the council’s understanding of issues affecting 
access to and from the Forest of Dean District, 
considering the impact of new development on 
access routes and the economic impact of issues 
affecting access routes. 

During the course of the review, members 
received assurances from Highways England 
that, for the foreseeable future, both River Severn 
Road Crossings were well maintained and did not 
require replacement. 

The task group proposed a series of 
recommendations, including; i) promoting 
opportunities to improve direct rail links to Bristol, 
Cardiff and London from improved connectivity 
via the Severn Tunnel; ii) undertaking a feasibility 
study of the cost benefits of investing in a 
dedicated cycle infrastructure for the Forest of 
Dean; and iii) undertaking more work on 
investigating the economic feasibility of creating a 
third river crossing on the River Severn as part of 
a long term objective.  

 

Ambulance Response Times 
 
At the meeting of Council on 2 December 2015, 
members gave their full support to Motion 759 
relating to ambulance response times. The 
motion requested that the Health and Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee explore the 
option of creating a county-wide ambulance 
service with recommendations for council to 
debate. 
 
The committee identified that there were two key 
questions: Should Gloucestershire, again, have 
its own ambulance service? And how to address 
the response time challenges in the rural areas of 
the county? The committee established a working 
group to answer these questions. 
 

Page 46



9 
 

The working group held a one day session with 
the commissioner (Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group) and provider of the 
ambulance service (South Western Ambulance 
Service NHS Foundation Trust (SWASFT). 
Having considered all the information, particularly 
the potential benefits generated by economies of 
scale, the group agreed that the recommendation 
to council was that the establishment of a county-
wide ambulance service was neither viable nor 
desirable and should not be progressed. The 
group did support the addition of the 
Gloucestershire Flag and name to SWASFT 
vehicles based in Gloucestershire.  
 
The Ambulance Response Programme, which is 
currently being piloted by three ambulance 
service Trusts, including SWASFT, has the 
potential to improve response times in the county; 
utilise resources more effectively; and deliver 
improved health outcomes for patients. The group 
offered its full support and asked that an update 
be provided to the March 2017 committee 
meeting. The group also made a variety of 
recommendations looking to highlight other 
issues that impact on the ambulance service’s 
ability to deliver required outcomes.  
 

Audit and Governance 
 
Members have carried out work across a wide 
remit, including approval of the Annual Statement 
of Accounts for 2015/16 and the Annual 
Governance report from Grant Thornton, the 
council’s external auditors.  

Officers were asked to act upon 
recommendations within external audit reports on 
Gloucestershire County Council and the Pensions 
Fund, with the committee ensuring transparency 
and accountability following up on progress.  

Further work has been carried out considering the 
Internal Audit Charter, Freedom of Information 
Annual Report and Risk Management report. The 
committee also received a report detailing the 
Council’s arrangements for handling complaints 
including the Local Government Ombudsman’s 
Annual Review and Annual review of the code of 
conduct for members. 

 
 
 
 

Budget Scrutiny 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 
considered performance and financial information 
throughout the year with specific issues fed back 
to the service specific scrutiny committees 
through the Chairs.  
During the development of the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy the committee holds briefings 
with directors and cabinet members to 
understand any upcoming issues locally and any 
developments nationally that will impact upon the 
budget. Once the budget is out for consultation, 
scrutiny committees are key consultees, feeding 
back into the process ahead of the budget being 
agreed by full Council in February.   

 
Care Leaver Services 

 
Children and Families Scrutiny Committee 
wanted to gain an understanding of how young 
people are supported as they leave the care 
system.  
 
The Care Leaver Service is part of the Over 11s 
Children in Care and Care Leaving Service; 
Prospects provide the leadership to this service 
but the majority of staff are employed by the 
council. There have been changes to the local 
authority responsibilities this year to include 
extending support up to age 25 for all care 
leavers, the requirement to publish the local offer, 
and extending corporate parenting responsibilities 
beyond the local authority to include government 
departments and agencies.  
 
The Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and 
Young People (co-opted committee member) was 
able to give members first-hand experience of 
these services. He also informed members of the 
key messages coming through a recent survey of 
care leavers relating to their relationship with their 
social worker(s).  
 
A significant challenge for the service is being 
able to offer the consistency in support (from the 
social worker) that young people need and want. 
This will be even more of a challenge given the 
extension of support to age 25 which means that 
a young person could be with the service for 15 
years. The Committee will continue to monitor 
progress in this area. 
 

Page 47



10 
 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
Inspection of 2Gether NHS Foundation 

Trust (2G) 
 
The Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee met with the CQC Lead Inspector to 
discuss the Inspection. The committee was also 
joined by the Chair and Chief Executive of 2G. 
The Trust had received an overall rating of Good. 
Two service areas - acute wards for adults of 
working age and psychiatric intensive care units 
(PICU's) and mental health crisis services and 
health based places of safety – were rated as 
Outstanding. 2G is the only mental health trust in 
the country to have achieved outstanding ratings 
in these areas.  
 
The Inspection had identified areas where work 
was needed to bring the service up to the 
required standard. In total there were 15 ‘must do’ 
actions and 58 ‘should do’. The Trust is required 
to submit an Improvement Plan to the CQC on 
these matters and was on schedule to deliver this 
within the required timeline. Some of these 
actions have already been completed. 
 
The committee congratulated the Trust on the 
outcome of the inspection and agreed that the 
ratings indicated that there was a strong 
leadership and a committed and motivated 
workforce at the Trust. 
 
 

Climate Change 

Following a motion at full Council, a task group 
was set up to review the conclusions and 
recommendations of the Fifth Assessment Report 
(AR5).  The task group aimed to understand what 
was meant by mitigation and adaption strategies 
and to reflect on and evaluate what the Council 
had achieved so far in addressing climate 
change. In addition, it would consider the 
Council’s role in developing strategies to address 
climate change to develop a ‘low carbon 
economy’ and to reduce greenhouse emissions.  

The task group recognised the commitment by 
the Council and many other local organisations in 
addressing climate change, but believed more 
could be done, including the Council taking a 
leading role in Gloucestershire to contribute to the 
terms agreed at the Paris Climate Conference in 
December 2015, and in limiting global warming. 
 

One recommendation within the group’s report, 
proposed the inclusion of a statement in the 
foreword of the LTP and in the council’s 
performance indicators, to accentuate the 
urgency of the need to reduce carbon emissions 
in Gloucestershire.  
 

Community Pubs 

In response to a motion to Gloucestershire 
County Council in November 2014, the 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny 
Committee considered an economic analysis of 
the local pub and restaurant sector, including the 
contributions pubs and restaurants make to the 
Gloucestershire economy. A cross party task 
group was established in July 2015. 
 
Following discussions with non-profit charity 
organisation, ‘Pub is the Hub’, representatives 
from the organisation met with members to 
discuss how they could support the review, 
including offering to undertake strategic mapping 
of Gloucestershire to identify priority areas. The 
organisation has worked for several other local 
authorities in the past 15 years, attempting to 
support and encourage local pubs to diversify and 
better serve local communities. The organisation 
also provides workshops and assistance to local 
communities to apply for grants.  
 
Having completed the review, the task group is 
currently working with the ‘Pub is the Hub’ 
organisation to provide support via District and 
Parish councils in helping local community groups 
consider ways of developing local pubs as assets 
of community value. A workshop event for District 
and Parish Councils will be held at Shire Hall in 
March 2017. 
 

Community Safety in Gloucestershire 
 
The Police and Crime Panel received a report 
which provided a review of Gloucestershire’s 
‘Community Safety Landscape’ in order to assess 
current strengths and areas for improvement. The 
review had been a part of Gloucestershire’s bid to 
become a Combined Authority.  
 
Three options were outlined within the paper:  
The first retained Community Safety Partnerships 
(CSPs) in each district with the Chairs meeting 
every 2 months; the second option included the 
development of the Gloucestershire Community 
Safety Partnership working in close partnership 

Page 48



11 
 

with six CSPs; the third option involved the 
merger of the six current CSPs into one 
overarching Gloucestershire Community Safety 
Partnership with six District Multi-Agency Forums 
to implement delivery on the ground. 
 
Some members of the Panel spoke positively 
about the review and stated their full support for 
option three. Other members expressed their 
concerns regarding where safeguarding sat within 
the structures and whether a case had really 
been made for one overarching partnership. The 
comments of the Panel were submitted as part of 
the consultation.  
 

Confirmatory Hearings (Office of PCC) 
 
On 9 September, the Police and Crime Panel 
held confirmatory hearings for the positions of 
Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner and 
Chief Finance Officer. Both appointments were 
supported but concerns were expressed 
regarding the appointment process carried out by 
Police and Crime Commissioner. 
 

Consultation  
 
Following a motion at full Council, a task group 
was set up to help shape the County Council’s 
consultation policies and practices and feed into 
the review of the consultation protocol. The work 
would look to identify areas of good practice and 
provide constructive challenge to existing 
processes. In particular, members were keen to 
help increase the County Council response rate 
to consultations. 
 
Following a discussion with a representative from 
the Consultation Institute, members considered 
some case studies and reviewed the draft 
protocol making recommendations on increased 
member involvement at an earlier stage in 
consultations.  
 
 

Draft Local Transport Plan (LTP) 
Consultation Response 

 
A statutory requirement of the Local Transport 
Act 2008 requires local authorities to produce a 
Local Transport Plan, outlining each authority’s 
long-term transport strategy. In compliance with 
this legislation, Gloucestershire County Council, 
as local transport authority, is required to review 
and update the Local Transport Plan for 

Gloucestershire. The review process for the 
current LTP, (adopted in 2011), had reached its 
conclusion with the final report presented to Full 
Council in June 2016.   
 
In March 2016, the Environment and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee received an 
analysis of the representations received during 
the final stages of the consultation processes. In 
noting the feedback provided at the meeting, the 
Draft LTP Response Report was amended to 
include several minor changes.   
 
 

Draft Minerals Local Plan 
 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, 
Planning and Infrastructure presented the Draft 
Local Plan Document to Environment and 
Communities Scrutiny to seek member’s views 
before consideration by Cabinet at its meeting on 
Wednesday 20 July 2016.  
 
As the local Mineral Planning Authority, the 
County Council has a statutory responsibility for 
preparing the local development plan for 
minerals, with the new plan seeking to provide 
the policy framework for making decisions on 
planning applications for mineral development 
from 2018 to 2032, in line with government policy 
included in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF).  
 
The proposed plan included 10 allocations for 
possible aggregate working, (sand & gravel or 
limestone), and a suite of policies for use in 
determining future mineral-related planning 
applications.  
 
Following a full and in-depth discussion, several 
members expressed particular concern about the 
council’s proposed policy on oil and gas 
exploration, (Policy MW06). 
 
With the majority of the committee, (5 members), 
voting in support, and 4 members voting against 
the proposal to amend Policy MW06, it was 
agreed to submit a statement to Cabinet 
opposing the exploration and production of oil 
and gas through the deployment unconventional 
techniques. Members were advised that, at that 
time, there were no formal proposals for hydraulic 
fracturing.   
 

Page 49



12 
 

Cllr Moor maintained that the draft policy 
represented a prudent and balanced approach to 
updating the Minerals Local Plan. He explained 
that, to go against government guidance could 
render the plan ‘unsound’ by the Independent 
Inspector. In such circumstances, the Minerals 
Local Plan could not be adopted. Furthermore, 
the plan would have no weight in respect of 
matters deemed unsound, placing significant risk 
to the council when considering applications for 
hydraulic fracturing. 

At the Cabinet meeting on 20 July 2016, Cllr 
Moor announced he would not be prepared to 
embark on a course of action that might result in 
significant abortive costs to the council. Whilst he 
respected the committee’s views, if members 
wished to oppose proposed policy MW06, they 
should do so by making individual cases to the 
Planning Inspector.   

Cabinet adopted the draft minerals plan, for 
consultation, in advance of proceeding to the next 
stage of the adoption process. Cllr Moor assured 
members that there would be an opportunity for 
local communities to comment on the proposals. 

 

European Union Referendum (Brexit) 

In September 2015, Members agreed at a 
meeting of Full Council to set up a task group to 
establish and identify the implications on 
Gloucestershire of the referendum result to leave 
the EU (so called Brexit). 

Members welcomed the report which covered a 
wide range of potential implications and notes 
that it was too early to know what will happen. 
Any significant development will be reported back 
in due course. 

 

Flood Issues 
 

At the Environment and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee meeting on 13 July 2016, members 
requested an update on the ongoing work of the 
Cotswold Flood Action Group. With invitations to 
Thames Water, the Environment Agency and 
Cotswold District Council, it was agreed that the 
update would be considered alongside several 
other flood related items, as part of a themed 
‘Gloucestershire Flood Review’ meeting.  
 

At the scrutiny committee meeting on 21 
September 2016, members considered feedback 
from the GCC Flood Team, Cllr Shaun Parsons, 
Thames Water and the Environment Agency. The 
committee also received statements presented in 
the absence of project lead members, Cllrs Paul 
Hodgkinson and Ray Theodoulou, and from 
Cabinet Member: Highways and Flood, Cllr 
Vernon Smith.  
 
The consensus of opinion, (incorporating 
statements from those representatives unable to 
attend the meeting in person), was that the work 
of the Flood Action Group had been hugely 
successful. The majority viewpoint expressed 
particular satisfaction with the improved dialogue 
between key stakeholders and agencies, and the 
engagement of stakeholders with town and parish 
councils, and with local residents. The discussion 
also reflected on the progress that had been 
made in addressing key issues since 2014.  
 
It was agreed that a statement be sent from the 
Committee to Cotswold District Council, 
proposing that the GCC Flood Team, GCC 
‘Cotswold’ County Councillors, GCC Cabinet 
Member: Highways and Flood and key 
stakeholders continue to work in partnership with 
Cotswold District Council to coordinate periodical 
meetings to consider ongoing and future work 
commitments.  
 

 

Fracking 

At the Gloucestershire County Council meeting 
on 23 October 2015, councillors referred motion 
756, detailing concerns about the impact of 
fracking, (hydraulic fracturing for shale gas), on 
climate change and the Forest of Dean District, to 
the Environment and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee to consider. At the committee’s 
request, a member briefing was held at Shire 
Hall, prior to consideration of the motion at the 
planned committee meeting later that day. The 
aim of the briefing was to assist members in their 
understanding of issues relating to hydraulic 
fracturing and other energy extraction options, 
(unconventional hydrocarbons), before debating 
the council motion.  
 
The committee considered the council motion in 
detail, including changes in circumstance since 
the original motion, and agreed to make a 
recommendation to Full Council at its meeting on 

Page 50



13 
 

17 February 2016, recommending that 
Gloucestershire County Council send a letter to 
the Secretary of State requesting that the process 
for exploring hydraulic fracturing in 
Gloucestershire be halted.  
 
Not all members of the committee supported the 
recommendation, stating that they would prefer to 
consider an alternative course of action.  
 
 
 

Highways Satisfaction Levels 
 
At the Environment Scrutiny Committee meeting 
on 13 July 2016, members considered Motion 
772, outlining concerns about Highway Customer 
Satisfaction Levels.  
 
From the discussion, it was agreed officers would 
conduct a detailed analysis of satisfaction levels 
with the county’s highways with a report to 
Council in December 2016. 
 
The results of the review were considered at the 
Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee 
on Monday 14 November 2016 and at the Full 
Council meeting on 7 December 2016.  
 
 
 

Improving Highway Tree Maintenance 
 

At the Full Council meeting on 23 March 2016, 
members considered ‘Motion 766 - Improving 
Highway Tree Maintenance’. The Environment 
and Communities Scrutiny Committee received a 
report from the Highways Advisory Group 
outlining a series of recommendations to be 
presented to the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Flood proposing measures for improving the 
County Council's tree maintenance programme.  
 
The recommendations included improving 
information about tree maintenance to help 
manage public expectation; improving 
communication with members; considering 
increasing budget allocations for tree 
maintenance and ensuring specific training is in 
place 
 
The Cabinet Member’s response was considered 
at the committee meeting on 22 November 2016 
and at the Full Council meeting on 7 December 
2016.   

 

Mobile Phone Coverage  
 
As part of its work, the Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Scrutiny Committee maintains a watching 
brief on the status and provision of mobile phone 
coverage in Gloucestershire. At a committee 
meeting in December 2015, members proposed 
that the committee invite leading Mobile Network 
Operators to give an update on current issues at 
a future meeting.  
 
Alex Jakeman, from national mobile phone 
company, EE, gave an in-depth power-point 
presentation on the work of the organisation and 
the efforts taken by EE to improve mobile phone 
coverage in Gloucestershire.  
 
Members welcomed the positive outcome of the 
presentation, including the offer from EE to 
engage with local communities and work with 
Gloucestershire councils to resolve specific 
issues.  
 
The committee agreed to monitor the progress of 
EE and mobile phone providers working in 
Gloucestershire, and to consider what support 
might be available from local planning authorities 
and LEP’s.    
 

NHS111 
 
The Health and Care Scrutiny Committee met 
with two representatives from CareUK (provider 
of NHS111 in Gloucestershire, Swindon, 
Wiltshire, South Gloucestershire, BaNES, Bristol 
and North Somerset) to identify whether there 
had been an improvement in performance against 
targets. There had been concern regarding 
NHS111 performance against targets since the 
implementation of the service in February 2013. 
CareUK has previously attended the committee to 
respond to questions on this matter and it was 
important to identify what progress had been 
made. 
 
CareUK gave a detailed presentation which 
demonstrated the actions that have been taken to 
address performance issues. The data was 
showing that there had been some improvement 
and that CareUK was performing above the 
England average against some targets.  
 
Workforce factors are a significant issue for 
CareUK as with other Health providers. CareUK 

Page 51



14 
 

is undertaking a large amount of activity to 
improve the recruitment and retention of Clinical 
Advisers, and will also be working with NHS 
England (NHSE) on the NHS111 Workforce 
Project.  
 
Whilst recognising that CareUK are working hard 
to improve performance, the committee remains 
concerned and will continue to monitor this 
through the regular performance reports.  
 
 

Non-Emergency Patient Transport Service 
(NEPTS) 

 
The committee aims to review performance of 
this contract on an annual basis with the provider 
of the service (Arriva Transport Solutions Limited 
(ATSL)), and the Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (GCCG) Commissioning 
Implementation Manager. (ATSL was awarded 
contracts by Bath and North East Somerset 
(BaNES), Gloucestershire, Swindon and Wiltshire 
(BGSW) Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 
for non-emergency patient transport in summer 
2013, the service went live on 1 December 2013.) 
 
The committee was disappointed to note that, 
despite the assurances given last year that there 
was a robust action plan in place to address 
concerns, ATSL are still struggling to meet some 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) relating to on-
time inbound drop-off/on-time outbound pick-up, 
and telephone answering. In late 2015 BGSW 
served contract performance notices on ATSL 
relating to these KPIs and a further notice has 
been served this year.  
 
A particular issue is that there is no national 
guidance for these services including 
standardisation on KPIs. The committee has 
written to the Secretary of State for Health on this 
matter. 
 
It is important to note that the BGSW CCGs are 
unusual in that they waive normal Department of 
Health eligibility criteria for dialysis patients and 
fund transport for those patients who wish to use 
it. Dialysis transport represents 41% of total 
activity. The committee felt that this is an area 
that would benefit from further modelling. 
 
Given members’ concerns it was agreed to 
receive an update in six months.  Members will 

also be visiting an ATSL control centre to observe 
how they manage and despatch calls. 
 

Out of Hours Service 12 Month Review 
 
The Health and Care Scrutiny Committee was 
joined by the SWASFT Executive Medical 
Director, Head of Operations (Urgent Care) and 
Operations Manager (Urgent Care) for the review. 
Most of the challenges that were there at the six 
month review remained; and the service 
continues to struggle to meet both local and 
national targets. SWASFT acknowledged the 
committee’s concerns and informed members 
that it was working hard to address this position. 
 
Workforce issues again impacted on the delivery 
of the service; and have necessitated the closure 
of the Primary Care Centres (PCCs), particularly 
those in the rural areas, on many occasions.  
 
It was interesting to note that there had been a 
significant increase in the number of walk-ins to 
the service and this is having an impact as these 
had to be managed alongside those that had 
come through the NHS111 route.  
 
Subsequent to this debate the committee was 
informed by the Gloucestershire Commissioning 
Group (GCCG) that SWASFT had withdrawn 
from this contract and would cease delivery of 
this service on 31 March 2017.The GCCG will 
inform the committee of the new provider of this 
service in due course.  

 
Police Precept 

 
Schedule 5 of the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011 sets out the process for 
issuing a precept, including the Police and Crime 
Panel’s role in reviewing the proposed precept 
and their power to veto the precept.The Panel is 
required to review the proposed precept and 
make a report which may include 
recommendations. 

 
The Commissioner proposed an increase of 
1.24% in the police related Band D Council Tax 
or £2.58 for the year. The Panel supported the 
precept but recommended that the Commissioner 
provide additional clarity on the four year Medium 
Term Financial Strategy period, including how the 
projected savings requirements for the three 

Page 52



15 
 

years 2017/18 to 2019/20 would be met including 
clarification on the ongoing use of reserves 
 
 

Recruitment and Retention of Children’s 
Social workers 

 
A task group was requested to look to diagnose 
some of the challenges in retaining children’s 
social workers, to test the robustness of the 
current recruitment and retention strategy and to 
make recommendations on actions that should be 
taken to improve. Members met with senior 
officers in Children and Families, Safeguarding, 
as well as ICT and Property. In addition, 
Members met with representatives from Essex 
County Council to understand the changes they 
are making. Most importantly they met with social 
workers on the ground. 
 
The report from the group made 
recommendations to help create a working 
environment to help the Council retain our social 
workers and make Gloucestershire County 
Council a desirable place to work. It also made 
recommendations to help us recruit social 
workers. Directly in response to the task group’s 
recommendations, a further £2m additional 
investment was made into the budget for 2016/17 
with further investment proposed for 2017/18. 
The funding would support 50 additional social 
workers and associated management and 
support.  

 
Registration Service 

 
Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, 
Planning and Infrastructure, presented a positive 
update on the Council’s Registration Service to 
Environment and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee. In noting the report, and the 
performance improvement plan introduced to 
address some of the recent challenges the 
service had experienced, the committee agreed 
to support further management projects and 
initiatives associated with the plan.  
 
 
  

Reshaping Services for Families and 
Young People 

 
The Children and Families Scrutiny Committee 
received a detailed presentation, from the Lead 
Commissioner for Early Years, on this 

consultation outlining the engagement process, 
the proposals, and the headlines from feedback 
received so far.  
 
The Ambassadors for Vulnerable Children and 
Young People had been involved in the 
stakeholder events to ensure that the voice of the 
child was heard and listened to in this 
consultation.  
 
There have been misunderstandings about this 
consultation, particularly with regard to the 
perception that children’s centres would close; it 
was helpful to get clarity on this matter and hear 
from the Cabinet Member that this was not the 
intention. Concerns with regard as to the risks 
attached to this policy direction were discussed, 
and it was acknowledged that these were fully 
explored in the Consultation Report received at 
Cabinet on 8 June 2016.   
 
In the main committee members agreed that this 
was a positive direction of travel, although it is 
important to note that this was not the view of the 
whole committee. The committee added this 
matter to its work plan in order to follow up on 
progress. 
 

Review of Minor Illness and Injury Units 
(MIIUs) in Gloucestershire 

 
The Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection 
of Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust had 
identified that the staff structure in place in the 
(Stroud and Cirencester) MIIUs overnight was 
unsafe, for staff and patients, and required the 
Trust to address this issue as a priority. This 
would require the Trust to have two Advanced 
Nurse Practitoners (ANP) on the overnight rota as 
opposed to the Health Care Assistant and ANP 
that was then current practice. A review was 
therefore carried out, followed by an engagement 
exercise with the public which identified the 
possible options to be taken forward. These 
options did not include retaining the status quo. 
 
The Trust presented data to demonstrate that the 
overnight footfall at both Stroud and Cirencester 
Hospitals was, in their view, not sufficient to make 
an overnight service viable. The Trust also 
emphasised the national workforce challenges 
relating to nurses. The outcome of the 
engagement exercise indicated that the preferred 
option was to change the opening hours of these 
two MIIUs to 8am to 11pm. The Trust was clear 

Page 53



16 
 

that this was not a cost saving exercise and that 
this proposal would incur additional costs.  
 
The committee was aware of the public concern 
in these two districts with regard to these 
proposals; and also heard from Stroud 
representatives on the committee. This proposal 
had not been identified by the Trust as a 
substantial variation. The committee’s role was 
therefore limited to that of critical friend.  
 
Going forward the committee will wish to 
understand the impact of this change; and 
receive the outcome of the review of urgent care 
in the county which will identify the location of the 
urgent care centres.  

 
 

Safeguarding 
 
The Children and Families Scrutiny Committee 
works to a safeguarding framework to ensure that 
over the period of the Council members are 
informed of, and can scrutinise, safeguarding 
matters. 
 
This year the committee received the 
Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Board 
(GSCB) Annual report, presented by the 
Independent Chair and looked at how services 
are planned and commissioned,, how 
training/learning is structured and how its impact 
is measured. The committee aims to ensure that 
it meets with frontline staff as well as senior 
officers to gain a broader understanding of 
practice. The co-option of the Ambassadors for 
Vulnerable Children and Young People has also 
been very beneficial in supporting members 
understanding of these issues from the 
child/young person’s perspective. 
 
The Independent Chair of the GSCB was very 
clear about the pressures on the system across 
all partners. How to best support older young 
people was a significant issue including with 
regard to child sexual exploitation, and 
understanding domestic abuse issues between 
teenagers. 
 
The Independent Chair was also clear that the 
quality of safeguarding work is currently not of a 
consistently high enough standard.  
 
The committee will continue to closely monitor 
this area of work. 

Schools: The Gloucestershire Picture 
 
The picture of educational provision in 
Gloucestershire is a mix of academies, 
maintained schools, free schools and alternative 
provision. The Children and Families Scrutiny 
Committee wanted to get a clearer understanding 
of the overall picture; and also gain an 
understanding of what impact the Education 
Excellence Everywhere white paper could have 
on the education landscape of the county. 
Performance in Gloucestershire schools is good 
and something that the county should be proud of 
– 94.1% of primary aged school children and 
90.3% of secondary aged young people attend 
good or outstanding schools. However there are 
schools at both primary and secondary level that 
are in special measures; and there is particular 
concern with regard to the low performance at 
secondary level in the Forest of Dean (this is also 
where most of the schools in special measures 
are located). 
 
The committee also received a detailed 
presentation on the future funding of schools and 
high needs. The government is also currently 
consulting on early years funding. It is important 
to note that whilst the new funding formula will be 
good for most schools, due to the application of, 
in particular, the sparsity factor there will be some 
schools that lose out. Officers feel that overall 
Gloucestershire schools will gain but that not all 
schools will see an increase. It is important to 
note that the local authority (LA) role in school 
funding ends from 2019/20. 
 
A particular concern for members is the issue of 
accountability. The picture is complex and not 
especially transparent. The committee was 
informed that the Education Select Committee is 
raising concerns relating to transparency. This is 
a complex area and the committee discussed 
inviting the Regional Schools Commissioner to a 
future meeting to discuss these issues. 
 
The committee will revisit this matter at a future 
meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



17 
 

SEND – Outcome of the Joint Ofsted/CQC 
Local Area Inspection 

 
The Children and Families Scrutiny Committee 
welcomed the Head of Educational Needs and 
Disability, and the Lead Commissioner Children’s 
Health and Maternity, to the meeting to discuss 
this matter.  
 
The committee was reminded that this SEND 
process was introduced by government in 2014 
and the committee has received an annual 
update each year to check on progress. In 2015 
committee members received positive feedback 
on how officers were implementing this process 
directly from a parent representative.  
 
The committee was in receipt of the Inspection 
Letter which detailed the main findings, and 
identified the strengths of the system in 
Gloucestershire, and those areas where further 
development is required. The strengths identified 
by the inspectors included that there is a clear 
vision, effective working with parents and carers, 
the supported internship programme, the local 
offer, and the access to services. Areas that need 
development include the need to ensure the 
involvement of all parents and carers in the 
process, that there is help available to access 
support, to further the provision for older young 
people (19 to 25) and to continue to drive up 
academic performance. 
 
There was concern that there were long waiting 
times (up to one year) for families to receive 
support from the children’s NHS community 
learning disability team. Officers accepted that 
this was unacceptable, and informed the 
committee that just prior to the inspection a 
review had been carried out which had identified 
a gap in capacity. An action plan is in place to 
address this issue; this was being led by the Joint 
Commissioner Learning Disabilities as part of the 
Building Better Lives work.  
 
This is a complex area and the committee would 
continue to monitor progress through its quarterly 
performance reports and through its annual 
update. 
 
 

Tri-Force collaboration 
 
Police and Crime Panel Members received a 
presentation on developments regarding 

Gloucestershire Constabulary collaboration for 
the delivery of armed, dogs, and roads policing 
services with Avon and Somerset and Wiltshire 
Forces. Members were informed of the 
challenges and the plans for the future. The 
benefit of this collaboration was to ensure that 
specialist niche capability which was expensive 
could be spread across forces.  

The Chairs of the Police and Crime Panels from 
the three areas have set up a group in which to 
discuss common themes for questioning and to 
explore opportunities for joint scrutiny of 
collaboration arrangements. 

 

Waste Update 
 
The Joint Waste Team provided the Environment 
and Communities Scrutiny Committee with a 
short update on current issues and performance 
with regards to waste. Members were informed 
that, whilst performance had been successful in 
some areas, overall performance had been static, 
with the results of residual waste collections, 
slightly lower than the previous year.  
 
Several members expressed concern about the 
effectiveness of the joint working arrangement of 
the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee, and 
questioned whether the committee could function 
effectively without a unified scheme, involving 
participation from all districts. Noting member’s 
frustrations, it was generally agreed that certain 
obstacles had prevented the joint committee from 
operating in a fully coordinated working 
arrangement since the committee had first 
established in 2013. In spite of this, it was felt 
some progress had been made in recent years. 
The unrelenting challenge, however, was to meet 
the demands of an ever-increasing population, 
which continued to impact on performance.  
 
Following a full and in-depth discussion on the 
role of the Joint Waste Committee, it was 
suggested that the committee communicate its 
concerns to the Joint Waste Committee, and 
invite the Chairman of the Committee to respond 
to member questions on the views, ambitions and 
long term objectives of the Gloucestershire Joint 
Waste Committee.  

The Head of Service and the Chairman of the 
Joint Waste Committee have confirmed their 
attendance at the committee meeting in January 

Page 55



18 
 

2017. The item is to take into account the ‘waste’ 
motion considered at the full council meeting on 
14 September 2016. 

 

What do we do to help young people into 
employment, particularly the most 

vulnerable 
 
A key priority for the council is to help all young 
people, particularly those who are more 
vulnerable, to make a successful transition to 
adult life including gaining employment.  
The council does perform well against targets 
relating to young people not in education, 
employment, or training (NEET) but the Children 
and Families Scrutiny Committee wanted to get a 
clear understanding of what initiatives are in 
place to support our vulnerable young people.  
 
The committee met with the Employment 
Commissioner, the Head of Extended Learning, 
the Youth Support Team (Prospects) lead for the 
Work it Out Project, and the Apprentice based in 
the Participation Team.  It was invaluable to hear 
first-hand the experiences of the Apprentice, in 
particular the manner in which she was supported 
by officers and foster carers.  
 
It was good to see that many employers now 
recognise that people with a learning disability 
can be a valuable addition to their workforce; and 
that these young people’s aspirations are being 
encouraged and supported.  
 
Members were impressed with the commitment 
and dedication of the officers supporting these 
young people who recognising that all young 
people were individuals with individual responses 
to their care situation or learning disability. 
 
The committee will review this matter in the new 
council. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



19 
 

Looking ahead: What’s next for 

Scrutiny in Gloucestershire? 

Simon Harper 

Head of Democratic Services 

Looking forward, there are a number of scrutiny 
reviews that have been established or are being 
scoped for 2017.  Scrutiny looks well prepared for 
the challenges beyond the County Election in 
May 2017. 

 

Blue light Collaboration 
 
The Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel 
have agreed to set up a task group looking to 
understand the implications of potential legislative 
changes regarding the role of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner, in particular around blue 
light services collaboration from the Police and 
Crime Bill. 
 
The review will outline the potential implications 
on Gloucestershire, understand what 
collaboration is already underway and identify 
opportunities for greater collaboration between 
blue light services.  

 
 

Council Motion 780 Accident & 
Emergency Waiting Times 

 
In response to this motion the Health and Care 
Scrutiny Committee is holding an extraordinary 
meeting on 15 December 2016. 
 
This debate will include information on the 
national picture relating to urgent and emergency 
services models of care, and what this means for 
Gloucestershire. 
 
The committee will submit a report to council in 
the New Year. 
 
  

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust Financial Position 

 
On 20 September 2016 the Trust announced a 
material change to its financial position. This 
followed a high level independent review of its 
financial position and financial reporting 

arrangements which was commissioned by the 
Trust’s Board following concerns raised at a 
number of levels within the Trust about its 
financial position and the deterioration of its cash 
reserves (the money it has available to spend).   
The review concluded that the Trust’s financial 
position isn’t as strong as previously understood 
and is significantly worse than the balanced 
position previously reported. 
 
The Trust has subsequently been placed in 
financial special measures by NHS Improvement 
(NHSI). The Board has also commissioned an 
independent Financial Governance Review. 
 
The Health and Care Scrutiny Committee is 
holding an extraordinary meeting on 20 January 
2017 to receive the outcomes of the current 
investigation; and how the Trust Board intends to 
respond to the findings. 
 
 

Promotion of Gloucestershire 
 
Over the course of the past two years, the 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny 
Committee has focussed attention on the need to 
elevate the profile of Gloucestershire as a 
desirable county to work and live.  
 
To enable the committee to broaden its 
understanding of the impact tourism has on 
promoting Gloucestershire as a reputable 
residential and business location, the committee 
received presentations from Maureen McAllister, 
(Executive Director of Wye Valley and Forest of 
Dean Destination Management Organisation), 
and Robin Tjolle, (Chief Executive of Cotswold 
Tourism Partnership Destination Management 
Organisation), outlining the activities of the two 
organisations.  
 
At the ensuing committee meeting on 7 
September 2016, a member requested a scrutiny 
task group be established to consider the impact 
of tourism in terms of creating opportunities for 
residents and new and existing businesses 
across the county, and to investigate how tourism 
might benefit from a co-ordinated Gloucestershire 
approach. 
 
The majority of members supported the proposal, 
and proposed that the review encompass a wide 
range of factors, (including tourism), which might 

Page 57



20 
 

attract people and businesses to live and work in 
Gloucestershire.   
 
Following discussion at the  Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee meeting on 30 September 
2016, it was requested that a meeting be held 
with David Owen, Chief Executive of the 
Gloucestershire LEP, to consider whether the 
proposal for a review would duplicate or add 
value to the economic development of 
Gloucestershire. The suggestion was that, should 
the review be seen as viable, then it would 
commence in the next council. (Post May 2017).   
 

School performance in the Forest of Dean 
 
A task group has been set up to scrutinise the 
educational attainment in Secondary Schools 
located in the Forest of Dean. The group aims to 
understand the make up of the schools in the 
area and understand the factors that influence 
educational performance in the Forest of Dean. In 
particular the group will be looking to identify what 
activity had enabled other schools in the area to 
make progress. 
 
A briefing will be produced outlining the initial 
findings and to identify key lines of enquiry for a 
select committee style meeting of the Children 
and Families Scrutiny Committee and 
stakeholders in the new council. 
 
 

Student Mental Health Review 
 
The ambitions for the review include gaining an 
understanding of the mental health issues 
experienced by students (aged 16-19) and 
identify the statutory duties placed on schools, 
the council and other partners. 
 
Early findings are that the Future in Mind 
Transformation Plan, with its vision that the 
children and young people of Gloucestershire 
thrive and grow up to be confident and resilient, 
reflects the importance of early support and 
intervention, to support development of emotional 
resilience early in the life span. For example, a 
Mental Health pilot programme with Stroud 
Schools (primary and secondary) is in place and 
will be evaluated at the end of December 2016 to 
ascertain whether it has delivered on outcomes, 
and is making a positive difference to young 
people’s health and wellbeing.  
 

The task group will submit its report to Council in 
early 2017. 
 
 
 

Page 58



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY UPDATE

7 December 2016

1 Introduction  
This report summarises the activities of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee during 
July.  Individual reports from the scrutiny chairs are referenced as follows:  

Section 2 Cllr Brian Oosthuysen, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee

Section 3 Cllr Tim Harman, Chair of the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

Section 4 Cllr Iain Dobie, Chair of the Health and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

Section 5 Cllr Robert Bird, Chair of the Environment and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Section 6 Cllr Joe Harris, Chair of Economic Growth Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Section 7 Cllr Roger Wilson, Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel

2 Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee (25 November 2016)  – Cllr Brian 
Oosthuysen 

2.1 Legal Services

The Head of Legal Services provided members with an overview of the service area 
along with some examples of cases the team had been involved in and some of their 
achievements.

Members were provided with details of the increased demand in relation to child 
protection cases and the significant costs associated with this.

The committee viewed CIPFA benchmarking data for the service which presented 
the service positively in comparison with statistical neighbours. 

The future challenges were outlined as being a need to achieve savings while also 
balancing the increase in advise requirement across the Council. The service had to 
be aligned with the advice needs of the Council.  

Page 59

Agenda Item 12



2.2 Performance Reporting

Members considered the strategic performance management report for 2nd quarter 
2016/17 as well as performance reports for Strategy and Challenge and Core 
Council. Members discussed the pressure around children in care and stability of 
placements, with the Deputy Head of Safeguarding and Care in attendance to 
answer questions.

The committee also requested a  briefing in relation to the increase in the number of 
people killed or serious injured on our roads. 

2.3 Finance Update

The committee received the current forecast position for 2016/17 where a balanced 
position was being reported. Members understood that key pressures were within the 
Adults and Children’s Social Care Budgets. 

2.4 Consultation Scrutiny Task Group

Cllr Barry Kirby presented the final report of the task group which had been 
established following a motion at Full Council. The group had aimed to look at the 
County Council’s current consultation policies and practices and help shape the 
review of the consultation protocols.

The first meeting of the group had been with a representative from the Consultation 
Institute. Members understood that Gloucestershire was one of the first councils who 
were scrutinising what they wanted to achieve from consultation and commended 
members for this approach.

The group had been reassured by officers on the processes in place and that there 
had already been plans to review the protocol. Members had worked with officers to 
provide a positive impact and add value.

The recommendations were listed out within the report and included a focus on the 
importance of social media to help engage more people in the consultation. In 
addition the group had recommended that members be involved at an earlier stage 
so that they can help highlight consultation within their communities. It was important 
that there was cross party ownership of the protocol.

Page 60



3 Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee (18 November 2016) – 
Cllr Tim Harman

3.1 Children in Care – what are the factors driving the increase in numbers?

The committee received a detailed presentation from the Operations Director 
Children’s Safeguarding and Care and engaged in a detailed discussion with the 
Director and the Director of Children’s Service’s on this matter. The presentation 
slides are available on the council website and members will find this information 
helpful.

The numbers of children coming into care has been rising over the last ten years. Of 
particular interest is that there was a significant increase in July this year. Numbers 
are now holding steady but it is impossible to say whether this position will be 
maintained; this is a demand led service. In order to try to understand the spike in 
July the Operations Director personally  reviewed each case, but found that in every 
case bar one the child did need to be placed in care; and in that case it was 
borderline, and was understandable that the decision had been taken to place the 
child in care. Ordinarily the numbers coming in to care are to a degree balanced by 
those leaving care, but in July only 2 children left care. It is important to note that we 
are not out of kilter with our statistical neighbours, and remain below the England 
average. 

The continued increase in demand has had a knock on effect with there now being a 
delay in cases reaching court; this also has much to do with the complexity of these 
cases. The committee was informed that the courts are also under pressure and 
were referring to there being a crisis.

A particular challenge in Gloucestershire is provision for teenagers. The committee 
was also informed that there is no secure accommodation in Gloucestershire so 
when this is required children and young people will be sent out of county. It was 
noted that the use of secure accommodation has reduced radically; but with a greater 
understanding of the risks associated with Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) there are 
some young people who have been placed in secure accommodation for their own 
safety. 

The presentation included the profile of placements in Gloucestershire in comparison 
with other authorities. This clearly showed that we use foster placements much more 
than other local authorities. 

In the longer term the focus would continue to be on early help and prevention, 
children in need planning and early intervention. Family Group Conferences will also 
be utilised – this is where social workers work with the (wider) family at the start of 
the process to identify what they can do to support each other as opposed to the 

Page 61



social worker telling them what to do, to create safety around the child/children.  A 
business case was also being developed to establish an Intensive Support Hub. This 
would be a joint initiative with the NHS, and based on the North Yorkshire model ‘No 
Wrong Door’. This would include short term residential placements, and access to 
intensive flexible support. 

Clearly this is a significant area of risk for the council, and both Directors were clear 
that the system is stretched. There is also pressure on the budget, in particular the 
external agency placement budget; this budget area has been overspent for some 
years. It was interesting to note that information coming through from Ofsted is that 
they are not worried about the rise in numbers and see that this reflects good 
practice by local authorities. 

3.2 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC)

The committee was joined by the Director of Youth Support and a Head of Service 
(Youth Support) to engage with members on this matter. The presentation slides are 
available on the council’s website for information.

There are currently 24 UASC in the care of Gloucestershire. 16 are at school in full 
time education and 8 are attending a local charity GARAS (Gloucestershire Action for 
Asylum Seekers and Refugees). 23 are living in foster care and one is in Supported 
Living arrangements. There are also 28 former UASC care leavers in 
Gloucestershire. 11 are at college, 8 are at university, 5 are NEET, 3 are at school 
and one is in full time employment. 

The committee was informed that the national transfer scheme (NTS) was introduced 
in July 2016. This facilitated a fair process for the distribution of UASC across the 
country. Based on this scheme (level based on 0.07% of children’s population) 
Gloucestershire could receive up to 87 UASC. 

Under the vulnerable children resettlement scheme (often referred to as the Syrian 
families resettlement programme) 15 families have been re-settled in 
Gloucestershire, across all districts, apart from the Forest of Dean. 2 more families 
are expected by Christmas. The Forest of Dean District Council is happy to receive 
families but want to ensure that the placement location is appropriate. 

It was explained that the council receives funding from the Home Office to support 
each child. It is anticipated that there will be a shortfall in this funding which the 
council will have to fill. The funding situation for those UASC who are over 18 is a 
significant pressure. This is also the subject of a national discussion, and the 
Association of Directors of Children’s Services (ADCS) has recently published a 
report on safeguarding pressures. The Home Office has started to fund care leavers 

Page 62



but again it is anticipated that there will be a shortfall that would have to be picked up 
by the council.

Members were aware that there were some local authorities that have refused to 
participate in the resettlement scheme. It was acknowledged that there were a few. 
Whilst funding was an issue for these councils, the greater concern related to the 
challenges around placing these families, when they were already experiencing 
challenges in placing their ‘own’ children. 

There is a working group looking at the implications of the numbers and the 
resources in place. This group included an Ambassador who was an UASC. A 
particular challenge had been the short notice given by the Home Office with regard 
to placements as this had meant that the council had not been able to undertake the 
necessary planning. Knowing that Gloucestershire could receive up to 87 UASC 
meant that planning could be undertaken. 

The committee is concerned that supporting these children and families placed 
additional pressure on an already stretched system. However the majority of 
committee members agreed that supporting these people, who are in dire need, was 
something that we should be doing. The committee will receive an update on this 
position in 6 months. 

3.3 Revenue Monitoring 

The pressures on the external placement budget have already been mentioned; 
there is no simple solution to this position. The ongoing pressures on the system 
place the budget under stress, and going forward budget discussions on the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy will need to look at how to manage and fund this demand. 

4 Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee (15 November 2016) – Cllr 
Iain Dobie

4.1 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHNHSFT) Financial Position

In September 2016 GHNHSFT announced a significant and unexpected deterioration 
in its reported financial position. The committee was pleased to welcome Deborah 
Lee, Chief Executive GHNHSFT, and Keith Norton, a newly appointed Non-Executive 
Director, to the meeting to discuss this matter with members. 

Ms Lee acknowledged that this position did reflect that there had been a failure of 
financial governance; and had the Trust, the regulators and auditors acted differently 
the Trust would not be in this position today. The sudden nature of the 
announcement had given rise to the misconception that this situation had developed 
‘overnight’, and she wanted to be clear that this position had developed over time.  

Page 63



The announcement had been preceded by an independent high level review, 
commissioned by the Trust Board, of the Trust’s financial position and reporting 
arrangements. 

This review had highlighted that there was an insufficient level of financial skills and 
expertise across the Trust’s Non-Executive Directors (NEDs). It is important to note 
that an externally commissioned review of the Board’s arrangements in 2015 did not 
raise this as an area of concern. Changes to the Trust Board have already been 
made; and the committee was assured that the person specification for NEDs 
reflected the need for financial expertise. 

The Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group commissioned the services 
provided by the Trust and therefore there would be a continuation of services to the 
public. The challenge was to do things better and more efficiently. 

An independent review of the circumstances that led to the financial deterioration has 
been jointly commissioned by the Trust and the regulator NHS Improvement. An 
extraordinary meeting of the committee has been set for 30 January 2017 to receive 
the outcome of this review. 

4.2 Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP)

The committee was pleased to be able to discuss this plan with the commissioners 
and providers of health and social care services in Gloucestershire. The plan’s vision  
is ‘to improve health and wellbeing, we believe that by all working better together – in 
a more joined up way – and using the strengths of individuals, carers and local 
communities, we will transform the quality of care and support we provide to all local 
people’. 

There was agreement across the committee that this was an exciting plan building on 
and developing work already in place and planned. This plan is challenging for all 
partners, not least in its drive to deliver a consistent approach to services across all 
organisations; this alone means a significant challenge in terms of workplace culture, 
and a shared language. A very positive element is that prevention (Public Health) is 
embedded within the plan. 

We are all aware that demand has increased dramatically over the last few years. 
We live in an online culture where people have access 24/7 to social and business 
media and can shop and receive goods within a 24 hour period; and there is growing 
expectation that access to health and social care should be the same. Managing 
expectations, and effectively communicating with members of the public, are key 
challenges. 

Page 64



The underlying detail on possible service changes will come forward later in 2017. At 
present the Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) is leading on an 
engagement exercise to inform and engage with the public. The plan is available at 
www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/gloucestershire-stp. This link gives access to the full 
plan and a short guide. It also links to a survey and I recommend that all members 
respond to this survey and encourage their local communities to do so as well to 
ensure that the GCCG get a broad range of responses.

The committee was clear that it intends to follow the progress and implementation of 
this plan and will be part of any consultation on service change proposals. Urgent 
Care will be part of the committee’s debate on the council motion relating to A and E 
waiting times on 15 December 2017. It is anticipated that consultation on the urgent 
care system model will begin in Summer 2017.

4.3 Adult Social Care and Public Health Performance Quarter 1

Members welcomed the continued good work to support adults with learning 
disabilities into employment and congratulated Forwards Employment Services 
(commissioned by the council) on winning the Empowerment Award at the 
Gloucestershire Health and Social Care Awards on 8 November 2016. 

It was of concern to note that performance against reassessment targets continues to 
underperform, apart from those service users supported by the 2Gether NHS 
Foundation Trust (2G). It was also of concern to hear that the demand for paid carers 
is outstripping supply; it was thought that this was related to some domiciliary care 
organisations going out of business. The committee will need to monitor this issue. 

Performance against Health Checks targets continues to struggle. All GP practices in 
the county, apart from two, have signed up to deliver these checks, and for the two 
practices that have not alternative arrangements have been made for these patients. 
Advertising these checks and communicating with patients rests with the GP 
practice. A particular factor here is that no matter how the benefits of these checks 
are communicated we cannot make people take them up.

4.4 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) Performance Report

Following a request from the committee this report now regularly includes information 
on mental health indicators. Mental Health will also be the main item at the 
committee’s meeting on 10 January 2017.  

As previously reported cancer targets continue to be a challenge; and whilst there is 
some improvement in the 6 week diagnostic target more needs to be done to bring 
this performance online. Recovery plans are in place.

Page 65

http://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/gloucestershire-stp


There have been concerns with regard to Improving Access to Psychological 
Therapies (IAPT). 2G have benefited from support from a member of the national 
IAPT team, and received a visit from the NHS England Intensive Support Team. 2G 
have developed an improvement plan for access and recovery which has been 
shared with the GCCG. 2G informed the committee that it was confident that it was 
now on the right track. 

4.5 Healthwatch Gloucestershire (HWG) Quarter 1 Patient and Public Feedback

The Chair of HWG informed the committee that HWG would be working with the 
CQC on the forthcoming inspection of GHNHSFT. It was also undertaking a follow up 
to its report on the Hospital Discharge process and expected to share this with the 
committee in the New Year.

5 Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee (22 
November 2016) - Cllr Rob Bird

5.1 Cotswold Flood Action Group 

At the September committee meeting, members considered feedback on the work of 
the Cotswold Flood Action Group with representations from the GCC Flood Team, 
Cotswold District Councillors, Thames Water and the Environment Agency. The 
committee also received a statement from Cabinet Member: Highways and Flood, 
Cllr Vernon Smith. 

The consensus of opinion at the meeting was that the work of the Flood Action Group 
had been a huge success. Representatives expressed particular satisfaction with the 
improved communication between key stakeholders, town and parish councils and 
local residents. The discussion also reflected on the considerable progress that had 
been made in addressing flooding issues in the Cotswold District since 2014. 

Expressing firm resolve that the current arrangement continue, it was agreed that the 
scrutiny function of the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee was now 
complete. It was also agreed that a statement be sent on behalf of the committee to 
Cotswold District Council, proposing transfer of responsibility to the local authority, 
(under delegated authority from the County Council as lead local flood authority). The 
committee has since agreed a letter to be sent to Cotswold District Council. 

5.2 Update on the A40 Over Roundabout Project

Chris Riley (Local Highways Manager) gave an update on the A40 Over Roundabout 
Project.

Page 66



The update included feedback from recent public information events and the latest 
graphic designs, (including 3D model images).

5.3 Motion 722: Results of the Highway Customer Satisfaction Level Survey

Following a motion to Full Council on 29 June 2016, (Appendix 1) members 
considered the: 

 
1. Revised Town and Parish Council Highway Customer Satisfaction Survey; 
2. Revised Member Highway Customer Satisfaction Survey
3. Customer Service Improvement Action Plan 

The committee noted the report and endorsed that Gloucestershire County Council 
continue to participate in the National Highways and Transport Survey. In endorsing 
the revised Customer Satisfaction Surveys, the committee also expressed a strong 
viewpoint that additional work be undertaken to produce a non-parish ‘District’ 
version of the survey, plus a separate version, adapted to include questions 
specifically relating to urban areas. 

Lead officers were instructed to produce the additional versions of the survey as a 
matter of urgency, followed by an update to the Environment and Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and to Full Council at a later date. 

5.4 Motion from Full Council (Motion 766 – Improving Highway Tree Maintenance)

Following a motion to Full Council on 23 March 2016, members considered the 
response of the Cabinet Member: Highways and Flood to the Highways Advisory 
Group’s proposals for improvements to the County Council's Tree Maintenance 
Programme. (Appendix 2)

In noting the response, the committee agreed to defer consideration of the proposals 
until the scrutiny committee meeting in March to enable the Highways Advisory 
Group to consider the Cabinet Member’s response in full.  An update to be presented 
to Full Council in March 2017.  

5.5 Work Plan

11 January 2017 - Joint Waste Committee 

At the committee meeting on 13 July 2016, members requested an update on the 
role and work of the Joint Waste Committee. The Head of Service and Chairman of 
the Joint Waste Committee to present an overview of the role of the committee and 
to respond to questions at the scrutiny committee meeting on 11 January 2017. The 

Page 67



item to take into account the ‘waste’ motion considered at the full council meeting on 
14 September 2016. 

8 March 2017 - Task Group Review 

The committee to receive updates on the following task group reviews at the March 
Scrutiny Committee meeting: 

1) Climate Change 
2) Access to and from the Forest of Dean
3) A429 Fosse Way 

Members will be invited to suggest items for the incoming committee to consider post 
County Council elections in May 2017

6 Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee (30 November 2016) – 
Cllr Joe Harris 

The Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee meeting was held on 30 November 2016, 
following publication of the agenda for the Full Council meeting on 7 December 2016. 

The following items were considered at the meeting: -  

6.1 Promoting Gloucestershire – request for a task group review 

At the Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee meeting on 7 September 2016, a 
member proposed that a scrutiny task group be established to consider the impact of 
tourism in terms of creating opportunities for residents and new and existing 
businesses across the county and to investigate how tourism might benefit from a co-
ordinated Gloucestershire approach. The majority of members supported the 
proposal, with a proviso that the review encompass a wide range of other factors, 
(including tourism), which might attract people and businesses to live and work in 
Gloucestershire.  

Following consideration at the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting on 30 
September 2016, the committee requested that a meeting be held between the 
members of the Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee and the Chief Executive of the 
Gloucestershire Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) to consider whether the proposal 
for a task group review would duplicate or add value to the economic development of 
Gloucestershire.

If considered a viable option, the original one page strategy to be resubmitted to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee for final approval. If approved, the 

Page 68



review to commence in the next council. (Post County Council Elections in May 
2017).  

6.2 Fastershire Broadband 

Matt Smith, Operations Manager for the Fastershire Broadband Project, to update 
the committee on progress and current issues.    

6.3 Community Pub Task Group 

In response to a motion to Gloucestershire County Council in November 2014, the 
Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee considered an economic 
analysis of the local pub and restaurant sector, including the contributions pubs and 
restaurants make to the Gloucestershire economy. A cross party task group was 
established in July 2015.

Following discussions with non-profit charity organisation, ‘Pub is the Hub’, 
representatives from the organisation met with committee members to discuss how 
they could support the review, including offering to undertake strategic mapping of 
Gloucestershire to identify priority areas. The organisation has worked for several 
other local authorities in the past 15 years, attempting to support and encourage local 
pubs to diversify and better serve local communities. The organisation also provides 
workshops and assistance to local communities to apply for grants. 

At the committee meeting on 7 September 2016, it was agreed to note the findings of 
the Pub is the Hub ‘Mapping Analysis’ of Gloucestershire and for lead members to;  

a) Identify possible locations to suggest as priority areas for the ‘Pub is the Hub’ 
to work with local councils and other stakeholders in targeting future rural 
regeneration programmes and support; 

b) Establish a realistic implementation plan and timeline from which to identify 
priority areas and engage with district and parish councils and other key 
stakeholders; 

c) Host a ‘Pub is the Hub’ countywide workshop for District and Parish Councils 
and other stakeholders to gain an understanding of what options might be 
available to assist rural communities in preserving and delivering local 
services;  

d) Consider nominating elected (district) member and officer (district) 
representatives to ‘champion’ and take the proposed schemes forward; 

Page 69



e) Monitor progress with regular updates and periodical reports. The reports to 
be presented to the committee by the relevant district representatives.

The committee confirmed that the work of the task group was now complete. Lead 
members are currently working with the ‘Pub is the Hub’ organisation to provide 
support via District and Parish Councils in helping local community groups consider 
ways of developing local pubs as assets of community value. A workshop event for 
District and Parish Councils to be held at Shire Hall in the March 2017, where it was 
suggested representatives from the Rural Community Council be invited to attend the 
event.  

.
7. Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel (7 November 2016) – Cllr Roger Wilson

7.1 Update on the New Operating Model

Members received a presentation from senior officers of the constabulary detailing 
the progress made with the new operating model. The New Operating Model was 
introduced in July 2015 to meet the financial demands for the future and to reflect the 
changing nature of policing. It was designed to: 

• Put the public at the heart of all we do
• Police the county as one
• Foster doing things once
• Enable efficient and transparent decision-making
• Enable capable, motivated and professional people to add value
• Create sustainable resilience through leveraging the right tech, estates 

and equipment
• Be affordable and financially sustainable in the mid/long term

Members were told that Gloucestershire has the fourth lowest crime rate per 1000 
people in England and Wales and that it was one of only four forces to have shown a 
reduction in crime in the year to July 2016 (Office of National Statistics).

Significant improvements have also been made in user satisfaction and public 
confidence in the constabulary.

The panel congratulated the constabulary on the progress that has been made, 
however they recognised that there is still much work to be done from both the 
Commissioner and the Constabulary in terms of improving the service. The latest 
progress represented a strong foundation from which to build on. 

Page 70



7.2 Police and Crime Plan

At previous meetings the Panel had considered the draft Police and Crime Plan, this 
was a further opportunity to see the final draft and to understand how it would work 
and be delivered.

A Delivery plan is being developed that will be received by the Panel at the next 
meeting. The Panel will continue to received the highlight report which reports on 
each of the six priorities within the plan. Priority leads will attend Panel meetings to 
give presentations on the work being undertaken and to answer questions.

One member expressed concerns regarding the pages in the plan from the 
Commissioner on ‘My Approach’ where he felt the narrative was open to 
misinterpretation. Aside from this concern, the Panel formally supported the plan. 

The plan can be viewed at: https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/your-pcc/what-is-
the-police-and-crime-plan/ 

7.3 Chief Executive’s Report

The report included information on 101 calls as concerns had been raised by 
members about the timeliness of responses. The Commissioner had questioned the 
superintendent in charge of the control room and it was explained that there had 
been an increase in demand for the service. 

The Panel expressed concern that the data provided in the report in some cases only 
ran until March 2015 as the latest data had not been audited. The Commissioner 
explained that his Governance Board would be taking a more detailed look at 101 
calls and that an update would be provided in each Chief Executive report. 

The Chief Executive report outlined that HMIC had returned to the Constabulary in 
October to carry out a PEEL inspection into effectiveness. Final reports from HMIC 
following their efficiency inspection had been published with the force rated as good 
overall. Inspections on, legitimacy and leadership were expected to report in 
December.

Page 71

https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/your-pcc/what-is-the-police-and-crime-plan/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/your-pcc/what-is-the-police-and-crime-plan/


This page is intentionally left blank



Environment Scrutiny Report to Full Council – Appendix 1

Motion 722 – Highways Satisfaction Levels

1. Background

1.1 Members considered the following motion to Full Council on 29 June 2016.

Motion 772 – Highways Satisfaction Levels

Proposed by Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Seconded by Cllr Chris Coleman

This Council expresses concern that the key performance indicators for Highways as published 
in recent Council papers show disappointing satisfaction levels with the service amongst both 
members and parish councils. 

This Council believes that more needs to be done to improve satisfaction levels and that it is in 
the public interest to understand the reasons for such unsatisfactory levels of satisfaction.  

This Council therefore requests that the Environment and Community Scrutiny Committee 
conducts a detailed analysis of these satisfaction levels with the county’s highways and reports 
back for member discussion at the full Council meeting on 7 December 2016.  

1.2 The committee supported the proposal to commission an independent review of Highways 
Customer Satisfaction Surveys and endorsed the suggestion that the consultant be asked to: -

a) Review the results of previous surveys and any comments attached to the results to 
attempt to identify trends or areas that needed to be improved;

b) Review the questions for the survey to ensure they are fit for purpose and focused on 
collecting the right customer satisfaction data;

c) Look for ways to improve survey return rates, (currently low, with less than 20 percent of 
parishes responding);

d) Review what changes the Highways Service and Amey have put in place to improve 
customer satisfaction, and to better understand what impact these are likely to have, 
including the recently agreed Amey Customer Service Improvement Plan;

e) Review the National Highways and Transport (NHT) survey results and data, and to 
make a recommendation on the council’s future participation in the survey.

2. Review of previous survey results and questions

2.1 Two annual surveys are carried out – one with parish and town councils and one with county 
councillors.  These are aimed to capturing levels of customer satisfaction and understanding any 
trends which might drive customer service improvements.  In 2015 the result for the parish and 

Page 73



Environment Scrutiny Report to Full Council – Appendix 1

town council survey was 2.41 (rating 1 to 5, 5 good) and for the member survey was 2.95.  These 
results were a reduction compared with the previous set of results at 3.73 and 3.83 respectively.

2.2 A review of the surveys was carried out by Emma Burchell (Communications Manager: Creative 
and Consultation) in conjunction with GCC and Amey officers.  The proposed revisions to 
surveys were also independently reviewed by the Consultation Institute.

2.3 In general terms the review of the previous survey found that analysing the survey to identify 
deliverable customer service improvements was very difficult.  The questions were not specific 
enough and the wording in places was ambiguous or unhelpful.  It was also considered that 
comparing the survey results with anything pre-2014/15 was not straightforward – the highways 
contract has changed dramatically, some of the questions were not suitable for the current 
contract and, as it stood, the questions did not take into consideration new communication 
channels and the introduction of the Customer Contact Centre.  Within the existing survey, very 
few questions attracted a written comment, but where these existed there was a general trend 
around lack of communication being a source of dissatisfaction.

2.4 Both surveys have been revised and this has added the following benefits: -

- Questions have been made much more specific, to ensure the results enable us to better 
understand the reasons behind satisfaction levels, and at what point in the process can 
issues arise.

- The surveys are ‘routed’ so that they ask more detailed questions where particular responses 
are selected.

- The names of parish councils who respond to the survey will be collected – this way it should 
be possible to pinpoint any particular areas of dissatisfaction amongst parish councils and 
address these through follow up face to face discussions with those parish councils who have 
identified specific issues, so that we can drill down into the data and come up with specific 
action plans for those councils if necessary.

- The survey will be run online but will also be supplemented by having the surveys designed 
up into eye catching hard copies to maximise response rates.

- The introduction of an incentive to complete the survey to boost return rates.  This will be a 
prize draw to win a week of lengthsmen in their parish.

2.5 The Consultation Institute have independently reviewed the proposed new survey questions and 
provided feedback that they were content to endorse the questionnaire as fit for purpose. 
Notwithstanding this, they suggested that it would add value to conduct some research work with 
potential respondents to ensure that their views as to what represent appropriate measures for 
satisfaction are covered.  As such, it is intended that the survey is tested on a selection of 
responders prior to the survey being distributed widely.

2.6 The disadvantage of overhauling the surveys is that the overall survey results will not be 
comparable to previous years.  However there are significant benefits in changing the surveys to 
make them far more useful in being able to drive customer service improvements.  Although the 
questions have been altered we will still be able to make some comparisons to last year’s survey 
results with the following two key questions and we can potentially use this to benchmark against 
previous results.

Page 74



Environment Scrutiny Report to Full Council – Appendix 1

Old Question
Overall, how would you rate Amey Highways Gloucestershire?
(Very Good, Good, Average, Poor, Very Poor)

New Question 
Overall, how would you rate Amey Highways Gloucestershire on the service(s) it has 
provided in your parish/town?
(Very Good, Good, Average, Poor, Very Poor)

Old Question
If Amey Highways Gloucestershire has carried out work in your Parish/Town, how would 
you rate the following:

o The helpfulness and accuracy of the information provided prior to the works taking 
place.

o Speed with which the work was carried out on site
o Success of keeping disruption to a minimum
o Quality of the completed work

(Very Good, Good, Average, Poor, Very Poor)

New Question
This question has remained the same but in order to identify where any particular 
satisfaction may lie we have split this question into various work types to enable us to 
address the issues in a more focused way and if necessary have further conversations to 
identify the issues.  The areas are: pothole repairs, patching, resurfacing, surface 
dressing, road markings, hedge/tree cutting, grass cutting, gully emptying/cleaning, 
drainage schemes, winter salting, lengthsmen and public rights of way (PROW)

3. Return rates

3.1 The 2015 parish survey received a 40% response rate (107 of 266 parishes). The 2015 councillor 
survey received a 43% response rate (23 out of 53 councillors).  It would be helpful to improve 
the response rate for both parish and member surveys in order to have enough data to enable 
trends to be identified and services improved.

3.2 A number of techniques are proposed to improve response rates to the parish and town council 
survey: -

- Promotion through the parish newsletter.
- Promotion through the Chartered Parish group.
- Parishes who return their survey will be entered into a draw for an extra week of 

lengthsmen duties.
- Both electronic and hard copy surveys available.
- Parishes which have not responded initially will receive a telephone call from the Parish 

and Member CCC administrator to check that they have received the survey and request 
their response.

- County councillors will be asked to encourage their parishes to respond.
- County councillors will be emailed directly
- Promotion through members matters

3.3 The parish and town council survey is a useful strand which can demonstrate a county wide view.  
However, there are areas of the county which are not represented by a parish or town council, 

Page 75



Environment Scrutiny Report to Full Council – Appendix 1

such as within some wards of Cheltenham and Gloucester.  Whilst these areas are covered by 
county councillors who have the opportunity to represent the view of their area in the councillor 
survey, there are some ways in which wider customer feedback could be sought all year round 
which would help to drive customer service improvements.  One option to be investigated is the 
inclusion of a ‘how are we doing’ feedback survey on customer responses which would collect 
feedback all year round and potentially be a bigger source of data. 

4. Improving customer satisfaction

4.1 A number of customer service improvements have been put in place with the aim of improving 
communication and customer satisfaction.

4.2 Following the 2015 survey results Amey put in place a Customer Service Improvement Plan.  
This looked at all complaints received during 2014/15 and 2015/16, as well as the parish and 
town council surveys.  The conclusions from this identified some key areas of improvement:

- Communication
o Improvement of schemes communication and public consultations
o Responding to customer when they expect it (direct request for communication 

and identifying customers who should be responded to)
- Work not done since reporting

o Communicating policy and SLA timescales for defects and ‘minor’ works – 
managing customer expectations.

- Staff attitude
o Customer service training for customer facing teams – dealing with difficult 

customers and situations

In addition to the findings from this review, a customer service improvement workshop was held 
with Area Highways Representatives, PROW officers and members of the Customer Contact 
Centre to understand where improvements can be made to systems and processes.  This 
resulted in seven key improvement areas which were added to the Action Plan.  

4.3 Since the start of the current highways contract additional staff have been recruited into the 
Customer Contact Centre.  In addition a specific member of staff has been assigned to dealing 
with member and parish emails.

4.4 More recently a Stakeholder Manager was recruited into Amey’s team to specifically focus on 
customer and community engagement, firstly focusing on scheme consultations, but with a 
longer term objective of improving customer focus throughout the business.  This is already 
having a significant and positive impact on communications with customers.

4.5 The focus on communications and customer satisfaction is starting to show real progress.  In 
October an update on the customer service area shows significantly higher numbers of 
compliments compared with complaints, and lower volumes of justified complaints.  October saw 
the lowest amount of complaints received in a month so far this year (3 no.).  The rate of 
complaints received is slowing, with just one complaint in October relating to schemes 
communication.  

Page 76



Environment Scrutiny Report to Full Council – Appendix 1

5. National Highways and Transport Survey

5.1 The NHT Public Satisfaction Survey collects public perspectives on, and satisfaction with, 
Highway and Transport Services in Local Authority areas.  It is a unique, standardised, 
collaboration between Highway Authorities across the UK enabling comparison, knowledge 
sharing, and the potential to improve efficiencies by the sharing of good practice. The NHT 
Survey is also referenced in the DfT's Incentive Fund Self-assessment process.  It gives 
participating Authorities:

- A better understanding of how they are performing in the eyes of their public
- A consistent datum for setting service levels and a means of measuring the impact of 

service improvements
- Access to the best performers and the opportunity to learn from the good practice of others
- Full transparency of data for benchmarking purposes Previous and current results

5.2 The NHT survey has a number of disadvantages:
- It is currently carried out as a postal survey, and only generates around a 25% response 

rate; as such is self selecting.
- The age profile of respondents shows that more than 50% are over 65, which does not 

accurately reflect the county’s demographic 
- The questions are quite generic and often results correlated better with other national 

issues (such as the price in petrol) rather than with actual road condition.

However, it is currently the only survey which enables highway services across local authorities 
to be benchmarked against each other.  The SW Highways Alliance is currently looking at how 
we could benchmark more effectively across the region.  However, this ability to benchmark 
against other peer authorities is an essential part of performance management and is also 
included as evidence of good practice in the DfT Incentive Questionnaire.  As such, until such 
time as a more suitable survey is developed it is recommended that we continue to participate.  

6. Recommendations

6.1 That the amendments to the parish and town council survey and member survey are 
supported.

6.2 That the 2016 survey is started in December 2016, lasting approximately 8 weeks.
6.3 That GCC continue to participate in the NHT survey.  

Copies of the revised surveys can be viewed on the council website at the following link: 

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=673&MId=8228&Ver=4 

Page 77

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=673&MId=8228&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Environment Scrutiny Report to Full Council – Appendix 2 

Motion 766 – Improving Tree Maintenance

Cabinet Response

1. BACKGROUND

1.1 Members considered the following motion to Full Council on 23 March 2016.

Motion 766 – Improving Highway Tree Maintenance

That this council notes that there are approximately 8,000 trees on highway land in Cheltenham 
alone, and many more right across the county.

It is understood, that the highways contract with Amey is under review and that Liberal 
Democrats have already asked the Cabinet Member to consider improving highway tree 
maintenance.

That his Council asks the Cabinet Member to report back to the Highways Advisory Group on 
measures to improve the County Council’s tree maintenance programme, before reporting back 
to the Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee with a positive action 
plan.

Proposed by Cllr Klara Sudbury
Seconded by Cllr Bernie Fisher

1.2 At the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee meeting in September 2016, the 
committee received a report from the Highways Advisory Group outlining a series of 
recommendations to be presented to the Cabinet Member: Highways and Flood as proposed 
measures for improving the County Council's Tree Maintenance Programme. 

1.3 The following response from the Cabinet Member: Highways and Flood was considered by the 
committee on 22 November 2016, prior to consideration by the Highways Advisory Group in 
January 2017.

2. RESPONSE TO RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 Having considered the recommendations from the Highways Advisory Group, the Cabinet 
member noted the recommendations and provided this formal response.  The recommendations 
included; 

a) Officers to improve the availability of information about highway tree maintenance in order to 
help manage the public’s expectations of what works will be undertaken and what 
communities can do to tackle the issue themselves.

Page 79



Environment Scrutiny Report to Full Council – Appendix 2 

Cabinet response: Officers will pull together guidance notes on tree works for publication on 
GCC website to make this clear.

b) Amey to improve member communications by sending out advanced warnings of significant 
tree maintenance works to the local member(s) in the same way that they currently do for 
resurfacing works.

Cabinet response: Officers will ask for this approach to be adopted.

c) The Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood to consider increasing the budget allocations 
for tree maintenance so that more preventative tree maintenance works can be undertaken.  
Members feel the budget reductions in this area of work are short sighted and could cause 
more problems, a backlog of tree works and increased safety concerns over the long term.

Cabinet response: Officers have prepared a summary of options for enhanced 
environmental maintenance, including tree works, to be considered by the Highways Advisory 
Group so that the prioritisation of works can be considered and discussed.  Increasing the 
budget allocations for tree maintenance within this context will be considered as part of the 
annual budget cycle.

d) The Cabinet Member and officers to explore potential devolution of tree maintenance works 
to districts and/or work more closely with districts to increase efficiencies and jointly tackle 
budget concerns.

Cabinet response: The County Council already work closely with Gloucester City Council 
where their contractor carries out some highway tree works through their mini-agency 
agreement.  Opportunities to work with other district colleagues will be explored as part of 
wider devolution discussions.

e) Amey to ensure Highway Safety Inspectors have sufficient training in identifying tree safety 
hazards, particularly tree and hedge growth obscuring highway signs.  

Cabinet response: Officers will ensure that Highway Safety Inspectors are carrying out 
inspections in accordance with GCC policies and that Amey have the required training in 
place for those Inspectors.

f) Highways officers to audit Amey inspectors to ensure compliance with policies and that tree, 
hedge and verge overgrowth safety issues are routinely recorded and action taken to resolve 
them in a timely manner.

Cabinet response: Officers will ensure that Highway Safety Inspectors are carrying out 
inspections in accordance with GCC policies.  Audits of Highway Safety Inspections are 
scheduled on a regular basis.

g) Highways to consider commissioning additional annual works (depending on budget 
availability) to cut back overgrown hedges, trees and vegetation growth to ensure signs are 
visible, visibility splay are maintained to improve safety and to stop highway footways and 

Page 80



Environment Scrutiny Report to Full Council – Appendix 2 

cycleway from becoming overgrown.  This will have the added benefit of encouraging walking 
and cycling.

Cabinet response: Officers have prepared a summary of options for enhanced 
environmental maintenance, including tree works, to be considered by the Highways Advisory 
Group so that the prioritisation of works can be considered and discussed.  Increasing the 
budget allocations for tree maintenance within this context will be considered as part of the 
annual budget cycle.

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 

 

1 ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2015/16  

The Committee approved and signed the 2015/16 Annual Statement of Accounts for 

Gloucestershire County Council and the Pension Fund.  It was noted that the Authority 

had a statutory duty to produce the accounts in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of 

Practice.  The report provided a summary of the work undertaken during the audit of the 

Council’s accounts. The Committee considered and approved the Letter of 

Representation which confirmed that the Council had undertaken proper responsibility 

in relation to its financial activities. The Committee also received the Treasury 

Management Annual Report. 

 

2 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND THE LOCAL CODE OF CORPORATE 

GOVERNANCE 2015/16 

The Council is required under the Accounts and Audit regulations 2015 to produce an 

Annual Governance Statement (AGS) which is a public statement, detailing how the 

Council directs and controls its resources. The AGS was signed by the Leader of the 

Council, Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer and was published alongside 

the Annual Statement of Accounts.  

 

The Council had adopted a Local Code of Corporate Governance, which is consistent 

with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework ‘Delivering Good Governance in 

Local Government’. The Code is a public statement of the Council's commitment to 

these principles.  The code underpins and evidences the statements made within the 

AGS and was reviewed and updated annually. 

 

3 EXTERNAL AUDIT REPORTS 

The Committee considered external audit reports on Gloucestershire County Council 

and the Pensions Fund. In response to findings within the reports members asked 

officers to act on those recommendations and to report back to the Committee on the 

progress made in addressing them. Grant Thornton concluded that arrangements for 

achieving value for money were strong. Members of the Committee have received 

regular updates on Grant Thornton’s programme of activity relating to the Council in 

addition to briefings on the external environment. 

 

4  INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY PROGRESS REPORTS 2015/2016 

The purpose of the reports were to inform members of the progress of the internal audit 

activity in relation to the 2015/2016 Internal Audit Plan, including the opinions provided 

on the effectiveness of risk identification processes and control mechanisms in place. 

Members’ attention was drawn to the new fraud and irregularity annual reporting 

requirements under the Local Government Transparency Code.  This information would 

continue to be reported annually to the committee. 

 

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 13



  

 

 

5 INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER AND CODE OF ETHICS 2016 - 18  

The Committee approved the Internal Audit Charter and Code of Ethics which set out 

the role, purpose and authority of internal audit within the Council and the required 

ethical behaviours, as mandated by the Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards 2013 

(amended 2015).   

 

6 APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

2018/19  

The report summarised the changes to the arrangements for appointing External 

Auditors following the closure of the Audit Commission and the end of the transitional 

external audit arrangements at the conclusion of the 2017/18 accounts audits.  The 

report outlined the options for the appointment of the Council’s external auditors for the 

2018/19 Statement of Accounts and allowed the committee to discuss and if they 

deemed appropriate, recommend to council the preferred appointment process.   

 

Members felt it was necessary to retain some control and not be tied into long term 

service agreement, if the service was unsatisfactory.  After some discussion, the 

committee endorsed option 3 for the appointment of external auditors and agreed to 

recommend to council to opt-in to the Public Sectors Audit Appointment Ltd (PSAA) as 

the sector led body for the appointment of the council’s external auditors from 2018/19.    

 

7   FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ANNUAL REPORT  

The report drew attention to the significant increase in requests and the complexity. It 

was noted there had been a continued increase in the volume and complexity of 

requests the Council received, with 2195 requests received in 2015 compared with 

1892 in 2014.   The Chief Internal Auditor gave assurances that effective processes 

were in place.   

 

8 ANNUAL REPORT ON COMPLAINTS 

The committee received a report detailing the Council’s arrangements for handling 

complaints including   the Local Government Ombudsman (LGO)’s Annual Review. The 

Gloucestershire County Councils revised Complaints Policy was accepted. The 

committee noted that in 2015/16 the LGO received 62 complaints about the County 

Council. 

 

9 MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT REVIEW 

The report reminded the committee of the statutory arrangements governing the 

conduct of elected members.  It was noted that the Council had appointed three 

independent persons who the Monitoring Officer could call on for assistance if 

necessary.  It was reported there had been no reason to convene the Hearings Panel in 

2015/16.   

 

Page 84



  

 

The committee discussed the subject of declaring personal and other non pecuniary 

interests in detail. It was deemed beneficial to remind members of their duty at full 

council meetings.   

 

10 OTHER TOPICS 

Members of the committee welcomed the training sessions which had been offered, 

including the Audit Effectiveness Review, Accounts, AGS and Treasury Management 

Training.  The committee have found the sessions to be rewarding and informative.  

Members were advised on the arrangements in place for the identification, monitoring 

and control of strategic and operational risk operating within the Council and were 

presented with the Annual Report on Risk Management Activity which highlighted that 

improved risk management arrangements had resulted in financial savings being 

achieved in relation to insurance premiums. 

 

Cllr Nigel Robbins 

Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS 

 

DECEMBER 2016  

 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 This report summarise the changes to the arrangements for appointing 

External Auditors following the closure of the Audit Commission and the end 

of the transitional external audit arrangements at the conclusion of the 

2017/18 audits.  

 

1.2 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act) included transitional 

arrangements covering the audit contracts originally awarded by the Audit 

Commission in 2012 and 2014.  These contracts covered the audit of 

accounts up to 2016/17, and gave the Department for Communities and Local 

Government (DCLG) the power to extend these contracts to 2019/20. 

 
1.3 The Local Government Association (LGA) established an independent 

company, Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) to take on the 

management of the external audit contracts for local public bodies during the 

interim period.  

 

1.4 On 5th October 2015 the Secretary of State Communities and Local 

Government announced that the audit contracts for large local government 

bodies (including county councils) would be extended to include the audit of 

the 2017/18 financial statements.   

 
1.5 The Council’s current external auditor is Grant Thornton, an appointment 

made under the contract let by the Audit Commission. 

 
1.6 Whilst the Council has until December 2017 to appoint the external auditors 

for the 2018/19 accounts, it needs to confirm its position on whether to opt-in 

with PSAA by March 2017, giving PSAA sufficient time for their procurement 

process and  successful transition to the new arrangement. 

 

1.7 The scope of the 2018/19 audit will still be specified nationally, the National 

Audit Office (NAO) is responsible for writing the Code of Audit Practice which 

all firms appointed to carry out audits must follow.  Not all accounting firms will 

be eligible to compete for the work, they will need to demonstrate that they 

have the required skills and experience and be registered with a Registered 

Supervising Body approved by the Financial Reporting Council.  The 

registration process has not yet commenced and so the actual number of 

Page 87

Agenda Item 14



 

firms is unknown but it is reasonable to expect that the list of eligible firms 

may include the top 10 or 12 firms in the country, including our current auditor.  

It seems unlikely that smaller local independent firms will meet the eligibility 

criteria.  

 

  

2. Appointment of External Auditors from 2018/19   

 
2.1 When the current transitional arrangements end on 31st March 2018, 

authorities need to appoint their own auditors.  There are a number of ways 

this can be achieved, each with varying risks and opportunities.  Current fees 

are based on discounted rates offered by the firms in return for substantial 

market share. When the contracts were last negotiated nationally by the Audit 

Commission they covered NHS and local government bodies and offered 

maximum economies of scale.  Therefore, fee levels are likely to be a 

significant factor when making new auditor appointments.   

 
2.2 Over the last two years the LGA have been working on developing a Sector-

Led Body (SLB) arrangement for appointment of external auditors.  In total, 

around 270 councils and local bodies have expressed initial (non-committal) 

interest in their national scheme, including this Council. 

 

2.3 In late July 2016, the Department for Communities & Local Government 

confirmed PSAA’s (as a not-for-profit company established by the LGA) bid to 

become the SLB for the independent appointment of auditors for principal 

authorities in England, beginning with responsibilities for the financial year 

2018-19.  When announcing this development PSAA confirmed that only firms 

that have a proven track record in undertaking public audit work will be offered 

contracts.  Their plan is to set a three-year time period for both contracts and 

public sector bodies’ membership of the scheme, with the option to extend it 

to five years.  PSAA will limit contracts to a small number of companies in two 

or three large contract areas, in order to try to achieve the most competitive 

prices possible. 

 

2.3 Opting-in to PSAA’s national SLB potentially provides the best opportunity to 

limit future fees or costs, in terms of both appointment of auditors and audit 

fees, by entering into a large scale collective procurement arrangements.  It 

automatically removes the need for the Council to establish an auditor panel, 

and the associated costs. 

 

2.4 The LGA has continuously supported the SLB approach, believing it will offer 

best value to Councils by reducing set-up costs and having the potential to 

negotiate lowest possible fees. 

 

Page 88



 

2.5 The September Audit & Governance Committee considered a detailed report 

outlining the process and options available to the Council for the appointment 

of external auditors from the 2018/19 Statement of Accounts.   

 

2.6 The Committee supported the option of “opting-in” to a Sector Led Body (SLB) 

appointed by the Secretary of State under the legislation.  Therefore the 

Committee recommends to Council the option of opting-in to PSAA as the 

sector led body for the appointment of the Council’s external auditors from 

2018/19.  Relevant regulations dictate that a decision to opt into the national 

scheme for auditor appointments can only be made by the full Council.  

 

 

 

3. Recommendations 

 

3.1  It is recommended that Council approves the recommendation from Audit and 

Governance Committee to accept the invitation from the Public Sector Audit 

Appointment (PSAA) to become an opted-in authority for the purposes of the 

appointment of our auditor under the provisions of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 and the requirements of the Local Audit (Appointing 

Person) Regulations 2015. 

 

 

Cllr Nigel Robbins 

Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee  

 

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Decision Statement: Wednesday 28 September 2016

Published: 28 September 2016 

Gloucestershire
County Council

Agenda
Item Decision Portfolio 

5  DIRECT AWARD OF INTERIM PUBLIC HEALTH 
ENHANCED SERVICES CONTRACTS 

Cllr Andrew Gravells, Cabinet Member for Public Health and 
Communities, sought approval to award a number of interim 
contracts for the delivery of Public Health Enhanced Services 
(PHES). 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to: -

Authorise the Director of Public Health, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities, to 
award by single tender negotiation, the contracts for Public 
Health Enhanced Services for a period of 12 months 
commencing 1st April 2017.

There is an estimated collective total value of £1.4m for the 
combined contracts. The estimated total is due to some of the 
contracts being based on the activity delivered.

Public Health and 
Communities

6  TENDER AND AWARD OF CONCESSIONARY TRAVEL 
AND SMART CARD PRODUCTION AND MANAGEMENT 
CONTRACT 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure, sought approval to procure and award a 
contract for concessionary travel and smart card production 
and management.

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  

Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure

Page 91

Agenda Item 15



RESOLVED to: -

1) Undertake a legally compliant procurement process to find 
a supplier to undertake the smart card production and 
management contract on behalf of the Council; 

2) Award the contract for five years to the most economically 
advantageous tender; 

3) Where practicable, to include Gloucestershire NHS bodies 
within the above procurement process to support the 
integration of passenger transport services, contract 
efficiencies and better access to health services. 

7  TENDER AND AWARD OF TRANSPORT CONTRACTS 
UNDER THE DYNAMIC PROCUREMENT SYSTEM FOR 
TRANSPORT 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure, sought approval to use the Transport Services 
Dynamic Purchasing System (TSDPS) to procure and award 
a number of passenger transport contracts, each with an 
estimated gross value of over £500,000. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to: -

Delegate authority to the Commissioning Director: 
Communities and Infrastructure to:

1) Use the TSDPS in accordance with its terms to undertake 
in each case a legally compliant procurement processes to 
procure contracts for the provision of each of the local bus 
services set out in Table 1. 

2) Upon conclusion of each process under Recommendation 
1 above, to award a contract to the preferred provider, in each 
case evaluated as offering the Council best value for money 
for delivery of the services in accordance with the DPS 
requirements. In the event that a preferred provider for a 
contract is either unable or unwilling to enter into a contract 
then the Commissioning Director: Communities and 
Infrastructure is authorised to enter into such contract with the 
next willing highest placed suitably qualified provider. 

Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure

Page 92



8  PROCUREMENT OF ADVOCACY AND RELATED 
SERVICES 

Cllr Dorcas Binns, Cabinet Member for Older People, sought 
to procure the specified advocacy services in order to meet 
the Council’s statutory duties, and to delegate authority to the 
Commissioning Director: Adults and Commissioning Director: 
Children and Families to award the contracts.

Part 2 of the recommendations relate to the ‘Children and 
Young People and Strategic Commissioning’ Portfolio. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 
noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to: -

1. Authorise the Commissioning Director: Adults to:

(a) Conduct an EU compliant competitive tender 
process for the award of a  5 year contract (with an 
initial term of 3 years and an option to extend for a 
further  2 years) with an estimated maximum total 
value of up to £3.289m for the delivery of Independent 
Health and Social Care Advocacy Service for Adults 
and

(b) Upon conclusion of the competitive tender process, 
in consultation with Cabinet Member for Older People, 
to enter into a contract with the preferred provider who 
is evaluated as achieving the highest score against the 
evaluation criteria set by the Council. In the event that 
that the preferred bidder for the contract is either 
unable or unwilling to enter into that contract with the 
Council then Officers are authorised to enter into such 
contract with the next willing highest placed suitably 
qualified provider.

2. Authorise the Commissioning Director: Children and 
Families, to:

(a) Conduct an EU compliant competitive tender 
process for the award of a  5 year contract (with an 
initial term of 3 years  and an option to extend for a 
further  2 years) with an estimated maximum total 
value of up to £550k for the delivery of Independent 
Social Care Advocacy for Children in Care and 
Disabled Children the “Children’s Service” ; 

Older People

Long Term Care

Children and Young 
People and Strategic 
Commissioning

Page 93



(b) Conduct an EU compliant competitive tender 
process for the award of a  7 year contract (with an 
initial term of 5 years  and an option to extend for a 
further  2 years) with an estimated maximum total 
value of up to £280k for the delivery of Independent 
Visitors for looked after children and 

(c) Upon conclusion of these competitive tender 
processes, in consultation with Cabinet Member for 
Children & Young People, to enter into a contract with 
the preferred provider who is evaluated as achieving 
the highest score against the evaluation criteria set by 
the Council for each contract. In the event that that the 
preferred bidders for the contracts are either unable or 
unwilling to enter into those contracts with the Council 
then Officers are authorised to enter into such 
contracts with the next willing highest placed suitably 
qualified providers.

9  FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2016/17 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change, gave an update on the year-end forecast for the 
council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets 2016/17. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet 

RESOLVED to: -

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position, as at the 
end of July 2016 for the 2016/17 financial year, of a 
small net overspend of £23,000.

2. Note the forecast capital year end position of a small 
under-spend of £27,000 for 2016/17 against the re-
profiled budget and that;

a) A new scheme had been added to the capital 
programme for the construction of 2 class modular 
building on the Waterwells Academy site, financed 
from the transfer of £0.30 million from the 
unallocated education Basic Need grant funding, 
already approved within the capital programme.

Finance and Change

Page 94



b) £1.18 million of grant funded schemes had been 
brought forward into 2016/17 due to the 
accelerated delivery of schemes, already approved 
within the capital programme. This does not 
change the overall value of the capital programme 
approved by Council; just its funding between year.

3. Endorse the acceptance of the four year Local 
Government Settlement offer by the Strategic Director 
of Finance, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Change. 

4. Approve the following changes to the capital 
programme:

a) An increase in the capital programme of £4.682 
million funded from the receipt of Disabled 
Facilities Grant.

b) That the existing capital approval for Cleeve School 
scheme be increased to £4.958 million, funded 
through additional Section 106 contributions, and 
therefore an increase in the capital programme by 
£1.117 million.

c) An increase of £0.35 million in the Highway capital 
budget, funded from a revenue contribution of 
£0.26 million of Highways Local Schemes funding 
and an additional £0.09 million of developer 
contributions to help fund a number of highway 
schemes.

d) That the existing capital approval for the Alvin 
Street scheme be increased to £2.862 million, 
funded through additional grant contributions and 
increasing the capital programme by £173,000.

     5.  Authorise the Chief Fire Officer and Operations  
          Director to: 

a) Conduct a legally compliant competitive 
procurement process for the award of a contract to 
provide a replacement telephony system for the 
council, utilising the existing ICT managed service 
provider (Sopra Steria) for the implementation and 
project management.  

b) Award the proposed contract upon the conclusion 
of the said competitive procurement process to the 

Page 95



preferred provider who is found to offer the most 
economically advantageous tender, in consultation 
with the Lead Cabinet Member: Finance & Change.  

In the event that the preferred provider was either 
unable or unwilling to enter into a contract with the 
council, then the Chief Fire Officer and Operations 
Director, in consultation with the Lead Cabinet 
Member: Finance & Change, to be authorised to 
award the contract to a willing and capable 
tenderer who is found to offer the next most 
economically advantageous tender.

10  QUARTERLY STRATEGIC PERFORMANCE REPORT 
2016/17: QUARTER 1 

Leader of Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, provided an 
overview of the Council’s performance during Quarter 1 of the 
2016/17 financial year.  

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet  

RESOLVED to: -

1) Endorse the performance report;

2) Note the progress being made in tracking council 
priority outcomes; and, 

3) Support the actions being taken to address areas of 
concern

Leader of Council

11  SCHEDULE OF PROPOSED DISPOSALS 

Councillor Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change, sought to approve the Schedule of Disposals 
proposed to deliver the council’s ‘Meeting the Challenge 2’ 
capital receipt target of £60 million covering the period 
2015/16 to 2017/18.  

In line with the Policy for the Disposal of Property and having 
considered all of the information, including known proposals 
and reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the 
report and,  

Finance and Change

Page 96



RESOLVED to: -  

1) Confirm that those sites described at Appendix A, 
(exempt report), which had previously been declared 
surplus by Cabinet in February 2016, and had not yet 
been disposed of, continue to be declared surplus to 
requirements, and 

2) Declare that the sites listed on the proposed Schedule 
of Disposals at Appendix B (exempt report), are 
surplus to the Council’s land and property 
requirements, and, 

In relation to both schedules, delegate authority to the 
Head of Property Services to dispose of these sites in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change.

Prior to the discussion, members were advised that, should 
Cabinet wish to discuss the contents of the exempt 
information at the meeting, (Appendices A and B), 
consideration would need to be given as to whether the press 
and public should be excluded from the meeting in 
accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012. Cabinet agreed to 
consider the item without reference to the exempt information 
at Appendices A and B.

The above decisions came into force on Thursday 6 October 2016 

For information on the contents of this Decision Statement, please contact: - 

Jo Moore (Democratic Services Unit)
Tel: 01452 324196; Fax: 01452 425240; email: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 97

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO FULL COUNCIL 

STATEMENT OF INDIVIDUAL CABINET MEMBER DECISIONS 

7 DECEMBER 2016

Statement of Individual Cabinet Member Decisions  

1 September to 30 November 2016

Decision 
Date

Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder

Decision Key 
Decision 

6 Sept  
2016

Cllr Paul McLain 

Cabinet Member 
for Children and 
Young People 
and Strategic 
Commissioning 

Relevant area for School Admission 
Arrangements Consultations for 2018 and 
2019 Academic Years 

Having fully considered all the available 
information, the Children and Young People and 
Strategic Commissioning decided to reject the 
alternative options and take the recommended 
decision that  -  

For the reasons set out in the report.

In coming to this decision, the Cabinet Member 
gave due and full regard to the requirements of 
the public sector equality duty contained in 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (“the Act”) 
by reference to the law itself and also to the 
relevant Due Regard Statement, which was 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Act. 

Yes

Please contact Jo Moore, (Democratic Services Unit), if you have any queries about the 
decisions referred to in this statement. 

Tel: 01452 324196 
Email: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Page 99

Agenda Item 16

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Page 100



CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE REPORT 

7 December 2016 

Presented by Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Chairman of the Constitution Committee 

1 Members’ Allowances Scheme  

1.1 The Committee considered a report on revisions to the Members’ Allowances 

Scheme. 

1.2 In preparation for the 2017 County Council elections, a review of the Members’ 

Allowances Scheme has been undertaken to ensure provisions remain relevant. A 

number of sections have been removed from the scheme as they were no longer 

relevant, including those that related to co-optee’s allowances, financial loss 

allowance, the reimbursement of expenses for non-county councillors, and outside 

bodies.  

1.3 The revisions to the scheme do not affect the allowances currently paid to elected 

members. 

1.4 The revised scheme includes allowances for the members of the Independent 
Remuneration Panel  (IRP). The allowances are £1000 for the Chair of the IRP, 
which reflects the additional time commitment associated with the role, and £250 
for the panel members.  

1.5 The Committee was informed that IRP members at other local authorities receive 

allowances at varying rates, and that, given the time committed by the Council’s 

IRP members to their role, the proposed allowances are reasonable. The 

Committee was also informed that the provision will not set a precedent for 

allowances for other non-elected members. 

1.6 The revised scheme is attached at Annex A, and, for comparison, the current scheme

in the Council Constitution is included at Annex B with tracked changes.

1.7 RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that the revisions to the 

Members’ Allowances Scheme in Annex A be adopted and included in the

Constitution.  

2. Health and Wellbeing Board – Proposed Changes to the Terms of Reference

2.1 The Committee considered the proposed revisions to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board’s terms of reference. 

2.2 A number of drivers have influenced the proposed revisions. These include the 

letter from Jeremy Hunt in 2014, which requested that Health and Wellbeing 

Boards establish a formal mechanism for engaging providers in their work, the 

Page 101

Agenda Item 17



requirement in the NHS Five Year Forward View for the development of 

Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs), and the emergence of new 

models of health and social care integration.  

2.3 The revisions to the terms of reference include inviting the Chief Constable to join 

the Health and Wellbeing Board and changing the voting rights of some member 

organisations. It was confirmed at the Committee meeting that there will not be a 

shift in the balance of power.  

2.4 The Committee agreed that the terms of reference for the Health and Wellbeing 

Board would be amended to state clearly that the Chair of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board has the casting vote, and to state that the quorum for meetings of 

the Health and Wellbeing Board is that one quarter of the membership be present 

and at least 4 be voting member organisations.  

2.5 The revisions to the Health and Wellbeing Board’s terms of reference are attached 

at Annex C. 

2.6 RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL that the revisions to the 

Health and Wellbeing Board’s terms of reference be adopted and included in the 

Constitution.  

3. Monitoring Officer Changes to the Constitution

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO THE COUNCIL to ratify the changes to the 
Constitution, as indicated in Annex D and E, by the Monitoring Officer under 
delegated powers regarding:

 Code of Conduct, includes Confidential Reporting Procedure (Whistle-
blowing) for Employees other than staff in educational establishments (for
whom a separate code exists), and;

 Part 3 of the Constitution, Section 5, Scheme of Delegation.

Mark Hawthorne – Chairman 

December 2016 

Page 102



Issue No.26 –July 2016 
P a g e  | 217 

3. OTHER ALLOWANCES PAYABLE BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL FOR PERFORMING
APPROVED DUTIES:

[Note 1: Regulation 8 of the Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003 states that payment of travel and subsistence can only 
be made for attendance at meetings within one or more of the following 
categories: 

(a) The attendance at a meeting of the Authority or of any 
committee or sub-committee of the Authority, or of any other 
body to which the Authority makes appointments or 
nominations, or of any committee or sub-committee of such a 
body; 

(b) The attendance at any other meeting, the holding of which is 
authorised by the Authority, or a committee or sub-committee 
of the authority, or a joint committee of the Authority and one 
or more Local Authority within the meaning of Section 270(1) 
of the Local Government Act 1972, or a sub-committee of 
such a joint committee provided that: 

(i) Where the Authority is divided into two or more political 
groups it is a meeting to which Members of at least two 
such groups have been invited; or 

(ii) If the Authority is not so divided, it is a meeting to 
which at least two Members of the Authority have been 
invited; 

(c) The attendance at a meeting of any association of authorities 
of which the Authority is a member; 

(d) The attendance at a meeting of the executive or a meeting of 
any of its committees, where the Authority is operating 
executive arrangements; 

(e) The performance of any duty in pursuance of any Standing 
Order made under Section 135 of the Local Government Act 
1972 requiring a Member or Members to be present while 
tender documents are opened; 

(f) The performance of any duty in connection with the discharge 
of any function of the Authority conferred by or under any 
enactment and empowering or requiring the Authority to 
inspect or authorise the inspection of premises; 

Annex A

Page 103

mpidgeon
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_1
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_2
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_3
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_4
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_5
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_6
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_7
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_8
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_9
Typewritten Text



Issue No.26 –July 2016 
P a g e  | 218 

(g) The performance of any duty in connection with arrangements 
made by the Authority for the attendance of pupils at any 
school approved for the purposes of Section 342 (approval of 
non-maintained special schools) of the Education Act 1996; 
and 

(h) The carrying out of any other duty approved by the Authority, 
or the Chief Executive acting under delegated powers, for the 
purpose of, or in connection with, the discharge of the 
functions of the Authority or of any of its committees or sub-
committees.  

Note 2: Members’ homes are regarded as their work base for the purpose of 
claims and a specified number of visits to Shire Hall each year for 
’contact‘ purposes should be regarded as an ’approved duty‘ for the 
purposes of travel claims. Further advice will be issued from time to time 
listing activities for which travel and subsistence may be claimed. 

Note 3: The Council has agreed that a travel allowance may be payable to County 
Councillors on journeys to and from parish and town council meetings 
within their division. This should apply to full town or parish council 
meetings only and the County Councillor should not be a member of that 
particular parish or town council. 

(a) Travelling 

1.1 By Public Transport Services 

The actual fares paid supported by receipts. Members should be 
reimbursed for the actual cost of a rail ticket up to the cost of an open 
standard return. Train tickets can be arranged through Democratic 
Services.  

Actual expenditure (receipts should be provided) incurred on: 

(a) Reservation of seats; 
(b) Porterage of baggage; 
(c) Sleeping accommodation on an overnight journey. 

1.2 Taxi-cabs

Taxi-cab fares (including a reasonable gratuity) may be paid in cases of 
urgency or when no public service is reasonably available.  Receipts 
should be provided. 

1.3 Member's Private Motor Vehicles 

Page 104



Issue No.26 –July 2016 
P a g e  | 219 

The rates of allowance shall be in accordance with the HMRC authorised 
mileage allowance rate. 

1.4 Bicycles

An allowance of 20p per mile (all mileage) is payable on condition the 
bicycle is roadworthy, the rider wears protective headgear, appropriate 
high visibility clothing and has third party insurance. 

1.5 Motor Cycles

24p per mile (all mileage) 

1.6   Hired Cars 

 The rate for travel by a hired motor car vehicle other than a taxi cab shall 
not exceed the rate which would have been applicable had the vehicle 
belonged to the Member who hired it, provided that where the County 
Council so approves the rate may be increased to an amount not 
exceeding the actual cost of hiring. 

1.7   Miscellaneous expenses 

Actual expenditure on tolls, ferries and parking fees 

Where possible, receipts should be obtained 

(b) Subsistence Allowances 

When attending meetings of the Council or of other bodies, for which Members are 
entitled to claim travel and subsistence costs, reasonable subsistence costs will be 
reimbursed (on presentation of receipts) if the meeting started or finished between 
12.30 and 14.30 and no food was provided. 

No subsistence costs will be reimbursed in relation to attendance at meetings within 
the Shire Hall complex. 

(c) Carers’ Allowance 

A Member may claim a carer's allowance where he or she has incurred expenditure on 
engaging a carer for a dependant in order to attend a ‘designated’ meeting and/or carry 
out approved duties, subject to the following: 

 For an allowance to be payable the dependant being cared for needs to 
be in one of the following groups: 

 A child under 14 years of age; 
 An elderly person;
 A person with a physical or mental disability; 
 A person with a learning disability;  

Page 105



Issue No.26 –July 2016 
P a g e  | 220 

 and live with the Member as part of the Members family and is unable to 
be left unsupervised. 

  A carer (i.e., the person being paid to act as carer while the Member is 
carrying out his or her County Council duties) is defined as someone who 
does not normally live with the Member as part of the Members family and 
is not part of the extended family. 

 Subject to the above, Carers Allowance claims can be made for the actual 
cost of providing dependent care, with no maximum amount, subject to 
appropriate auditing procedures being carried out. 

 The claim should be included on the standard County Councillors claim 
form, with a receipt from the carer attached (see Section 4 below). 

The Inland Revenue view the payment of carers’ costs as a taxable 
benefit, so any payments will be subject to tax. 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION (LGA)  

County Councillors who are appointed to serve on the LGA or any of its Committees can claim 
for mileage/subsistence/fares for attending meetings of those forums.  

4. HOW DO I CLAIM?

There is no need to claim basic and special responsibility allowances; these will be
paid automatically each month.

Claims for travelling and subsistence expenses should be claimed monthly with all
receipts attached.  There is a three month time limit on expense claims being
presented, with any claims submitted outside of that time limit, not being paid unless
agreed by the Chief Executive that the delay was for good reason.

Claim forms in respect of the allowances payable under Section 3 above are available
from Democratic Services..

Claims should be submitted promptly after the end of each month otherwise payment
may be delayed. Information on payroll deadlines is available from Democratic
Services.

(a) RECOVERY OF VAT ON SOME COUNTY COUNCILLORS’ EXPENSES 

HM Revenue & Customs have advised us that the VAT element of some types of 
County Councillors’ expenses can now be recovered by the County Council. VAT can 
be reclaimed where the full cost of expenses are being reimbursed. 

The following is a list of the most likely types of expenses where VAT could be 
reclaimed: 

Page 106



Issue No.26 –July 2016 
P a g e  | 221 

 Hotel accommodation and sundries; 
 Full cost of meals, e.g. on trains; 
 Car parking and tolls; 
 Taxi fares (if driver is VAT registered). 

To enable the County Council to recover the VAT, please obtain a VAT receipt/invoice, 
either made out to GCC or in your name and attach it to your monthly expenses claim 
form.  

(b) INCOME TAX 

At the end of the tax year, the Director: Strategic Finance has to notify the Inspector of 
Taxes of the amounts paid during the tax year and a form P60 will be issued to each 
Member showing details of the information given to the Inspector.  When a Member 
ceases to hold office, a form P45 is issued to the Member, a copy of which is sent to 
the Inspector. 

As part of the Self Assessment arrangements for income tax the Inland Revenue do 
expect individuals to keep records of pay/allowances received and receipts for 
expenses, which should be obtained wherever possible.  

(c) NATIONAL INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS 

1. Irrespective of any involvement in other employment or office, contributions will be
payable at the appropriate current rate.

2. Contributions are to be calculated by reference to the total gross earnings used for tax
purposes paid in each pay period, irrespective of the period in which they are earned or
relate.  The pay period for this purpose will be one calendar month.

4. Members that are over State Pension age, currently 60 for women and 65 for men, do
not have to pay employee’s contributions. In order for the County Council not to deduct
National Insurance, from the Members Allowance, the Member must provide a
Certificate of Age Exception. This certificate can be obtained by applying to the
National Insurance Contributions Office, a department of HM Revenue & Customs.

5. At the end of the tax year the Director: Strategic Finance has to notify HM Revenue &
Customs of the amounts of National Insurance deducted during the year. This will be
reported along with the income tax deducted (see 4b above). It will also be included on
form P60, with the deductions of tax that will be issued to each Member.

(d) SOCIAL SECURITY BENEFITS

H M Revenue & Customs will regard "Member allowances" as a gain from employment.
It is important, therefore, that a Member in receipt of any State Benefits (e.g. Job
Seekers Allowance or Disability Working Allowance) should inform the payer of the
benefits irrespective of whether or not he or she claims the allowances payable by the
County Council.

Page 107



Issue No.26 –July 2016 
P a g e  | 222 

5. RENUNCIATION AND WITHHOLDING ALLOWANCES

5.1 A Member who is a County Councillor may by notice in writing to the Director: Strategic
Finance elect to forego all or any part of his or her entitlement to a basic or special
responsibility allowance.

The election may be for an amount, which the Member can then require to be paid to a
charity (or charities) under the "give as you earn" scheme. There is now no maximum
limit which can be paid to charity.

6. ALLOWANCES FOR NON-ELECTED MEMBERS

Non-elected representatives who are co-opted onto the Council committees may claim
travel subsistence and carers’ allowances in the same way as elected members of the
County Council. This includes but is not restricted to members of the Independent
Remuneration Panel (IRP), the Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel and
Independent Persons (Standards).

In light of the time commitment required of members of the IRP, the following payments
will be made on an annual basis:
Chair of the IRP - £1,000
Members of the IRP - £250

These payments will be reviewed as necessary to ensure that they continue to reflect
the demands of the role.

7. FURTHER INFORMATION

Please contact Democratic Services at Shire Hall.

Page 108



Issue No.26 –July 2016
P a g e  | 217

3. OTHER ALLOWANCES PAYABLE BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL FOR PERFORMING 
APPROVED DUTIES: 

[Note 1: Regulation 8 of the Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England)
Regulations 2003 states that payment of travel and subsistence can only
be made for attendance at meetings within one or more of the following
categories:

(a) The attendance at a meeting of the Authority or of any
committee or sub-committee of the Authority, or of any other
body to which the Authority makes appointments or
nominations, or of any committee or sub-committee of such a
body;

(b) The attendance at any other meeting, the holding of which is
authorised by the Authority, or a committee or sub-committee
of the authority, or a joint committee of the Authority and one
or more Local Authority within the meaning of Section 270(1)
of the Local Government Act 1972, or a sub-committee of
such a joint committee provided that:

(i) Where the Authority is divided into two or more political
groups it is a meeting to which Members of at least two
such groups have been invited; or

(ii) If the Authority is not so divided, it is a meeting to
which at least two Members of the Authority have been
invited;

(c) The attendance at a meeting of any association of authorities
of which the Authority is a member;

(d) The attendance at a meeting of the executive or a meeting of
any of its committees, where the Authority is operating
executive arrangements;

(e) The performance of any duty in pursuance of any Standing
Order made under Section 135 of the Local Government Act
1972 requiring a Member or Members to be present while
tender documents are opened;

(f) The performance of any duty in connection with the discharge
of any function of the Authority conferred by or under any
enactment and empowering or requiring the Authority to
inspect or authorize the inspection of premises;

Annex B

Page 109

mpidgeon_10
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_11
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_12
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_13
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_14
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_15
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_16
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_17
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_18
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_19
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_20
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_21
Typewritten Text

mpidgeon_22
Typewritten Text



Issue No.26 –July 2016
P a g e  | 218

(g) The performance of any duty in connection with arrangements
made by the Authority for the attendance of pupils at any
school approved for the purposes of Section 342 (approval of
non-maintained special schools) of the Education Act 1996;
and

(h) The carrying out of any other duty approved by the Authority,
or the Chief Executive acting under delegated powers any
duty of a class so approved, for the purpose of, or in
connection with, the discharge of the functions of the Authority
or of any of its committees or sub-committees.

Note 2: Members’ homes are regarded as their work base for the purpose of 
claims and a specified number of visits to Shire Hall each year for
“contact” purposes should be regarded as an “approved duty” for the
purposes of travel claims. Further advice will be issued from time to time
listing activities for which travel and subsistence may be claimed.

Note 3: County Council has resolved that a travel allowance may be payable to
County Councillors on journeys to and from parish and town council
meetings within their division with effect from 19th June 2013. This should
apply to full town or parish council meetings only and the County
Councillor should not be a member of that particular parish or town
council.

(a) Travelling 

1.1 By Public Transport Services 

The actual fares paid supported by receipts. Members should be
reimbursed for the actual cost of a rail ticket up to the cost of an open
standard return. Train tickets can be arranged through Democratic
Services (Tel: (01452) 426946/425230).

Actual expenditure (receipts should be provided) incurred on:

(a) Reservation of seats;
(b) Porterage of baggage;
(c) Sleeping accommodation on an overnight journey.

1.2 Taxi-cabs 

Taxi-cab fares (including a reasonable gratuity) may be paid in cases of
urgency or when no public service is reasonably available.  Receipts
should be provided.

1.3 Member's Private Motor Vehicles 

The rates of allowance shall be in accordance with the HMRC authorised
mileage allowance rate.

Page 110



Issue No.26 –July 2016
P a g e  | 219

1.4 Bicycles 

An allowance of 20p per mile (all mileage) is payable on condition the
bicycle is roadworthy, the rider wears protective headgear, appropriate
high visibility clothing and has third party insurance.

1.5 Motor Cycles 

24p per mile (all mileage)

1.6 Hired Cars 

The rate for travel by a hired motor car vehicle other than a taxi cab shall
not exceed the rate which would have been applicable had the vehicle
belonged to the Member who hired it, provided that where the County
Council so approves the rate may be increased to an amount not
exceeding the actual cost of hiring.

1.7 Miscellaneous expenses 

Actual expenditure on tolls, ferries and parking fees

Where possible, receipts should be obtained

(b) Subsistence Allowances 

When attending meetings of the Council or of other bodies, for which Members are
entitled to claim travel and subsistence costs, reasonable subsistence costs will be
reimbursed (on presentation of receipts) if the meeting started or finished between
12.30 and 14.30 and no food was provided.

No subsistence costs will be reimbursed in relation to attendance at meetings within
the Shire Hall complex.

(c) Carers’ Allowance 

A Member may claim a carer's allowance where he or she has incurred expenditure on
engaging a carer for a dependant in order to attend a ‘designated’ meeting and/or carry 
out approved duties, subject to the following:

 For an allowance to be payable the dependant being cared for needs to
be in one of the following groups:

 A child under 14 years of age;

 An elderly person;

 A person with a physical or mental disability;

 A person with a learning disability;

Page 111



Issue No.26 –July 2016
P a g e  | 220

and live with the Member as part of the Members family and is unable to
be left unsupervised.

 A carer (i.e., the person being paid to act as carer while the Member is
carrying out his or her County Council duties) is defined as someone who
does not normally live with the Member as part of the Members family and
is not part of the extended family.

 Subject to the above, Carers Allowance claims can be made for the actual
cost of providing dependent care, with no maximum amount, subject to
appropriate auditing procedures being carried out.

 The claim should be included on the standard County Councillors claim
form, with a receipt from the carer attached (see Section 4 below).

The Inland Revenue view the payment of carers’ costs as a taxable
benefit, so any payments will be subject to tax.

(d) Co-Optees’ Allowances 

The co-optees’ allowance is £90 per day and £45.00 for a meeting under four hours 
duration.  The maximum annual allowance is based on 12 meetings per annum.  Co-
optees can claim on the basis of actual requirement of their particular Committee up to 
its maximum. 

Ad-hoc allowances for special circumstances are not paid to Councillors or co-optees 
whose workload is greater than normal over either a short or long period. 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION (LGA) 

County Councillors who are appointed to serve on the LGA or any of its Committees can claim
for mileage/subsistence/fares for attending meetings of those forums.

4. HOW DO I CLAIM? 

There is no need to claim basic and special responsibility allowances; these will be
paid automatically each month.

Claims for travelling and subsistence expenses should be claimed made monthly with
all receipts attached.  There is a three month time limit on expense claims being
presented, with any claims submitted outside of that time limit, not being paid unless
agreed by the Chief Executive that the delay was for good reason.

Claim forms in respect of the allowances payable under Section 3 above are available
from either Payments and Income Section (01452) 425909 or Democratic Services
(01452) 425479.

Claims should be submitted promptly after the end of each month otherwise payment
may be delayed.  Information on payroll deadlines is available from Democratic
Services. If the completed form is returned to the Payments and Income Section by the
7th of the month, payment will be made on the 30th or the last working day of the month
(whichever is the earlier).  This applies to all months of the year including December.  If

Page 112



Issue No.26 –July 2016
P a g e  | 221

returned later, then payment will not be made until the last working day of the following
month.  Members are requested to submit their claims monthly.

Claims for the reimbursement of expenses incurred by non-
County Councillors in attending meetings convened by the Authority should be 
made to the appropriate County Council Department; the Democratic Support 
Unit can advise on this point. 

(a) RECOVERY OF VAT ON SOME COUNTY COUNCILLORS’ EXPENSES 

HM Revenue & Customs have advised us that the VAT element of some types of
County Councillors’ expenses can now be recovered by the County Council. VAT can
be reclaimed where the full cost of expenses are being reimbursed.

The following is a list of the most likely types of expenses where VAT could be
reclaimed:

 Hotel accommodation and sundries;

 Full cost of meals, e.g. on trains;

 Car parking and tolls;

 Taxi fares (if driver is VAT registered).

To enable the County Council to recover the VAT, please obtain a VAT receipt/invoice,
either made out to GCC or in your name and attach it to your monthly expenses claim
form.

(b) INCOME TAX 

At the end of the tax year, the Director: Strategic Finance has to notify the Inspector of
Taxes of the amounts paid during the tax year and a form P60 will be issued to each
Member showing details of the information given to the Inspector.  When a Member
ceases to hold office, a form P45 is issued to the Member, a copy of which is sent to
the Inspector.

As part of the Self Assessment arrangements for income tax the Inland Revenue do
expect individuals to keep records of pay/allowances received and receipts for
expenses, which should be obtained wherever possible.

(c) NATIONAL INSURANCE CONTRIBUTIONS 

1. Irrespective of any involvement in other employment or office, contributions will be
payable at the appropriate current rate.

2. Contributions are to be calculated by reference to the total gross earnings used for tax
purposes paid in each pay period, irrespective of the period in which they are earned or
relate.  The pay period for this purpose will be one calendar month.

3. The essential feature in accounting for National Insurance contributions (and PAYE) is
the National Insurance number.  Would new Members please therefore include their
number with their first claim?

Page 113



Issue No.26 –July 2016
P a g e  | 222

4. Members that are over State Pension age, currently 60 for women and 65 for men, do
not have to pay employee’s contributions. In order for the County Council not to deduct
National Insurance, from the Members Allowance, the Member must provide a
Certificate of Age Exception. This certificate can be obtained by applying to the
National Insurance Contributions Office, a department of HM Revenue & Customs.

5. At the end of the tax year the Director: Strategic Finance has to notify HM Revenue &
Customs of the amounts of National Insurance deducted during the year. This will be
reported along with the income tax deducted (see 4b above). It will also be included on
form P60, with the deductions of tax that will be issued to each Member.

(d) SOCIAL SECURITY BENEFITS

H M Revenue & Customs will regard "Member allowances" as a gain from employment.
It is important, therefore, that a Member in receipt of any State Benefits (e.g. Job
Seekers Allowance or Disability Working Allowance) should inform the payer of the
benefits irrespective of whether or not he or she claims the allowances payable by the
County Council.

The Department of the Environment has issued guidance on County Councillors'
allowances, tax and Social Security benefits.  For further information please contact the
Payments and Income Section (01452) 425940.

5. RENUNCIATION AND WITHHOLDING ALLOWANCES 

5.1 A Member who is a County Councillor may by notice in writing to the Director: Strategic
Finance elect to forego all or any part of his or her entitlement to a basic or special
responsibility allowance.

The election may be for an amount, which the Member can then require to be paid to a
charity (or charities) under the "give as you earn" scheme. There is now no maximum
limit which can be paid to charity.

6. FINANCIAL LOSS ALLOWANCE AND NON-ELECTED MEMBERS OF COMMITTEES
AND SUB-COMMITTEES 

Non-elected persons serving on any body of the County Council may claim a
financial loss allowance when, as a result of performing any approved duty set out in Annex 1,
they suffer:

 Loss of earnings or benefit under the National Insurance Act 1965 which she/he would
otherwise have suffered; or

 Additional expense (other than expense in respect of travelling or subsistence) to which
she/he would not otherwise have been subject.

The amount of the allowance, in respect of any one period of twenty four hours, is the
actual loss incurred, not exceeding:

 When the period of time during which earnings are lost or additional expense incurred is not
more than four hours, the sum of £27.65.

Page 114



Issue No.26 –July 2016
P a g e  | 223

 When the period of time involved is more than four hours the sum of £55.31.

7. ALLOWANCES FOR NON-ELECTED REIMBURSING EXPENSES FOR NON-COUNTY 
COUNCILLORS 

Non-elected representatives who are co-opted onto Council committees may claim
travel subsistence and carers’ allowances in the same way as elected members of the
County Council.  This includes but is not restricted to members of the Independent
Remuneration Panel (IRP), the Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel and
Independent Persons (Standards).

In light of the time commitment required of members of the IRP, the following
payments will be made on an annual basis:
Chair of the IRP - £1,000
Members of the IRP - £250

Arising from the review of the decision making process and the Council's
decision to involve "other" people in policy formulation and performance
review, the Council has agreed to reimburse the expenses incurred by
non-County Councillors in attending meetings.

The basic framework within which this policy operates is as follows: 

 The Council will meet the out-of-pocket expenses incurred by those 
individuals invited to attend and participate in meetings convened by the 
Authority; 

 These expenses will relate to travelling, subsistence and caring (e.g. 
child-minding and home care support) costs - Please Note, the rules for 
claiming the cost of carers for Non County Councillors will be the same as 
those applying to County Councillors, (see Section 4(c) of this guide); 

 These expenses are met from within individual departmental budgets; 

 Claims/payments are administered by individual departments (as 
appropriate) in accordance with these general principles; 

 Individuals will be paid at the same rate per mile for using their own motor 
vehicle within the County as County Councillors (or the cost involved in 
using public transport); 

 Where deemed appropriate a subsistence payment of £2.50 may be 
made in respect of meetings exceeding four hours and the duty is more 
than three miles from their home; 

 Where appropriate caring and travel expenses may be reimbursed, based on the actual 
costs incurred (up to a maximum of £25.00 a day for caring costs) and on 
production of appropriate receipts or other evidence of expenditure, (also 
see Section 3(c) of this guide). 

This scheme applies where no other arrangements have been made, but any other
scheme must not exceed the rates applying to County Councillors.

8. FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT POINTS 

Please contact Democratic Services at Shire Hall.

Page 115



Issue No.26 –July 2016
P a g e  | 224

 General queries regarding claims' procedures, Payments and Income
Section (01452) 425712;

 Income Tax, National Insurance, Social Security, etc, Payroll Services
(01452) 425909;

 Queries regarding “approved duties”, Democratic Services (01452)
425011;

 Rail tickets, Democratic Services (01452) 425479/426946.

Page 116



Issue No.26 –July 2016
P a g e  | 225

APPROVED DUTIES FOR THE PURPOSE OF THE PAYMENT OF TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE 
ALLOWANCES UNDER REGULATION 8 OF THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (MEMBERS' 
ALLOWANCES) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2003

Attendance at meetings (including Committees and Sub-Committees) of the following 
outside bodies to which the Member has been appointed by the Council: 

Berkeley and Oldbury Nuclear Power Station Local Community Liaison Committee 
Cotswold Canals Project Board 
Cotswold Water Park Joint Committee 
County Council Network (CCN) 
Cross Boundary Issues Member Group 
Gloucestershire Airport Consultative Committee 
Gloscat Board of Governors 
Gloucestershire Everyman Theatre Company 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Council of Governors 
Gloucestershire Local Access Forum 
Gloucestershire Police Authority 
GlosREC 
Gloucestershire Rural Community Council 
Gloucester United Schools 
Hester’s Way Partnership 
Local Government Association (General Assembly) 
Wessex Regional Flood and Coastal Committee 
Road Safety Liaison Groups 
Severn Estuary Partnership 
South West Councils 
Standing Advisory Committee on Religious Education (SACRE) 

Note:South West Regional Assembly and Local Government Association committee 
membership (whether or not appointed by the Council or Cabinet), through “top up” 
arrangements may also give rise to entitlement to travel and subsistence allowances 

Attendance at meetings (including Committees and Sub-Committees) of the following 
outside bodies to which the Member has been appointed by the Cabinet: 

2gether NHS Foundation Trust 
Children & Young People’s Strategic Partnership 
Coalfield Regeneration Board 
Cotswold Conservation Board 
Cotswold & Forest of Dean Destination Management Organisation Board 
Crime and Disorder District Partnerships 
Furniture Recycling Project (Gloucester) 
Gloucester Food Links Limited 
Gloucester Urban Regeneration Company Board 
Gloucestershire Electronic Partnership 
Gloucestershire Environment Partnership 
Gloucestershire First 
Glos Infrastructure Group (FOLDA) 
Gloucestershire Health and Community Wellbeing Partnership 

Page 117



Issue No.26 –July 2016
P a g e  | 226

Gloucestershire Learning Partnership 
Gloucestershire LGA 
Gloucestershire Playing Fields Association 
Gloucestershire Safe and Stronger Communities Partnership 
Gloucestershire Strategic Partnership & Accountable Body Group 
Joint Improvement Board 
Local Access Forum 
LGA Fire Service Forum 
LGA (Rural Commission) 
LGA (Urban Commission) 
Local Government Flood Forum 
Local Strategic Partnerships 
South West Provincial Council 
South West Regional Coordination of Trading Standards 
South West Regional Executive Board Asylum Seekers/Refugees 
South West Tourism 
South West UK Brussels Office Management Board 
Supporting People Partnership Board under Cabinet 
The Sedbury Trust 
Traffic Penalty Tribunal 
University of Gloucestershire 
Victoria County History Board 
Wessex Reserve Forces & Cadets Association 

Further duties may be approved by the Chief Executive (acting under delegated 
powers) but to claim travelling and subsistence the duty must have been approved in 
advance of the duty being performed. 

Page 118



October 2016 1 

GHWB Terms of Reference 

In accordance with the requirements of the Health & Social Care Act 2012 (“the Act”) 

the Council has established the Health and Wellbeing Board as a committee of the 

Council. Its duties/terms of reference are: 

1. For the purpose of advancing the health and wellbeing of the people of 
Gloucestershire to encourage persons who arrange for the provision or 
delivery of any health or social care services in the county to work in an 
integrated manner 

2. To encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social 
care services in the county and persons who arrange for the provision or 
delivery of any health-related services in the county to work closely together. 

3. Pursuant to section 116 of the Local government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007 to prepare and publish a joint strategic needs assessment for 
the county 

4. To prepare and publish a strategy for meeting the needs identified in the joint 
strategic needs assessment and ensuring a strategic planning framework is in 
place 

5. To provide such advice, assistance or other support as it thinks appropriate for 
the purpose of encouraging the making of arrangements under section 75 of 
the National Health Service Act 2006 in connection with the provision of such 
services 

6. To encourage persons who arrange for the provision or delivery of any health-
related services in the county to work closely with the Board 

Membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board comprises: 

 

 Chair of Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire

 Additional Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire member

 Accountable Officer of Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire

 A District Council elected representative from Leadership Gloucestershire

 County Council Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing,

Gloucestershire County Council (or equivalent)

 County Council Cabinet Member for Vulnerable Families, Gloucestershire

County Council (or equivalent)

 County Council Liberal Democratic Spokesperson for Public Health and

Communities

Annex C

Page 119



October 2016 2 

 County Council Labour Spokesperson for Public Health and Communities

 The Director of Adult Social Services, Gloucestershire County Council

 The Director of Children’s Services, Gloucestershire County Council

 Police and Crime Commissioner

 The Director of Public Health, Gloucestershire County Council

 A representative of the local HealthWatch

 A representative of the NHS Commissioning Board  Local Area Team

 A District Council Chief Officer and link for housing related business

 Chair of Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust

 Chair of 2gether NHS Foundation trust

 Chair of Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

 Chief Constable of Gloucestershire

Note 1: Political proportionality will not be applied 

Note 2:  Voting – Individual members of the Board shall be non-voting. Instead each 

member organisation or group of organisations will have one vote. The nominee of 

each organisation must be present to vote.  There will be no absence voting 

provision. The Chair will have the casting vote. 

Voting organisations are: 

 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, Gloucestershire Care

Services NHS Trust, Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundations Trust

and 2gether NHS Foundation Trust

 Gloucestershire County Council

 HealthWatch

 District Councils (one vote for all six)

 NHS England

 PCC and Gloucestershire Constabulary

Note 3:  For the purpose of enabling it to carry out its functions the Health and 

Wellbeing Board may request the Council, the Local Healthwatch, the Clinical 

Commissioning Group or other member of the Board to supply it with information 

specified in the request. 

Note 4: Terms of Office – Each term of office will run for the term of the County 

Council unless a member organisation advises otherwise.  

Note 5: Substitutions: There will be no substitutions, if an organisation is unable to 

send its representative a named substitute may be nominated for that meeting only. 

Notice of this shall be given by the absent Board member to the committee 

administrator in advance of the meeting.  Ideally a weeks’ notice shall be given to 

allow all Board members to be advised of the substitution. Procedural Standing 

Page 120



October 2016 3 

Order 4 shall not apply. 

Note 6: Quorum: The quorum for meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board is that 

one quarter of the membership be present and at least 4 be voting member 

organisations. 

Page 121



Annex D

Page 122



1 

Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

CODE OF CONDUCT 
INCLUDES AND CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING PROCEDURE 
(WHISTLE-BLOWING) FOR EMPLOYEES OTHER THAN FOR 
STAFF IN EDUCATIONAL ESTABLISHMENTS (FOR WHOM A 
SEPARATE CODE EXISTS)  

1. This Code also applies to  all people working within or on behalf of  the County
Council regardless of the contractual basis of the  engagement, including:-

 Direct employment by the council under a contract of employment

 Secondments (both to and from the County Council);

 Temporary assignments (both to and from the County Council), including
Agency Workers, employees engaged through the council’s Temporary Staff
Service, Work Placements, Apprentices and Trainees;

 Office holders

 Employees acting on behalf of the council as members of companies or
voluntary organisations.

References to “employee” and “staff” throughout this Code are taken to include all of 
the above categories and any similar analogous working arrangements. 

The Code also extends to additional and dual employment that has been secured as 
a result of working for local government. 

Inevitably some of the issues covered by the Code will affect senior, managerial and 
professional employees more than others; – but the basic principles apply to 
everyone. 

INTRODUCTION 

2. The purpose of this Code is to give all employees guidance on how the County
Council and the public in general expect them to behave. If the Code is followed then
staff should not find themselves in a situation where their conduct could create an
impression of conflict of interest or corruption in the minds of the public. If staff are
unsure of the standards expected of them guidance should be sought from their
Director Chief Officer or, in the case of Directors Chief Officers, the Chief Executive.

3. The areas covered by this Code are as follows:

 Standards;

 Personal Appearance;

Page 123



 

2 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

 Use of the Council’s Facilities and Equipment; 

 Fraud and Corruption; 

 Gifts, Hospitality and Sponsorship; 

 Register of Gifts and Hospitality; 

 Disclosure and Use of Information; 

 Political Neutrality; 

 Relationships; 

 Appointments and Other Employment Matters; 

 Undertaking Additional Outside Work; 

 Arrest or Conviction on Civil or Criminal Charges; 

 Membership of Clubs, Societies and other Organisations; 

 Equality Issues; 

 Health and Safety Issues; 

 Confidential Reporting Procedure (Whistle-blowing); 

 Breaches of the Code of Conduct. 

 Confidential Reporting Procedure (Whistle-blowing); 

  
 
STANDARDS 
 

4. Employees are expected to give the highest possible standard of service to the 
public and to provide advice to Councillors and fellow employees with impartiality. 
The highest standard of probity must apply and employees must report any 
suspected unlawfulness, mal-administration, impropriety or breach of procedure of 
which they are aware to their DirectorChief Officer. (See also paragraph 91 86 and 
Appendix 1 of this Code). 
 

5. The Council, for its part, considers it has a duty to protect employees against 
unjustified allegations of wrong doing. 
 
PERSONAL APPEARANCE 
 

6. Although the Council has not adopted a formal dress code it does expect employees 
to observe a standard of personal hygiene and appearance which is appropriate to 
the nature of the work undertaken. 
 
USE OF THE COUNCIL’S FACILITIES AND EQUIPMENT 
 

7.  Employees must exercise reasonable care and skill in their use of the Council’s 
facilities and equipment.; and Tthe Council is entitled to expect at least the same 
standard of care of its property as employees give to their own property. Any 
facilities, property or equipment provided by the Council should only be used in 
connection with official duties except where the Council has agreed to private use. 
There are arrangements for the use of some services for private purposes on the 
payment of approved charges e.g. private telephone calls and photocopies, etc. You 
should always ensure that there is either general or specific agreement to private 
use of any facility or equipment. 
 
 

Page 124



 

3 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

8. When an employee ceases working for the Council all paper and electronic records 
(and copies), equipment and any other property of the Council must be returned.  
 
FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 
 
Culture of the Organisation 
 

9. Although the Council believes that Members, employees and organisations 
associated with the Council will act with honesty and integrity it recognises that 
occasionally this will not be the case. The Council’s culture is one of honesty and 
zero tolerance in respect of fraud and corruption. 
 

10. Employees must make themselves aware of  and comply with the following key 
documents which set out various standards of behaviour and procedures which must 
be adopted in addition to those mentioned in this Code:- 

 

 Financial Regulations/Accounting Instructions; 

 Powers of Committees and Officers; 

 Information Management and Security policies, procedures and standards; 

 Standing Orders; 

 Staffnet Procurement Guidance 

 Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy & Strategy 

 Employee Handbook and 

 Social Media Policy. 
 

11. Employees must use public funds entrusted to them in a responsible and lawful 
manner and ensure that value for money is achieved. They must comply at all times 
with the Council’s Financial Regulations, Contract Standing Orders and associated 
Accounting Instructions. 
 

12. It is a criminal offence for employees to give or receive any gift, loan, fee, reward or 
advantage for doing, or not doing anything, or showing favour or disfavour to any 
person, company or contractor, with a corrupt intention. If an allegation is made it is 
for the employee to demonstrate that any rewards received have not been corruptly 
obtained. 
 

13. Although there may be no corruptive intention in the act of giving or receiving of gifts, 
etc it is important to avoid any grounds for suspicion of corruption. For example, 
where contracts are being negotiated employees should not negotiate with a 
potential contractor, supplier or purchaser (of land for example) on a one -to- one 
basis. All steps in the contract negotiations should be recorded and in accordance 
with the Council’s Cconstitution and scheme of delegation.   Standing Orders, 
Financial Regulations, the Procurement Guidance and the policies of the Council 
must always be followed; an adequate audit trail must be maintained. 
 

14. The Council recognises that a key preventative measure in the fight against fraud 
and corruption is to take effective steps at the recruitment stage to establish the 
previous record of potential employees in terms of their propriety and integrity. 
Employees responsible for applying the Council’s recruitment procedures should 
ensure that they are followed in respect of all appointments and that written 

Page 125



 

4 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

references are obtained regarding known honesty and integrity. (See also paragraph 
68-7270-74). 
 
Personal Interests 
 

15. Any personal interests, financial or otherwise, must be registered (see paragraph 19) 
when they could reasonably be deemed to potentially conflict with any work 
undertaken by employees in the course of their duties. The Chief Executive and 
each Director Chief Officer will be responsible for ensuring that their personal 
interests are registered in accordance with this Code and that all of their employees 
are aware of the need to register personal interests. In certain circumstances even 
though a conflict of interest is not anticipated (e.g. acting as a School Governor, 
involvement with an organisation receiving grant aid from the Council, involvement 
with an organisation or pressure group which may seek to influence the  Council’s 
policies) employees should register their interests. 
 

16. Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires all employees to give written 
notice of any contract or proposed contract in which the Council is involved and in 
which the employee has a financial interest (either direct or indirect) as soon as the 
employee becomes aware of it. Failure to declare an interest is a criminal offence 
and may result in prosecution. 
 

17. A direct financial interest arises where an employee or their partner, family member 
or close friend has a financial interest in a contract or proposed contract whether to 
their advantage or disadvantage, in which the Council is involved. An indirect 
financial interest may arise where an employee or their nominee or employee’s 
partner holds securities or shares in a company, which exceed £5,000 or 1/100th of 
the nominal issued share capital of a company which has a direct financial interest, 
whichever is the lesser amount. 
 

18. A non-financial interest may occur when an employee or their partner, family 
member or close friend has membership or association in a company, society, club 
or other body, trade union or voluntary body, or is employed by another person or 
company which has direct financial interests in any matter which is the subject of 
discussions/negotiations with the Council. 
 

19. Details of interests must be made in writing and sent to the Monitoring Officer who 
will record it in a register and acknowledge receipt of the declaration. Employees 
should ensure that they receive an acknowledgement back from the Monitoring 
Officer.  The declaration must be made as soon as the employee is aware of the 
interest and/or the contract or proposed contract to which the interest relates. All 
contracts or proposed contracts are covered by this requirement, including contracts 
for the regular supply of goods and services. 
 

20. Employees with a financial or non-financial interest in any matter should not only 
declare that interest but also seek to distance themselves from involvement in that 
matter. Employees must be open and up front about their interest in all associated 
dealings. In particular, any such interest must be stated at meetings, whether 
Council meetings or other meetings, public or private. Notes taken at the time should 
be placed in the appropriate file concerning the interest(s) and how it has been 
handled. 

Page 126



 

5 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

 
21. Employees involved in the award or management of contracts shall declare in writing 

to their Director Chief Officer (or in the case of Directors Chief Officers, the Chief 
Executive) any association or friendship with any contractor and should take no part 
in  a tender process involving the contractor without written approval. Any employees 
engaged in the consideration or determination of any application for any contract, 
permission, grant, approval or consent must declare to the Director Chief Officer (or 
in the case of Director Chief Officers, the Chief Executive) any association with any 
person or body who is an applicant in the field of work in which that employee is 
engaged. 
 

22. A Director Chief Officer (or in the case of Directors Chief Officers, the Chief 
Executive) to whom any such interest, association or friendship is declared shall 
consider whether to take steps to ensure the employee concerned is not placed in a 
position where private interests and official duties may conflict. 
 
Rules Governing Purchasing by Employees 
 

23. Employees must follow Financial Regulations, Standing Orders, the Council’s 
procurement and contract management guidance and Accounting Instructions 
whenever any goods or services are purchased.  

 
24. Employees may not order, in the name of the Council, equipment or goods, whether 

with a discount or not, from official Council suppliers for their own personal use even 
if the cost is reimbursed in full to the Council. 
 

25. Employees undertaking procurement or contract management activities should 
ensure they have the necessary skills and knowledge to do so or should seek 
appropriate advice and support from the Commercial Service.  
 
Separation of Roles during Tendering 
 

26. Employees involved in the tendering process and dealing with contractors should 
understand the separation of client and contractor roles within the Council. Senior 
employees who have both client and contractor responsibilities must be aware of the 
need for accountability and openness. 
 

27. Employees who are privy to confidential information in respect of tenders or costs for 
either internal or external contractors must not disclose that information to any 
unauthorised person or organisation or use it for any unauthorised purposes. 
 

28. Employees should ensure that no special favour is shown to current or recent former 
employees or their partners, close relatives or associates in awarding contracts to 
businesses run by them or employing them in a senior or relevant managerial 
capacity. 
 

29. Employees must not use their position and knowledge of the Council to gain access 
to and provide information which puts a particular contractor or anyone else in a 
better position than any other contractor tendering to undertake work or to provide 
services or supplies. 
 

Page 127



 

6 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

Reporting a Concern 
 

30. “Whistleblowing” by employees of the Council is fully supported and encouraged. 
Where concerns arise these should be brought to the attention of management at all 
times. In Appendix 1 of this Code a procedure is described for employees who wish 
to report serious concerns relating to any suspicions or allegations of fraud and 
corruption or any mal-practice or maladministration. 
 
Investigation 
 

31. Allegations and concerns relating to fraud or corruption will normally be investigated 
by the Head of Internal Audit and a report issued to the Chief Executive, the 
Monitoring Officer and the Director: Strategic Finance (s.151 Officer). 
 

32. The Director: Strategic Finance in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, will then 
decide whether there are sufficient grounds for the matter to be reported to the 
Police. The Chief Executive is also to be informed of any (potential) referrals. The 
Council will normally wish the Police to be made aware of, and investigate 
independently, offences where financial impropriety appears to have been 
discovered. 
 

33. The Council’s Disciplinary and Dismissal Procedure () will be used where the 
outcome of an audit investigation indicates improper behaviour or other misconduct 
by an employee. 
 
GIFTS, PRIZES HOSPITALITY AND SPONSORSHIP 
 

34. Any offers of gifts, prizes hospitality or sponsorship should be recorded in the 
Council’s Gifts & Hospitality Register held by each Director Chief Officer or, in the 
case of Directors Chief Officers the Chief Executive. The register must include all 
offers of gifts, etc whether accepted or declined. Advice/permission should be sought 
from the Directors Chief Officer before any gift, hospitality or sponsorship is 
accepted. (see paragraph 51 below).  When in doubt the employee should always 
refuse such gifts. 
 

35. An employee should not personally receive a gift, prize, hospitality or sponsorship 
that: 

 

 could compromise their judgment 

 could appear to be a conflict of interest 

 could damage relationship with others; or 

 could indicate any favoritism or prejudice in relation to any particular person or 
group of people 

 
36. When hospitality, prizes or gifts have to be declined, the person making the offer 

should be informed of the procedures and standards operating within the Council, in 
relation to gifts, prizes, hospitality and sponsorship. 
 
 
 
 

Page 128



 

7 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

Gifts (including bequests) 
 

37. Gifts offered by persons who are providing, or seeking to provide, goods or services 
to the Council, or who are seeking decisions from the Council, should be refused and 
returned, as should gifts (other than those of a trivial nature e.g. calendars, diaries, 
desk sets) offered by those receiving services from the Council. 
 

38. In all cases relating to the receipt of gifts it is wise to err on the side of caution: an 
obviously expensive gift must be tactfully declined or, if appropriate, donated to the 
Council for official use, and the Director Chief Officer or Chief Executive should be 
advised of the action taken. If a gift is simply delivered it must be returned to the 
donor or, if appropriate, be donated to the Council for official use, and the Director 
Chief Officer or Chief Executive must be advised of the action taken. All such gifts 
must be registered in accordance with paragraph 52 of this Code. 
 

39. On occasions an employee may become a beneficiary of a will of a service user; this 
may be the way a service user wishes to express gratitude for the service he or she 
has received. 
 

40. Those teams/services which provide personal services to service users have written 
policies concerning the receipt of bequests by employees. – Ssuch policies have 
been drawn up to protect the interests of both service users and members of staff. 
Staff should ensure that they have read and comply with such policies. 
 
Hospitality 
 

41. Employees may only accept offers of hospitality if there is a genuine need to 
exchange information or represent the Council in the community. Offers to attend 
purely social or sporting functions should be accepted only when these are part of 
the life of the community within Gloucestershire and where the Council should be 
seen to be represented. All such hospitality must be properly authorised and 
recorded by Directors Chief Officers or, in the case of Directors Chief Officers the 
Chief Executive. Exceptions to this rule must be properly authorised and recorded by 
Directors Chief Officers or the Chief Executive. 
 

42. Acceptance of hospitality through attendance at relevant conferences and courses is 
acceptable where the hospitality is corporate rather than personal, or where the 
Directors Chief Officer (or Chief Executive in the case of Directors Chief Officers) 
gives consent in advance and where it is clear that any purchasing decisions are not 
compromised. 
 

43. An offer of hospitality to individual employees calls for special caution particularly if 
the host is undertaking, or applying to do business with the County Council or hoping 
to obtain a decision from it. It is very important to avoid any suggestion of improper 
influence. 
 

44. A working lunch of modest standards to allow the parties to discuss business would 
normally be acceptable; this is a case where the hospitality is secondary to a specific 
working arrangement. On the other hand, it would not be acceptable conduct for an 
employee to accept such things as:- 
 

Page 129



 

8 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

 a holiday 

  tickets for concerts, theatre or sporting events 

  the use of a company flat or hotel suite 

  expensive meals or entertainment 
 

45. Hospitality must not be accepted unless the acceptance can be readily 
acknowledged in public or is similar to that which the Council would provide in the 
same circumstances. 
 

46. There are occasions when an offer of hospitality of any kind must be declined e.g. 
when the person offering the hospitality has a current issue with the Council such as 
a tender under consideration or is involved in a contract dispute. 
 

47. Offers of hospitality accepted or rejected must be registered by employees to their 
Directors Chief Officer or, in the case of Directors Chief Officers to the Chief 
Executive. The details to be registered must be in accordance with that shown in 
paragraph 521 of this Code. 
 
Sponsorship 
 

48. Where outside organisations, contractors or potential contractors wish or seek to 
sponsor a Council activity, the basic conventions concerning acceptance of gifts or 
hospitality apply (see paras 34 -47 above). 
 

49. Where the Council acts as a sponsor for an event or service, neither an employee or 
any partner or relative must benefit from such sponsorship without there being full 
disclosure to an appropriate manager of any such interest. Similarly, where the 
Council through sponsorship, grant aid, financial or other means, gives support in the 
community, employees should ensure that impartial advice is given and that there is 
no conflict of interest involved. 
 
Bribery Act 2010 
 

50. The Bribery Act 2010 came into force in the UK on 1st July 2011. It amends and 
reforms the UK criminal law and provides a modern legal framework to combat 
bribery in the UK and internationally. Staff need to be aware of their obligations 
under this Act, which sets out the criminality of accepting and giving of bribes. This 
applies to both individual staff and the Council corporately.  
 

51. The Bribery Act 2010 creates the following offences: 
 

 Active bribery: promising or giving a financial or other advantage; 

 Passive bribery: agreeing to receive or accepting a financial or other   
advantage; 

 Bribery of foreign public officials; and 

 The failure of commercial organisations to prevent bribery by an associated  
person (corporate offence). 

 
The penalty under the Bribery Act 2010 is an unlimited fine and/or imprisonment up 
to a maximum of 10 years. 

Page 130



 

9 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

 
Full details of the Act can be found at:  http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents 
 
REGISTER OF GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY 
 

52. A register will be maintained by every DirectorsChief Officer detailing all offers of 
gifts or hospitality made to employees in their department. The following information 
will be recorded, based on information reported by employees:- 
 

 the person or body making the offer; 

  the member of staff to whom the offer was made; 

  the gift or hospitality offered; 

  the circumstances in which the offer was made; 

 the action taken by the member of staff concerned; and 

 the action taken (if any) by the Directors Chief Officer (or in the case of 
Directors Chief Officers, the Chief Executive). 

 
A similar register will be maintained by the Chief Executive in relation to Directors 
Chief Officers. 
 
Where a suspected breach has been reported a formal investigation will be 
undertaken and recorded. 
 
DISCLOSURE AND USE OF INFORMATION 
 

53. The Council believes that, subject to the content of paragraphs 54 to 60 below, 
information should normally be disclosed unless it is in the public interest not to do 
so. Staff must comply with the council’s Freedom of Information policy and Data 
Protection Act , procedures and authorisation process.  In terms of information for 
elected members (“County Councillors”), the legal requirements are set out in the 
Rules on Access to information, set out in the Constitution.  If in doubt, seek advice 
from your manager. 
 

54. Many employees obtain information which has not been made public and/or is 
confidential. Employees may also have access to personal information about other 
employees or clients. This information must only be disclosed to a third party where 
there is a legal responsibility to provide it, or where the employee or client provides a 
written authority for the information to be provided. 
 

55. The restrictions in paragraph 54 to 60 apply equally to information which an 
employee may obtain from their employment about a contractor, debtor or creditor of 
the Council. 
 

56. No employee, unless specifically authorised by their Director Chief Officer to do so, 
may communicate to the public or press any information about the discussions or 
decisions of the County Council or any of its committees or bodies  followingbodies 
following the exclusion of the public and press, with the exception of information 
which is required to be published by law. 
 

57. As a general rule employees must not enter into any public correspondence or 
debate on a matter related to their official duties, or in respect of which they hold 

Page 131

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents


 

10 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

official information, unless this is done with the consent of their Chief Officer. Further 
guidance on related matters is contained in the document Expression of Employee 
Views (in the Employment Handbook on Staffnet) to which employees should also 
refer. 

 
Similar considerations exist covering the position of employees invited to participate 
in press interviews, radio or television programmes, etc., where the subject relates 
directly or indirectly to their work for the Council. Employees invited to take part in 
such programmes should discuss the position with their Chief Officer and the Media 
Team before replying to the invitation. 

 
58. Employees must adhere to the Council’s published rules and requirements relating 

to personal and/or sensitive information, as covered by current Data Protection 
legislation. In particular, information must not be disclosed to unauthorised people or 
organisations. 
 

59. Employees must not use any information obtained in the course of their employment 
for personal gain or benefit, nor should they pass it on to others who might use it in 
such a way. 
 

60. Employees must make themselves aware of and comply with published Information 
Management and Security policies, procedures and standards relating to the 
protection of information and secure use of ICT systems, http://staffnet/13629 which 
are published on Staffnet.  A serious breach of the rules is likely to lead to 
disciplinary action. 
 
POLITICAL NEUTRALITY 
 
A protocol on the relationship between officers and members of Gloucestershire 
County Council gives more information. 
 
Employees must serve all Councillors and not just those of a single or controlling 
group, and must ensure that the individual rights of all Councillors’ are respected. 

 
61. Employees of the County Council are not eligible to stand for office as an elected 

member of the County Council. Employees, whether or not politically restricted under 
the terms of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, must follow every policy 
of the Council and must not allow their own personal or political opinions to interfere 
with their work. 

 
Politically Sensitive Posts 
 

62. The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 has the effect of imposing restrictions 
on public political activity by certain staff of local authorities in politically sensitive 
posts. Political assistants employed pursuant to Section 9, Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 are not wholly bound by these restrictions. 

 
63. The effect of the inclusion of a post in a list of sensitive posts is that the postholder 

will be prevented from becoming a member of a local authority (except a Town or 
Parish Council), or a member of the House of Commons or the European 
Parliament. In addition, regulations prevent them from:- 

Page 132

http://staffnet/13629


 

11 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

 

 holding office in a political party 

 canvassing at elections 

 speaking or writing publicly on matters on party political lines 
 
RELATIONSHIPS 
 
Councillors 
 

64. Mutual respect between employees and Councillors is essential to good local 
government. However, close personal familiarity can possibly damage working 
relationships and cause embarrassment. 

 
Contractors 
 

65. All relationships of a business or private nature with external contractors, or potential 
contractors, must be made known to the employee’s immediate line manager. 
Orders and contracts must be awarded on merit, through fair competition, and no 
special favour should be shown to businesses run by, for example, friends, partners 
or relatives. No part of the local community should be discriminated against. 

 
66. Employees who engage or supervise contractors or have any other official 

relationship with contractors and have previously had, or currently have, a 
relationship in a private or domestic capacity with such contractors, must declare that 
relationship to their Director Chief Officer, or in the case of Directors Chief Officers, 
to the Chief Executive. 

 
67. No employee shall purchase for private purposes goods or services from a firm 

which has dealings with the Council where the firm is offering preferential terms to 
the individual employee (directly or indirectly) because of a contractual, business or 
other relationship with the Council. This rule equally applies to the ordering of extra 
supplies against a contract where the intention is to use the goods privately and pay 
for them at the Council’s contract price, particularly if the employee is aware that the 
price is not available to the ordinary customer. It would also apply to the use of 
services of a contractor with whom employees have official contacts as part of their 
employment with the Council. It also precludes employees from using, for private 
purposes, any special trading cards which the Council may hold for council business. 
It does not, however, preclude employees benefiting from general discounts offered 
by suppliers to all Council employees or made available by the Council or trade 
unions on behalf of staff generally. 
 
APPOINTMENTS AND OTHER EMPLOYMENT MATTERS 
 

68. It is contrary to the Council’s HR policies for an employee to make an 
appointment/engagement which is based on anything other than the ability of the 
individual to undertake the duties of the post. Employees must not be involved in an 
appointment/engagement where they are related to an applicant, or have any 
personal or business relationship outside work with them. 

 

Page 133



 

12 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

69. Employees must not be involved in decisions relating to discipline, promotion or pay 
adjustments for any other employee who is a relative, partner or close personal 
friend. 

 
70. Employees of the Council shall inform their Director Chief Officer or, in the case of 

Directors Chief Officers the Chief Executive, of any relationship known to them to 
exist between themselves and a candidate for an appointment/engagement in which 
they are directly involved. If a candidate deliberately omits to disclose a relationship 
they will be disqualified. If the omission is discovered after appointment or 
engagement they shall be liable to dismissal. 

 
71. Employees involved in appointments/engagements must, where practicable, ensure 

that references are obtained from the current and previous employer of the 
candidate to whom they wish to formally offer a post. Ideally both referees should be 
senior persons, one from the candidate’s present employer and the other from their 
previous employer. 

 
72. In the case of applicants leaving full-time education or not having worked since doing 

so, the Head of School, College, University etc. should be named as one of the 
referees. 

 
UNDERTAKING ADDITIONAL WORK OUTSIDE OF THE COUNCIL 
 

73. Full-time employees shall devote their whole time service to the work of the Council, 
and shall not engage in any other business, including self-employment, or take up 
any other additional appointment without the express written prior consent of their 
Chief Officer, and in the case of Directors Chief Officers, the Chief Executive. The 
Director Chief Officer or the Chief Executive reserves the right to withdraw such 
consent at any time. 

 
74. All prospective employees shall, prior to appointment, provide details on the 

Council’s standard application form of any other employment(s) in which they are 
engaged, giving full details of the employer, job title and the hours worked per week 
in each job. (This information will be examined to see whether any other existing 
employment(s) is in conflict with the employment being sought with the Council and 
whether, in overall terms, the total hours of all the employments exceed 48 per week 
- as per the Working Time Regulations 1998.) Also, existing part-time employees 
must declare any other employment to the Council in order that the latter can ensure 
that there is no conflict of interest between such employment and that there is 
adherence to the Working Time Regulations. 

 
75. Employees should avoid situations where an actual or apparent  conflict between 

work and personal interests may arise and must inform their manager as soon as 
possible in the event that any such conflict may arise 

 
76. Undertaking unpaid activities outside Council employment may, on occasions, be 

detrimental to the Council’s interests. Employees should be mindful of any potential 
conflict of interests in such situations. 

 
77. No personal business activity or outside work of any sort may be undertaken by an 

employee during their  workingtheir working hours for the Council. 

Page 134



 

13 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

 
Consultancy, Lecturing, Fee Paying Work 
 

78. Where a request is received for any employee to make a presentation, speak at a 
seminar or lecture on a course, within their normal field of work and during their 
normal working hours, the work will be undertaken on behalf of the Council and any 
fee will be treated as income for the Council. 

 
79. Where an employee is approached to undertake fee paying work the Council has  

determined that the fee is to be treated as income for the employee if all the work,  
including preparation, is undertaken outside normal work hours. In the case of 
activities which are prepared and/or take place partly during normal working hours, 
the Council has agreed that half the fee is to be treated as income for the employee  
and the remainder paid to the Council. All consultancy, lecturing and other fee 
paying work must be approved by the employee’s Director  Chief Officer or, in the 
case of DirectorsChief Officers the Chief Executive. 

 
Intellectual Property 
 

80. Intellectual property is a generic term that includes inventions, creative writings and 
drawings. If these items are created as part of an employee’s normal course of 
employment then, as a general rule, they belong to the Council. 
 
ARREST OR CONVICTION ON CIVIL OR CRIMINAL CHARGES 
 

81. You must, as soon as practicable inform your line manager, at each stage, if you are 
arrested, charged, refused bail, required to attend court, convicted or sentenced for 
any criminal or civil offence. This does not apply to traffic offences unless this 
involves a situation relating to the transport of service users, or the possible penalty 
includes imprisonment or disqualification from driving or involves an official vehicle. 
Failure to inform will be considered an act of gross misconduct. 
 
MEMBERSHIP OF CLUBS, SOCIETIES AND OTHER ORGANISATIONS WHICH 
ARE NOT OPEN TO THE PUBLIC AND/OR WHICH HAVE SECRECY ABOUT 
RULES, MEMBERSHIP, ETC. 
 

82. The intention of this Code and procedures is to ensure transparency and openness 
and that no reasonable person can question the integrity and motives in connection 
with your employment with the Council. 

 
83. All employees must declare membership of any organisation which is not open to the 

public, where there is a commitment of allegiance, and /or which has secrecy about 
rules, membership or conduct. This declaration needs to be made through 
completing a form held by each Director.Chief Officer 
 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 

84. Staff are expected to conduct themselves with integrity, impartiality and honesty.  
Staff should avoid circumstances where private or personal interests have the 
potential to give rise to allegations or partiality or impropriety which could being the 
Council into disrepute. 

Page 135



 

14 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

84.  
85. Employees should not involve themselves in any decision or allocation of Council 

Services or resources from which they, their friends, their partners, persons to whom 
they are (or are owed) an obligation, or family might benefit. 
85.  

86. Where employees belong to any club, society, charity or similar body and any person 
within it or the club, society or similar body itself may benefit from a decision or 
action employees may take in their work with the Council.,  All interests must be 
registered and discussed with their managers. 
 
EQUALITY ISSUES 
 

87. All employees must comply with the Council’s policies on equal opportunities in 
employment and with those relating to service delivery. 
 
HEALTH AND SAFETY ISSUES 
 

88. . Employees must receive and understand information to enable them to work safely 
and to ensure the health, safety and welfare of any others affected by their work. 

89. No-one should be expected to work unsafely and managers have responsibilities to 
address workplace risks taking advice where appropriate. 
 
BREACHES OF THE CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

90. Any suspected breach of this Code must be:-  
 
(a) immediately reported to the appropriate Director or, in the case of Directors, to 

the Chief Executive, 
OR 

(b) be reported through the confidential reporting procedure for employees, 
detailed at Appendix 1. 

 
91. Where a suspected breach has been reported, a formal investigation into that 

suspected breach will be undertaken. 
 
 
CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING PROCEDURE FOR EMPLOYEES (WHISTLE-
BLOWING) 
 

90.92. Appendix 1 of this Code provides procedures for employees to follow who 
wish to report, in strict confidence, their serious concerns about any aspect of the 
Council’s work or the behaviour or standard of conduct of other employees or 
anyone associated with the work and services provided by the Council. 
 
BREACHES OF THE CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

91. Any suspected breach of this Code must be:-  
 
(a) immediately reported to the appropriate Chief Officer and to the Chief 

Executive or, in the case of Chief Officers, to the Chief Executive, 
OR 

Page 136



 

15 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

(b) be reported through the confidential reporting procedure for employees, 
detailed at Appendix 1. 

 
92. Where a suspected breach has been reported, a formal investigation into that 

suspected breach will be undertaken. 
 
93. Failure to comply with any of the standards detailed in this Code may result in formal 

disciplinary action, under the council’s Disciplinary and Dismissals Procedure, 
including dismissal in serious cases.. 

 

Page 137



 

16 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

APPENDIX 1 
 
CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING PROCEDURE FOR EMPLOYEES (WHISTLE-  
BLOWING)  
 

1. Employees are often the first to realise that there may be something wrong within the 
Council. However, they may not express their concerns because they feel that 
speaking up would be disloyal to their colleagues or to the Council. They may also 
fear harassment or victimisation and it may be easier, therefore, to ignore the 
concern rather than report what may just be a suspicion of malpractice. 
 

2. The Council is committed to the highest standards of openness, probity and 
accountability. It expects employees, and others that it deals with, who have serious 
concerns about any aspect of the Council’s work, to come forward and voice those 
concerns. The phrase ‘whistle-blowing’ in this procedure refers to the disclosure 
internally or externally by employees of malpractice, as well as illegal acts or 
omissions at work. 
 

3. This Procedure makes it clear that employees can report, in a confidential manner, 
their concerns without fear of victimisation, subsequent discrimination or 
disadvantage and is intended to encourage and enable serious concerns to be 
raised with the Council, rather than overlooking a problem or ‘blowing the whistle’ 
outside.  
 
AIMS AND SCOPE OF THIS PROCEDURE 
 

4. This Procedure aims to:  
 

 encourage employees to feel confident in raising serious concerns in those 
cases where they do not wish to use the normal reporting routes within their 
service area 

 provide alternative avenues for raising concerns 

 ensure that responses to concerns are made  

 to reassure employees that they will be protected from possible reprisals or 
victimisation if they have a reasonable belief that they have raised a concern 
in the public interest 

 
5. There are existing procedures in place to enable employees to lodge a grievance 

relating to their own employment. This Procedure is intended to cover concerns that 
fall outside the scope of other procedures and include:  
 

  conduct which is an offence or a breach of law 

  disclosures related to miscarriages of justice 

  health and safety risks, including risks to the public as well as other 
employees (where the concerns raised have not been addressed through 
normal departmental procedures) 

 damage to the environment 

 the unauthorised use of public funds including fraud and corruption sexual or 
physical abuse 

  inappropriate use of or access to personal or sensitive information 

Page 138



 

17 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

 other unethical or unprofessional conduct 

 notification of any suspicions of price-fixing cartels providing services/goods to 
the Council 

 
6. The Council fully understands that employees who are members of a trade union 

recognised by the Council may, in the first instance, wish to seek advice and 
guidance from their union on the application of this Procedure (see 
paragraph 23 of this Appendix).  
 

7. Any serious concerns that employees have about any aspect of service provision, or 
the conduct of employees or members of the Council or others acting on behalf of 
the Council, can be reported under this Procedure. This may be about something 
that: 
 

  makes an employee feel uncomfortable in terms of apparent non-adherence 
to known standards 

  appears to be contrary to the requirements of the Council’s Standing Orders 
and Code of Conduct 

  falls below established standards of practice 

  may amount to improper conduct  

 appears to be an attempt to mislead 
 
SAFEGUARDS 
 
Harassment or Victimisation 
 

8. The Council recognises that the decision to report a concern can be a difficult one to 
make, not least because of the fear of reprisal from the person(s) who is the subject 
of the complaint. However, if employees believe that what they raise as a concern to 
be the truth and in the public interest they should be confident that they are fulfilling 
their duty to their employer and those for whom they are providing a service. 
 

9. The Council will not tolerate any form of sexual, racial or general harassment or 
victimisation and will take appropriate action to protect employees, when they raise a 
concern in the public interest, from suffering a detriment (including bullying or 
harassment) either from the employer or from co-workers. 
 

10. Any investigation into allegations of potential malpractice will be dealt with separately 
to any grievance, disciplinary or redundancy procedure concerning an employee. 
Equally, any investigation will not be influenced by any such procedures involving an 
employee. 
 
CONFIDENTIALITY 
 

11. All concerns will be treated in confidence and every effort will be made to protect an 
employee’s identity if that is their wish. However this cannot be guaranteed if say 
following an investigation a case is taken to Court, where the employee may need to 
be called as a witness. 
 
ANONYMOUS ALLEGATIONS 
 

Page 139



 

18 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

12. In order to ensure that employees receive protection of the Public Interest Disclosure 
Act 1998 employees should put their name to their allegation.  Concerns expressed 
anonymously are sometimes less credible. Anonymous concerns and allegations, 
whether made to the Monitoring Officer or Head of Internal Audit, will therefore be 
investigated at the discretion of the Council. 
 

13. In exercising this discretion the factors to be taken into account would include: 
 

  the seriousness of the issues raised 

  the credibility of the concern; and 

 the likelihood of confirming the allegation from attributable sources’ factual 
evidence. 

 
UNTRUE ALLEGATIONS 
 

14. If an employee makes an allegation in the public interest, but it is not confirmed by 
the investigation, no action will be taken against them. If, however, an allegation is 
frivolous, malicious or for personal gain, disciplinary action may be taken against 
them. 
 
HOW TO RAISE A CONCERN 
 

15. Employees who wish to raise a serious concern should do so verbally or in writing 
(marked ‘Confidential’) to the: 
 
Monitoring Officer 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Shire Hall 
Gloucester GL1 2TZ 
Telephone: (01452) 328472 
 
The Monitoring Officer will refer all concerns in relation to possible financial 
impropriety to the Director: Strategic Finance and/or the Head of Internal Audit. 
 

16. Alternatively employees may wish to use the Council’s 24 hour “whistleblowing” 
answerphone service on Gloucester 01452 - 427052 to report any concern relating 
to possible fraud, corruption, conduct or mal-practice/administration.  
 

17. Employees who wish to make a written statement/report are invited to set out:  
 

 the background and history of the concern  

 relevant dates, person involved 

 details of supporting evidence 
 

18. Although employees are not expected to prove an allegation they will need to 
demonstrate that the disclosure is in the public interest. 
 
HOW THE COUNCIL WILL RESPOND 
 

19. The Council will respond to such concerns and, where appropriate, the matters 
raised may be: 

Page 140



 

19 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

 

 investigated by management, Internal Audit, or through the disciplinary 
process 

 referred to the Police 

 referred to the External Auditor 

 the subject of an independent inquiry 
 

20. In order to protect individuals and those involved in the concern, initial enquiries will 
be made to decide whether an investigation is appropriate and, if so, what form it 
should take. The overriding principle which the Council will take into account is public 
interest; however, the Council has a zero tolerance attitude to any fraudulent activity. 
Concerns or allegations which fall within the scope of specific procedures (for 
example, child protection) will normally be referred for consideration under those 
procedures. 
 

21. Within 10 working days of a concern being raised, the Monitoring Officer will write to 
the employee concerned at their private address:- 
 

  acknowledging that the concern has been received 

  indicating how s/he proposes to deal with the matter 

 telling the employee whether any initial enquiries have been made 

 telling the employee whether further investigations will take place and, if not, 
why not 

 
22. If the matter is subject to further investigation the employee will be informed of any 

progress and proposed timescale for the investigation. The amount of contact 
between the officers considering the issues and the employee raising the concern 
will depend on the nature of the matters raised, the potential difficulties involved and 
the clarity of the information provided. If necessary, the Council will seek further 
information from the employee raising the concern. 
 

23. A representative of a trade union recognised by the Council or work place colleague 
may accompany an employee during any stage of an investigation conducted under 
this Procedure. 
 

24. The Council will take steps to minimise any difficulties which may be experienced as 
a result of raising a concern. For instance, where an employee is required to give 
evidence in criminal or disciplinary proceedings the Council will arrange for them to 
receive advice about the procedures involved. 

 
25. The Council accepts that employees need to be assured that matters of concern 

have been properly addressed and, therefore, subject to legal constraints, 
employees will be informed of the outcome of any investigation. 
 
 
THE RESPONSIBLE OFFICER 
 

26. The Monitoring Officer has overall responsibility for the maintenance and operation 
of this Procedure. S/he will ensure that a record of concerns raised and the 
outcomes recorded is maintained in a form that does not breach confidentiality. 

Page 141



 

20 

 
Last updated:  June 2016 
S:\CommissioningExecutive\Jane Burns\Employee Code of Conduct CC 

 
FURTHER ACTION 
 

27. This Procedure is intended to assist employees who wish to raise concerns within 
the Council. The Council hopes employees will be satisfied with any action taken. 
However, if they are not, and they feel it is right to take the matter outside the 
Council, the following organisations are possible contact points:  

 

  Health & Safety Executive 

 Environment Agency 

 External Auditors 

 Prudential Regulation Authority 

 Financial Conduct Authority 

 Department for Work and Pensions 

 Equality and Human Rights Commission 

 Serious Fraud Office 

  Action Fraud 

 Information Commissioner’s Office 

 Trade Union 

 HM Revenue and Customs 

 Relevant Voluntary Organisation 

 Charity Commission 

 Police 

 ‘Public Concern at Work’ (tel: 0207 404 6609) 
 

28. If employees do decide to take the matter outside the Council, they must ensure that 
they do not disclose to a third party any Council confidential information. If 
employees are in any doubt, they are strongly advised to seek the confidential 
advice of the Monitoring Officer before taking any action to ensure that they are not 
putting themselves in a vulnerable position. 

Page 142



Annex E

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



SUBJECT 
Highways Performance Update 

Full Council Briefing 
DATE November 2016 

PURPOSE OF 

REPORT 
 
To update members on current performance of the Highways service 

     
AUTHOR Cllr Vernon Smith – Cabinet Member Highways and Flooding 

 
 

 
Colleagues, 
 
This month the cross party Highways Advisory Group received it’s first Highways Balanced 
Score Card report, the group reviewed in detail highways performance and has scrutinised in 
detail various aspects of highways performance.  I will also be making this detailed report 
available to Shadow members.  Going forward the summary of the balanced score card is 
attached to the briefing I provide to Full Council, this can be found on the reverse of this briefing 
note. Of the important deliveries within the contract, Amey are meeting their commitments. 
 
 
Current Highways Successes and News 

 
 During the summer and autumn the contract has focussed heavily on delivery of the 

Capital Works programme. We are on target with our delivery and during September 
and October we completed much of the structural maintenance programme.  Our works 
are now concentrating on the patching programme to ensure that we meet our target of 
90% spend on the Capital programme by December 2016. 
 

 28 day safety defects are maintaining performance with in-month performance at 100%, 
exceeding target.    

 
 Amey are also on track to deliver the £3.1m of Pothole Fund patching schemes.  I’ve 

asked for a report on progress for my October Lead Cabinet Meeting this has been 
shared with Shadow members, and I’m pleased to report the programme will be 
delivered this year. 

 
 Elmbridge Roundabout works have been progressing well, there has been a positive 

response from the public on the communications and management of the works. Delays 
have been kept to a minimum. I’d like to take the opportunity to thank the public for their 
patience and support. The project is on target to finish on time and to budget. 

 The LED street lighting replacement contract is currently ahead of programme, the 
bulk of residential street lights in Gloucester and Cheltenham have now been 
replaced, Skanska will be moving out to the market towns over the coming year. We 
are now reaping the benefit of reduced energy costs. 

 Winter is now taking its grip upon us, we have a full reserve of salt across the County in 
our salt domes, we have already done 5 salt runs in the past few weeks. Crews are 
working all hours to keep the public of Gloucestershire safe on our highways. 

 

Page 145

Agenda Item 18



Highways Scorecard

Year to date, 95%

70%

80%

90%

100%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

Ap
r‐
16

M
ay
‐1
6

Ju
n‐
16

Ju
l‐1

6

Au
g‐
16

Se
p‐
16

O
ct
‐1
6

N
ov
‐1
6

De
c‐
16

Ja
n‐
17

Fe
b‐
17

M
ar
‐1
7

28 day defects
Year to date Repaired on time target

Year to date, 96.66%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

Ap
r‐
16

M
ay
‐1
6

Ju
n‐
16

Ju
l‐1

6

Au
g‐
16

Se
p‐
16

O
ct
‐1
6

N
ov
‐1
6

De
c‐
16

Ja
n‐
17

Fe
b‐
17

M
ar
‐1
7

Next Day Defects
Year to date Repaired on time target

Year to date, 96.44%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

Ap
r‐
16

M
ay
‐1
6

Ju
n‐
16

Ju
l‐1

6

Au
g‐
16

Se
p‐
16

O
ct
‐1
6

N
ov
‐1
6

De
c‐
16

Ja
n‐
17

Fe
b‐
17

M
ar
‐1
7

2 hour defects
Year to date Repaired on time target

0.00

20.00

40.00

60.00

80.00

100.00

120.00

140.00

160.00

180.00

200.00

Target for year Resurfacing schemes completed

Resurfacing Schemes

Mar‐17

Feb‐17

Jan‐17

Dec‐16

Nov‐16

Oct‐16

Sep‐16

Aug‐16

Jul‐16

Jun‐16

May‐16

Apr‐16

Data to end October 2016

P
age 146



Highways Scorecard

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

Target for year Minor Works including drainage

Minor works/drainage

Mar‐17

Feb‐17

Jan‐17

Dec‐16

Nov‐16

Oct‐16

Sep‐16

Aug‐16

Jul‐16

Jun‐16

May‐16

Apr‐16
0

10000

20000

30000

40000

50000

60000

70000

80000

90000

100000

Target for year Number of gullies cleansed to date

Gulley Emptying

Mar‐17
Feb‐17
Jan‐17
Dec‐16
Nov‐16
Oct‐16
Sep‐16
Aug‐16
Jul‐16
Jun‐16
May‐16
Apr‐16

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

110%

120%

130%

LED installation progress against target

LED programme % completed against profile year to date

Linear (Target)

To date 5 salting runs have  
been undertaken

Contacts this month     5820       
responded to on time  90%    

   
521                  485                  4034                   77

Data to end October 2016

P
age 147



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GLOUCESTERSHIRE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION FUND ANNUAL 
REPORT AND PENSION BOARD ANNUAL REPORT FOR 2015/2016

Introduction

The Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund produces an Annual 
Report that is distributed to all employers within the Fund and to those 
attending the Fund’s Annual Meeting in December. Copies are also available 
on request to scheme members, organisations and the general public. In 
addition the Annual Report is available on the County Council website.  A 
copy of the report is circulated as a separate document with the agenda pack 
for the full Council meeting. 

Annual Report

The Annual Report provides information on the management of the Fund, an 
analysis of investment activity and investment performance, details of Fund 
membership and a summary of Fund benefits. The report also contains the 
formal accounts of the Fund for the year ended 31st March 2016 and copies 
of all of the Fund’s strategy and policy statements.

Pension Board

The Pension Board’s Annual Report to County Council is contained within the 
main Annual Report on page 36.  The report sets out the background to the 
setting up of the Pension Board, its members and activities during the year.
 
Recommendation: That the Council notes the Pension Fund Annual Report 
and Pension Board’s Annual Report for 2015/2016.

Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Chairman - Pension Committee
7 December 2016

Page 149

Agenda Item 19



This page is intentionally left blank



County Council
7th December 2016

BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP

1. Introduction

1.1. Following the Government’s announcement in the July 2015 
budget statement that they intended to work with Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) administering authorities to 
ensure that they pool investments to significantly reduce costs, 
extensive work has been undertaken to set up the Brunel Pension 
Partnership comprising ten LGPS Funds.

1.2. Regular reports have been brought to the Pensions Committee at 
all stages of the process, with additional events for the Pension 
Committee and Pension Board Members also being held to 
provide the opportunity for further input to the proposals. As 
required by Government an initial joint submission from the ten 
Brunel funds was approved by the Pensions Committee in 
January, and a further more detailed response was approved by 
the Committee in July and submitted to the Government in July. 

1.3. Following the July submission of what was in effect an outline 
business case, work has continued to develop a full business case 
for the Brunel Pension Partnership. The full business case is now 
complete and needs to be approved by each of the ten 
administering authorities in order that the establishment of the 
Local Authority Company can be progressed. 

2. Full Business Case and Cost Model

2.1 The full business case together with detailed appendices and risk 
register, seeking approval to establish a company called Brunel 
Pension Partnership Ltd (Brunel company or BPP Ltd), regulated 
by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA), and the new 
governance arrangements to establish client side joint shareholder 
oversight and joint contract management are to be considered by 
Pensions Committee on 2nd December 2016. 

2.2 This follows a review by the Finance/Legal Assurance Group 
(FLAG), comprising the s151 and Monitoring Officers/Head of 
Legal Services of each of the ten administering authorities, on 8th 
and 16th November and a subsequent review and approval by the 

Page 151

Agenda Item 20



Shadow Oversight Board, comprising the chairs of the ten funds 
on 23rd November. The business case has been put together with 
significant work by officers of the ten administering authorities, 
supported by professional expertise provided by PwC (operational 
and financial support), Osborne Clark (legal support), Alpha (FCA 
expertise), JLT (project support) and Bfinance (investment advice).  
The detailed business cases and risk register are not for 
publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 5 of part 1 of schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information to the public.

2.3 The strategic case focuses on the legal and regulatory 
requirements as well as the costs and benefits of pooling. The 
Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and 
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 (SI 2016 No 946) came 
into force on the 1st November 2016. These regulations provide 
the legal basis which requires LGPS funds to pool their 
investments.

2.4 The economic case examines two potential models for how to set 
up the Brunel company, either to rent it from a commercial 
provider or build it. An analysis was carried out in Stage 2 of the 
project to consider the relative merits and limitations of each 
model, examining them against three groups of issues: 
accountability; procurement and staffing; and costs. The analysis 
showed that the build model would have advantages over the 
rental model, especially on accountability.

2.5 The commercial case sets out the structure of the Brunel Pension 
Partnership company, and the governance and contractual 
arrangements that will exist. The Brunel company will be set up as 
a Teckal Company and fall within the exemption in the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015. 

The company will be managed by the company board with a 
chairman, three other non-executive directors and three 
operational directors. The governance arrangements will include 
an Oversight Board representing each participating fund’s 
pensions committees.

2.6 The management case looks at the project management that will 
be required:

Page 152



 to set up the FCA regulated company within the Brunel 
Pension Partnership (BPP) encompassing recruitment of 
staff, legal and physical set up, procurement of third party 
providers, definition and set up of the services, and 
obtaining FCA authorisation;

 to establish the arrangements for governance of Brunel 
Pension Partnership Ltd (BPP Ltd / Brunel company) by the 
Administering Authorities (AAs);

 to implement the client side governance, organisation and 
process changes.

2.7 The financial case is drawn from a complex financial model that 
has been developed by the Brunel partnership in conjunction with 
PwC, which analyses the forecast costs and savings for the 
partnership as a whole and for each of the individual funds.  The 
model allows scenario testing, changes to individual assumptions 
and the removal of individual funds from the partnership for 
sensitivity analysis and stress testing the proposal. The core 
model analysis shows the breakdown between funds of a total of 
£550m forecast cumulative savings over the next 20 years. 

2.8 In summary the position for the Gloucestershire Fund compared 
with the combined pool is summarised in the table below:

Core model
Total 20 years net gain 
to the end of 2035/36

Running annual rate 
of net saving in 

2024/25
Breakeven year

£m Discounted 
value £m

£m bps of 
AUM

Gloucestershire 2027/28 11.5 3.4 0.7 3.0
Combined pool 2022/23 550.1 279.5 27.8 8.9

2.9 This table shows that the breakeven year for the Gloucestershire 
Fund is 2027/28 compared with the breakeven year for the 
combined pool of 2022/23. It also shows that the total net gain 
forecast for the Gloucestershire Fund by 2035/36 is £11.5 million 
(discounted net present value of £3.4 million). 

Finally the table shows that by 2024/25 annual net savings for the 
Gloucestershire Fund are forecast to be £0.7 million, which is 
equivalent to a saving of three basis points for all assets under 
management.  

Page 153



2.10 The financial case also sets out positive and negative sensitivity 
analysis in relation to 5 different variables which are modelled as 
follows:

 Fee Savings - increase and a reduction in fee savings of 2 
basis points per annum (0.02%)

 Asset Transition Costs – an increase and decrease of £15 
million

 Brunel Company Running Costs – increase of £1 million 
 Transition delay of one year
 Asset Performance increase and decrease by 1% and the 

impact of a market crash.

The outcome of this sensitivity analysis for the Gloucestershire 
Fund, in terms of the impact on the breakeven year, is set out in 
the following table.

Total 20 years net gain 
to 2035/36

Running annual 
rate of net 
saving in 
2024/25

Gloucestershire Breakeven 
year

£m Discounted 
value £m

£m bps of 
AUM

Core model 2027/28 11.5 3.4 0.7 3.0
- 2bps pa saving 2037/38 -0.8 -3.5 0.2 0.7Variable 1: 

fee savings + 2 bps pa saving 2023/24 23.9 10.4 1.3 5.4

+ £15m on total 
transitional costs

2028/29 10.1 2.1 0.7 3.0Variable 2: 
asset 

transition 
costs

- £15m on total 
transitional costs

2025/26 13.0 4.7 0.7 3.0

Variable 3: + £1m pa Brunel 
Company running costs

2028/29 9.5 1.9 0.6 2.6

Variable 4: transition delay 2028/28 10.0 2.6 0.7 2.9
Equity market 
crash in FY20

2028/29 8.2 1.5 0.6 2.7

-1% pa (3% pa 
total)

2028/29 7.6 1.2 0.6 2.8

Variable 5: 
asset 

performance

+1% pa (5% pa 
total)

2026/27 16.2 6.0 0.8 3.3

2.10 Brunel costs include estimated costs of transitioning assets, which 
are being shared by all the Pension Funds to ensure that no 
individual fund is disadvantaged by, or benefits from fund manager 
selection by the Brunel company. Other costs include the taxes 

Page 154



involved in transitioning assets into the Brunel company and the 
operating costs of the Brunel company itself.

2.11 The actual asset transition costs for the Brunel pool will not be 
known until the Fund Managers have been appointed and will 
depend on the number of funds that need to be transitioned and 
the market conditions on the day of transition. The transition of 
assets is expected to begin in April 2018 through to 2020 for the 
majority of assets, although illiquid alternative assets will need a 
longer transition timetable.  However, from a Gloucestershire 
Pension Fund perspective, an overall increase of £15 million in 
transition costs would only move out the breakeven point from 
2028 to 2029.

2.12 The main savings outlined in the business case are achieved 
through reduced direct investment costs, predominantly 
investment manager fees, expected to be payable by the Brunel 
Authorities once the Brunel Company is operational.  In the case 
of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund these savings are lower than 
those forecast for the other funds. The key reason for this is that 
the management fees currently paid by the Gloucestershire Fund 
are already some 30% below the average for all of the funds in the 
Brunel partnership.  

3. Conclusion

3.1 Government policy, now brought into effect by the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of 
Funds) Regulations 2016, requires the Gloucestershire Pension 
und to pool its assets. In the light of this agenda the Fund has 
already committed to participating in the Brunel pool through the 
resolutions agreed at previous meetings of the Committee. The 
Committee and the Council now need to approve the full business 
case to set up the Brunel Pension Partnership Limited company, in 
order that the pooling proposals can progress to the 
implementation phase.

3.2 Although investment pooling is being driven by the central 
government agenda, the financial modelling that has been 
undertaken forecasts that there are net savings opportunities for 
the Gloucestershire Pension Fund in entering into the Brunel 
Pension Partnership, albeit at lower levels than other funds. The 
detailed business case sets out the structures and governance 
arrangements that will be put in place, which will seek to ensure 

Page 155



that the Brunel company provides value for money to the 
Gloucestershire Fund.

3.3 The Pensions Committee has therefore been asked to recommend 
the resolutions below to set up the Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd 
at its meeting on 2nd December to Council. Further reports will be 
brought to Pensions Committee as the project progresses.

4.  Resolution

Brunel Pension Partnership and LGPS Investment Pooling – Resolution

In its capacity as the Administering Authority for the Gloucestershire Pension 
Fund, and having received and reviewed the Report and the Business Case 
attached to it, the Pension Committee recommends to the County Council to 
enter into investment pooling with respect to the Gloucestershire Pension Fund.  

Such Resolution is made on and subject to the following terms and conditions:

 THAT the Brunel Pension Partnership investment pool be developed, 
funded and implemented substantially in accordance with the terms and 
provisions described in the said Business Case, and more particularly 
that:   

 a FCA regulated company to be named Brunel Pension 
Partnership Limited be established and operated with all 
necessary and appropriate arrangements as to its ownership, 
structure, governance and services capability.

 a new supervisory body comprising representatives of the Council 
and all other participants in the Brunel Pension Partnership be 
established to ensure oversight of the Council’s investment and 
participation in the Brunel Pension Partnership. 

 THAT the Pensions Committee be authorised and granted delegated 
powers to undertake such tasks as it thinks appropriate to progress 
implementation of investment pooling, and to take such decisions and do 
all other things deemed necessary in order to promote the interests of the 
Council with respect to pooling, which without limitation shall include 
agreeing and authorising any documentation, contracts, terms of 
reference, financial expenditure or investment that may be required 
consequential upon the Council's participation in the Brunel Pension 
Partnership.

 THAT the Director of Strategic Finance and the Head of Legal Services 
be similarly authorised and granted delegated powers to undertake such 

Page 156



tasks to progress implementation of investment pooling, and to take such 
decisions and do all things deemed necessary in order to support the 
Pensions Committee and to promote the interests of the Council with 
respect to pooling, 

 THAT subject to the above, all such matters be carried out with the aim 
of achieving a target date for investment pooling of 1 April 2018, and 
otherwise subject to such intermediate steps and timescales as may be 
considered appropriate and necessary by the Pensions Committee.

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Corporate Parenting
	9 Ambulance response times (motion 759)
	Ambulance Motion Draft Final
	Extract from minute 77 County Council  2 December 2015
	Hear and Treat explanations

	11 Scrutiny Annual Report
	12 Scrutiny update report - November 2016
	Appendix 1 - Motion 772 - Highways Customer Customer Satisfaction Levels
	Appendix 2 - Motion 766 - Improving Highway Tree Maintenance Response

	13 Audit and Governance Committee Annual Report
	14 Appointment of Auditors
	15 Cabinet Decision Statement
	16 Individual Cabinet Member Decision Statements
	17 Constitution Committee report
	Report - revisions to the Members' Allowances Scheme and appendix A&B.pdf
	1Report - revisions to the Members' Allowances Scheme
	Allowances changes Aug 2016 APPENDIX A
	Allowances changes Aug 2016 APPENDIX B


	18 Highways performance report
	Full Council Briefing Highways Performance November 2016
	Copy of further revised Version Scorecard -  to end October 2016 page 1
	Copy of further revised Version Scorecard -  to end October 2016 page 2

	19 Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Fund Annual Report 2015-16
	20 Brunel Pension Partnership



